
Economy Regeneration & Development 
Committee
Date: Wednesday, 9 March 2022
Time: 6.00 p.m.

Venue: Floral Pavilion, New Brighton CH45 2JS

Contact Officer: Mike Jones, Principal Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 0151 691 8363
e-mail: michaeljones1@wirral.gov.uk
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk

Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast,
(see below) but for anyone who would like to attend in person, please 
contact the box office at the Floral Pavilion by telephone on 0151 666 0000, 
in advance of the meeting. All those attending will be asked to wear a face
covering (unless exempt) and are encouraged to take a Lateral Flow Test
before attending. You should not attend if you have tested positive for
Coronavirus or if you have any symptoms of Coronavirus.

Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under The 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, please 
let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate where 
possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk

This meeting will be webcast at https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

AGENDA
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

2. APOLOGIES 

3. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

Public Document Pack

mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk
https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


4. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10)

To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Economy, Regeneration 
and Development Committee held on 26 January 2022, attached. 

5. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have not 
received an acknowledgement of your question/statement by the 
deadline for submission.

5.1 Public Questions

Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 
noon, Friday 4 March 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer (committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt 
with in accordance with Standing Order 10.

5.2 Statements and Petitions

Notice of representations to be given in writing or by email by 
12 noon, Friday 4 March 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer (committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt 
with in accordance with Standing Order 11.1.

Petitions may be presented to the Committee. The person 
presenting the petition will be allowed to address the meeting 
briefly (not exceeding one minute) to outline the aims of the 
petition. The Chair will refer the matter to another appropriate 
body of the Council within whose terms of reference it falls 
without discussion, unless a relevant item appears elsewhere 
on the Agenda. Please give notice of petitions to 
committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk in advance of the meeting.

5.3 Questions by Members

Questions by Members to be dealt with in accordance with 
Standing Orders 12.3 to 12.8.

SECTION A - KEY AND OTHER DECISIONS

6. DRAFT BIRKENHEAD 2040 REGENERATION FRAMEWORK 
(Pages 11 - 230)

7. DOMINICK HOUSE, LISCARD (Pages 231 - 240)

SECTION B - BUDGET AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

8. QUARTER 3 MONITOR REPORT (Pages 241 - 248)

SECTION C - WORK PROGRAMME / OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk


9. WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 249 - 256)



Terms of reference (extracted from Constitution)

4. ECONOMY, REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

4.1 Composition: 
 

Eleven (11) Members of the Council, subject to proportionality, which 
may be altered to accommodate the overall political balance 
calculation.  

 
4.2 Terms of Reference 
 

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee has 
responsibility for developing and delivering a vision for Wirral as a 
place. It is responsible for developing and determining or 
recommending all planning and transport policies, including the Local 
Plan, and infrastructure planning. It is also responsible for promoting 
regeneration, economic development and associated activities, 
including the tourism, culture and visitor economy, and for removing 
barriers to growth.

The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility 
for: 

(a) development and delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives for 
planning, sustainability and transportation;

(b) developing and recommending those plans and strategies which 
together comprise the Local Plan, subject to the time limited 
transfer of these functions to the Local Plan Steering Sub-
Committee (set out at paragraph 1.7 above) until such time as the 
Local Plan in development 2020/21 is adopted;

(c) developing and adopting or recommending (if reserved to Council) 
other spatial planning documents, including but not limited to 
(i) supplementary planning documents (SPD) and planning policy 

advice notes;  
(ii) Master Plans and development briefs;  
(iii) The Infrastructure Delivery Plan; and  
(iv) [The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) when applicable ];

(d) economic development, including but not limited to infrastructure, 
enterprise, skills and seeking, securing and managing external 
funds to achieve that, directly or in partnership with joint ventures 
and external companies or bodies as well as with the Combined 
Authority and government bodies;  

(e) the Council’s functions and partnerships regarding the promotion of 
economic growth and the establishment and development of 
business;  

(f) the promotion and development of the economic factors in the 
area, such as seeking to ensure sufficient and appropriate 



employment sites, investment, adult skills, apprenticeship 
schemes, productivity, development sites and so forth;  

(g) overseeing the progress of major projects (including major building, 
infrastructure or other projects involving the erection or significant 
alteration of major permanent structures or landmarks) undertaken 
by the Council directly or as enabler, funder or joint enterprise 
partner, including but not limited to the Wirral Growth Company 
LLP; 

(h) reviewing major projects and any project boards having regard to 
capacity to deliver, corporate priorities and resources, and advise 
the Policy and Resources Committee as appropriate;

(i) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk 
management in relation to the Committee’s functions; and

(j) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in 
relation to the Committee’s functions, incorporating the assessment 
of outcomes, review of effectiveness and formulation of 
recommendations to the Council, partners and other bodies, which 
shall include any decision relating to the above functions.

4.3 Methodology 

(a) Enquiries and Policy Development -The Committee may 
undertake enquiries and investigate the available options for future 
direction in policy development and may appoint advisors and 
assessors to assist them in this process.  They may go on site 
visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission 
research and do all other things that they reasonably consider 
necessary to inform their deliberations.

(b) Overview and Scrutiny - The Committee may scrutinise and 
review decisions made or actions taken by the Authority in so far as 
they have a direct impact on the role or functions of the committee 
and the Committee can make recommendations to the relevant 
Committee on policies, budget and service delivery.  Overview and 
scrutiny of the Council is an important part of the Committee’s remit 
as part of a ‘doing and reviewing’ approach. Upon conclusion of a 
scrutiny exercise the Committee will produce a report containing 
recommendations for decision by the Policy and Resources 
Committee or other Committee as may be relevant. In doing so, the 
Committee shall have regard to the overview and scrutiny means of 
working set out at Part 4(4) of this Constitution.

(c) Stakeholders - The Committee may invite stakeholders to address 
the committee on issues of local concern and/or answer questions 
in so far as it impacts directly or indirectly on the role of functions of 
the committee 



This page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 26 January 2022

Present: Councillor T Jones (Chair)

Councillors K Greaney
P Martin
T Smith
G Wood

D Burgess-Joyce
A Hodson
C Povall
D Mitchell

62 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

The Chair opened the meeting and reminded everyone that the meeting was 
being webcast and a copy is retained on the Council’s website for two years.

63 APOLOGIES 

Councillor Andrew Gardner gave apologies and was deputised by Councillor 
Max Booth.

Councillor Emily Gleaves gave apologies and was deputised by Councillor Pat 
Cleary

64 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests and any 
other relevant interest and to state the nature of the interest. There were no 
declarations of interests.

65 MINUTES 

Resolved (by assent) –
That the minutes of the meeting of Economy, Regeneration and Development 
Committee held on 22 November 2021 be approved and adopted as a correct 
record.

66 PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

No questions, statements or petitions from the public or Councillors had been 
received.

66.1 Public Questions 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



No Public Questions had been received

66.2 Statements and Petitions 

No Statements or Petitions had been received
66.3 Questions by Members 

No Questions by Members had been received. 

67 REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

The Assistant Director: Chief Regeneration Officer presented the report which 
recommended the approval of revisions to the future timetable for the 
preparation of the Wirral Local Plan, as set out in the revised Local 
Development Scheme.  Members also were informed that the revised scheme 
had replaced the Local Development Scheme adopted by the Council in 
October 2020.

Members asked question of officers and confirmed that there was a budget in 
place for IT and Technological support. The issue of residential land supply 
was also discussed. 

A query was also raised about the costs of legal support and split between 
internal and external legal support involved in the development of the Local 
Plan. Officers confirmed they will provide Members with a written response.  

Resolved: that,

the adoption of the revised Local Development Scheme as set out at 
Appendix 1 of the report be approved.

68 DISPOSAL OF INDUSTRIAL ESTATE AT QUARRYBANK STREET,  
BIRKENHEAD 

The Assistant Chief Executive presented a report which sought approval for 
the disposal of Quarrybank Industrial Estate, Quarrybank Street, Birkenhead, 
a Council owned investment asset. This disposal will assist the Council in 
meeting targets for the generation of capital receipts from the sale of non-
operational property assets.

Members discussed the report and queried the reserve price for the premises 
and the Assistant Chief Executive agreed to provide this information to 
members separately. Concerns were raised about disposing of the premises 
and loss of rental income. Also discussed was the spend required to bring the 
premises up to a ‘C grade’ Energy Performance Certificate. The Assistant 

Page 2



Chief Executive responded to say that this had been considered and would be 
untenable due to  age of the estate and investment required.

Resolved: that Policy and Resources Committee be asked to 
recommend that: 

(1) Quarrybank Industrial Estate, Quarrybank Street, Birkenhead be 
declared surplus to requirements; and 

(2) Delegated authority be given to the Director of Law and Governance, 
in consultation with the Director of Regeneration and Place, to arrange 
for its disposal by auction and subsequent sale on the basis as set out 
in paragraph 3.3 of this the report

69 APPOINTMENT OF A PREFERRED DEVELOPER FOR THE NEW FERRY 
REDEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

The Chair asked Members if they agreed to alter the order of the agenda so 
that this item could be considered in a closed session if required. This was 
agreed by assent.

70 ACQUISITION OF FORMER CO-OP BUILDING - 100 NEW CHESTER 
ROAD, NEW FERRY 

The Assistant Director for Special Projects introduced the report which sought 
approval for a recommendation to be made to Policy and Resources 
Committee for the purchase of the former Co-op building in New Ferry as a 
strategic acquisition to support the delivery of the master plan for the area. 
The regeneration of the town centre was a priority for the Council following the 
explosion in March 2017. The Co-op building was situated at the heart of New 
Ferry district centre and therefore forms a key site in respect of enabling any 
future redevelopment of the area to take place.

Members were reminded that a previous version of this report had been 
presented to the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee in 
November 2021 but a review of the valuation was requested by members. 
This review was undertaken by the Council’s independent property consultant 
who advised that the acquisition of this site would provide the opportunity to 
provide more residential units and the original proposed acquisition price was 
correct. 

Members confirmed that they were content with the acquisition of the property 
and the recommendations within the report.

Resolved: that

Page 3



Policy and Resources Committee be asked to recommend that the 
Director of Law and Governance,  in consultation with the Director of 
Regeneration and Place, be authorised to acquire the Co-Op building in 
New Ferry, as shown on the plan referred to within the report, at a price 
of £700,000.

71 SUSTAINABLE URBAN DEVELOPMENT WORK PACKAGE 7 

The Assistant Director, Chief Regeneration Officer presented the report which 
sought approval to enter into a Deed of Variation to increase the existing 
Grant Funding Agreement for Sustainable Urban Development Work Package 
6, to accept a further £2.89m funding package from Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority and to undertake appropriate consultation, procurement 
and appointment of a contractor to deliver 6.65km of walking and cycling 
infrastructure upgrades and 5.15ha of habitat improvements as part of Phase 
1 of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan  - the Sustainable 
Urban Development Green Sustainable Travel Corridors Programme.

Members discussed the report and the split between EU and Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority funding. This was confirmed by officers at a 50% 
split. Members also queried if the scheme would be LTN1/20 complaint and 
questioned the capacity if the project should fall behind in terms of timescales. 
The Assistant Director: Chief Regeneration Officer confirmed that compliance 
had been taken into consideration when applying for funding and that projects 
are run in parallel to each other and extra capacity had been put in place to 
deliver within the time scales. 

Resolved: that,

(1) A Deed of Variation be entered into by the Council to accept £2.89 
million of funding from the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority to deliver 6.65 kilometres of walking and cycling 
infrastructure upgrades and 5.15 hectares of habitat improvements 
as part of Phase 1 of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan - the Sustainable Urban Development Green Sustainable Travel 
Corridors Programme; 

(2) Amendments be made to the individual phase programmes, if 
required, in consultation with Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority and the Chairs and Spokespersons of the Economy, 
Regeneration and Development and the Environment, Climate 
Emergency and Transport Committees, having due regard to any 
issues that may arise during design or consultation stages of 
projects; and 

Page 4



(3)The necessary procurement process to appoint external contractors 
to undertake the necessary highway works associated with Phase 1 
of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan - the 
Sustainable Urban Development Green Sustainable Travel 
Corridors Programme  be carried out.

72 2022/23 BUDGET UPDATE 

The Lead Principal Lawyer (Regeneration, Planning and Property) introduced 
the report of the Director of Law and Governance which provided for 
consideration of the recommendations of the Policy and Resources 
Committee in respect of the 2022/23 Budget Update. 

It was emphasised that the Council had a significant financial challenge and 
had to demonstrate financial viability, under the scrutiny of an independent 
Assurance Panel. The proposals outlined were part of a draft budget and 
were therefore not without prejudice, and it was for the Committee to focus on 
these specific proposals, any comments on which would be fed back to the 
Policy and Resources Committee. 

Members questioned the details of some of the options in the report and 
noted:
 

 That the proposed closure of public conveniences would achieve 
operational savings.  They also queried if disposal of the buildings to 
raise revenue had been considered.
 

 Concerns about the closure of public conveniences in Thornton Hough 
and Moreton Common and associated anti-social behaviour.

 The costs of maintaining empty corporate buildings and increases in 
energy tariffs.

Resolved – that: 

(1)the 2022/23 draft budget proposals be noted. 

(2) the relevant director with portfolio be authorised to take the 
necessary action to consult on any proposals that require additional 
consultation and take necessary action to deliver the resulting service 
changes in consultation with the Chair and Group Spokesperson or 
reporting to the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee as 
the Director considers appropriate.

Page 5



73 LEGAL INPUT INTO MAJOR REGENERATION PROJECTS 

The Chair asked Members if they agreed to alter the order of the agenda so 
that this item could be considered in a closed session if required. This was 
agreed by assent.

74 WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee was responsible 
for proposing and delivering an annual committee work programme. This work 
programme was to align with the corporate priorities of the Council, in 
particular the delivery of the key decisions which were within the remit of the 
Committee.

Resolved: that

The content of the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee 
work programme proposed in the report for the remainder of the 2021/22 
municipal year be agreed

75 EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED:
That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined by paragraphs 3 and 5 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that Act. The Public Interest test 
has been applied and favours exclusion.

76 APPOINTMENT OF A PREFERRED DEVELOPER FOR THE NEW FERRY 
REDEVELOPMENT SCHEME EXEMPT APPENDIX 

The Assistant Director for Special Projects presented the report, informing 
Members that in March 2017 an explosion in New Ferry devasted the heart of 
the retail centre, destroying businesses and homes, having a significant 
impact on the local community. 

Since that time, the Council had been fully supporting the recovery of the 
area, seeking additional funding to acquire the interests of key properties and 
parcels of land which would enable the regeneration and redevelopment of 
the town centre to proceed. These acquisitions were crucial to the delivery of 
the New Ferry Regeneration Plan. This Plan was produced by the Council 

Page 6



and consulted on in September 2017 and had led to a preferred development 
option being selected with the support of the community. The plan sought to 
protect local businesses and bring a mix of new residential and retail units into 
the town to create a sustainable future for New Ferry.

Councillors discussed the political sensitivity of the project and queried the 
possibility of joint ventures for financial resilience. The Assistant Director: 
Special Projects confirmed there had been a very through procurement 
process and extensive due diligence had been undertaken. Members also 
commended the use of apprentices within the scheme.

Resolved: that

(1) The tenderer set out within the exempt Appendix 3 to this report be 
appointed as preferred developer, being the highest scoring tenderer 
following conclusion of the competitive dialogue process (as outlined in 
the exempt Appendix 3) within the approved budget and in accordance 
with the Most Economically Advantageous Tender criteria; 

(2) The Director of Law and Governance, in consultation with the 
Director of Regeneration and Place,  be delegated authority to enter into 
all associated legal agreements with the preferred developer so as to 
finalise and complete the development agreement and all other 
associated legal documentation for sites A, B and C, (as shown in 
Appendix 1 to the report) with the option to include any other 
appropriate land/development opportunities that are within the defined 
wider area, as shown in the plan  (attached as Appendix 2 to the report); 
and 

(3) The Director of Law and Governance be authorised to draft and agree 
an appropriate Grant Funding Agreement with the preferred developer, 
for pass through of the Future High Street Funds grant allocation for 
New Ferry and a Grant Funding Agreement for additional capital up to 
£2,590,265.53 on appropriate terms and conditions for the grant

77 LEGAL INPUT INTO MAJOR REGENERATION PROJECTS EXEMPT 
APPENDICES 

The Lead Principal Lawyer introduced the report which had been produced 
further to a request from this Committee at its meeting of October 2021. The 
report was provided to enable the Committee to have regular updates on 
legal risk and project profile, for which the first of these was presented for the 
Committee’s consideration. 

Members were informed that a similar report went to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee on 24th January 2022 in accordance with the request 
of this Committee at its meeting of October 2021. The debate and corporate 

Page 7



risk profile raised at the earlier Committee meeting centred on the LGA 
‘Planning Improvement Peer Challenge – Follow Up Review of July 2020’. 
This was due to the peer review being referenced on a slide presentation of 
the timeline to delivery. The risks associated with the broader regeneration 
programme had later been identified via a series of external reports. This 
included the Wirral External Assurance Review of September 2021 as 
commissioned by the Secretary of State. Members were informed that the 
Council had accepted these recommendations and implemented an action 
plan which included a response to the comment (as repeated by the Lead 
Principal Lawyer)  that “an area of risk was  ensuring that there is sufficient 
financial and legal expertise assigned to the very complex and fast moving 
delivery and investment vehicles in regeneration. Pleasure at seeing external 
funding secured and schemes progressing after many years of false starts 
may be bringing a degree of optimism that clouds a rigorous and healthily 
sceptical view of the financial risks.”

This report, however, focused more on the legal services response to the 
challenges of the ongoing regeneration projects.

A general discussion was held around the procurement of legal support. The 
Chair asked for it to be noted that whilst the Chair, Groups Spokespersons 
and Regeneration Officers of the Committee had been invited to the 
procurement interview, this was in the capacity of observers and there was no 
input into the decision to appoint. 

Questions were asked concerning the combative nature of legal engagement 
with partners of different companies that deal with regeneration and around 
the improvement of the Council’s legal services, which was followed by 
discussion around the contents of the report. The Lead Principal Lawyer 
assured Members that changes had been made within legal services, 
alongside the appointment of a strategic legal partner.  There was now a clear 
line of sight following the compilation of projects produced by regeneration 
officers to work on, which is set out as an Appendix to the report. 

The Chair proposed setting up a working party to oversee the performance of 
legal support to the regeneration programme. 

After a discussion, members resolved that, under section 100 (A) (4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the exempt Appendices 3 and 34 of the 
report  on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined by paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to that Act. 

Members then resolved to consider the consider the report in public and 
proceeded to ask the Director or Law and Governance to comment. He 
cautioned against establishing the working group meeting with external 

Page 8



stakeholders with whom there are ongoing negotiations. The Director of Law 
and Governance noted that Members wished it to be a supportive process 
and asked that thought be given to the terms of reference. 

Resolved: That:

1) The contents of the  report be noted;

2) Given the importance of the regeneration programme to Wirral in 
respect of achieving financial stability and sustainability for the 
Council, as well as other accepted benefits, a working group  of 
elected members comprising the Chair and Spokespersons of  
Economy Regeneration and Development Committee, with the Chair 
and Spokespersons of Audit and Risk Management Committee also 
invited, along with an observer from the current Independent Panel, 
to oversee the performance of legal support to the regeneration 
programme, with partners invited when necessary; and

 (3) The working group is in acknowledgement of concerns raised by 
both Committees and will allow for scrutiny of the legal process that 
will include feedback from partners where needed as an assessment 
of the performance of the Council legal practice as it relates to the 
regeneration programme. Its purpose is not to micromanage the 
process but to allow scrutiny and offer assurance to elected members 
across both Committees and the wider Council chamber.

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 9 March 2022 

REPORT TITLE: DRAFT BIRKENHEAD 2040 FRAMEWORK

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY
This report seeks approval for the endorsement of the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Framework 
as the interim regeneration strategy for Birkenhead and those parts of the Claughton, 
Bidston & St James, Seacombe and Liscard Wards which lie within its boundary as shown 
in Appendix 1 to this report.  
The Framework is a key evidence document which will inform the emerging Local Plan and 
sets out a draft comprehensive regeneration strategy for Birkenhead.
The Birkenhead 2040 Framework will support all five themes of the Wirral Plan 2021-26: 
Inclusive Economy, Safe & Pleasant Communities, Sustainable Environment, Brighter 
Futures and Active & Healthy Lives.
This is a Key Decision and affects the Birkenhead & Tranmere, Claughton, Bidston & St 
James, Seacombe and Liscard Wards

RECOMMENDATION

Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee is recommended to endorse the 
Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework as the Council’s Interim Regeneration 
Strategy for Birkenhead and those parts of Seacombe and Liscard that are within its scope. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The endorsement of the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework as the 
Council’s interim regeneration strategy for Birkenhead will give weight to the 
document as key evidence informing the Council’s emerging Local Plan and to 
enable the Council to progress the proposals of the Framework including the 
submission of funding bids for associated projects. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 To continue to use the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Framework as an informal 
regeneration strategy has been considered. However, whilst significant progress has 
been made to progress regeneration projects within the Framework area since the 
publication of a draft for consultation in March 2021 including the preparation of 
successful bids and masterplans the lack of formal endorsement by the Council of 
the draft strategy may undermine its importance as key evidence informing the Local 
Plan Submission Draft and with funding partners.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Council’s preferred spatial strategy for the Local Plan, is to meet all of the 
Borough’s development needs for the period 2021 to 2037 within existing urban 
areas largely by utilising brownfield land. The Birkenhead 2040 Framework has been 
prepared to provide key evidence to support this preferred approach for the Local 
Plan by setting out a comprehensive regeneration strategy for Birkenhead and parts 
of Seacombe and Liscard. 

3.2 The Draft Framework and Summary are set out in Appendices 2 and 3 of this report 
respectively. 

Draft Vision

3.3 The draft vision for the Birkenhead for 2040 Framework is that Birkenhead:
 has grown into a thriving community on the left bank of the River Mersey;
 is chosen as home for families and entrepreneurs alike, drawn by the unique 

and historic waterfront environment and iconic design;
 is a place of creativity innovation and fun, a place to put down roots;
 has the connectivity of city living but in harmony with nature. A place with 

room to breathe and a space to grow.

3.4 The Framework has the following objectives:
 Iconic Birkenhead;
 Connected Birkenhead;
 Cultural Birkenhead;
 Waterfront Garden City;
 Industrious Birkenhead;
 Inclusive Birkenhead;
 Sustainable Birkenhead;

Page 12



 Healthy Birkenhead; and
 Resilient Birkenhead

3.5 The following Catalyst projects are set out:
 Wirral Waters;
 Dock Branch Park;
 Birkenhead Commercial District;
 Birkenhead Landing;
 East-West Cultural Axis;
 Woodside Gyratory;
 Mass transit; and
 Birkenhead District Heating Network.

3.6 The draft Framework sets out draft proposals and illustrative concepts for a number 
of identified neighbourhoods across Birkenhead as follows (see Appendix 1):

Central Birkenhead;
Birkenhead Waterfront;
Hind Street Urban Village;
Wirral Waters;
Hamilton Park;
Scotts Quay;
Seacombe River Corridor; and 
Northside.

3.7 The Council is preparing more detailed Neighbourhood Frameworks for each of 
these neighbourhoods to provide further evidence for the Local Plan on the potential 
for brownfield development and to develop the proposals set out in the main 
Framework document.

3.8 Subject to members approval when considering the Local Plan Submission Draft 
Local Plan these neighbourhoods will be included in the Local Plan as regeneration 
areas. This will provide a useful spatial focus for the delivery of comprehensive 
regeneration on a neighbourhood basis across the framework area. 

3.9 The final Framework will build on the existing close working across the Council and 
with partners to further develop the non-spatial components of whole place making 
for Birkenhead including social wealth building, education, skills, health and well 
being.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from the endorsement of the Draft 
Framework as the Interim Regeneration Strategy for the area although there are and 
may be financial implications relating to projects included with it.  Many of the 
projects including key infrastructure identified will require funding from the public 
sector to enable delivery.  All relevant projects which have financial implications for 
the Council will be reported to appropriate Committees as required.  

4.2 The cost of updating and finalising the Framework is estimated to be between 
£50,000 and £70,000 which can be met from within existing departmental budgets.

Page 13



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The purpose behind the seeking of Members’ approval to the Framework is to 
provide weight to the document as a key point of reference in programme planning 
for the regeneration projects within its scope. The document will provide strong 
supporting evidence for future grant applications to the government and public 
bodies.  Members’ endorsement will give the document weight as a key evidence 
document to support the Council’s case during the Examination of the Local Plan. 

5.2 The Framework will not be a Supplementary Planning Document for the purposes of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 albeit elements of it could be used 
for the purpose of production of future Supplementary Planning Documents. 
Notwithstanding this the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Framework is capable of being a 
material consideration in respect of planning applications relating to developments 
that are within its scope. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The update and finalisation of the 2040 Framework will be coordinated by officers 
from the Regeneration and Place Department working with a range of officers from 
other departments.  It will be necessary to engage specialist planning, economy and 
design consultants to assist with technical aspects of the Framework.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 Unless the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Framework has been endorsed by the Council as 
the regeneration strategy for Birkenhead there is a risk that the document will not 
have sufficient weight as an evidence document informing the Local Plan 
Submission Draft during the Examination in Public process.  There is also a risk that 
without formal endorsement, the relevance of the strategy as a comprehensive 
regeneration strategy will be diminished when submitting projects for public funding.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Consultation on the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration took place between 23rd 
March and 19th May 2021.  Consultation was extensive and comprised:

 Media notices;
 Documents made available on Have your say consultation Birkenhead 2040 

Framework | Have your say Wirral;
 Documents made available on the planning policy web pages with email 

notifications via the Local Plan consultee database;
 Questionnaire embedded within the Have your say portal;
 Explainer video Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework - YouTube ; and
 Meetings with specific local interest groups.

8.2 A summary of the comments received via the ‘Have your say Portal’ is set out in 
Appendix 4 to this report. There were a total of 142 online responses to the survey 
and 6 Easy Read copies. 84.8% of respondents agreed with the Birkenhead 2040 
Regeneration Framework Vision whilst 45.5% strongly agreed.

Page 14

https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/regenerating-birkenhead-2
https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/regenerating-birkenhead-2
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9aF7WSnlnsA


8.3 All the Objectives had similarly high levels of support, with between 70.6% - 89.2% of 
respondents signalling agreement or strong agreement with each. The Objective that 
was most agreed with was the Inclusive Birkenhead objective (89.2%), whilst the 
Resilient Birkenhead objective was agreed with the least (70.6%).

8.4 As set out in Appendix 5 to this report, technical responses were received from 31 
consultees. Responses to the consultation were generally supportive of the vision 
and objectives presented through the Birkenhead 2040 Framework.  In particular, the 
overall housing delivery approach, based on the regeneration of Birkenhead was 
supported, alongside the creation of new green space such as Dock Branch Park 
and the creation of wildlife corridors.  However, concerns were raised which related 
to matters such as the deliverability and viability of urban regeneration-based 
housing delivery, the impact of housing development upon dockside industrial uses, 
and the possible impacts of the proposed approach upon Birkenhead’s heritage and 
habitats located in close proximity to Birkenhead’s waterfront development areas. 
These concerns have been addressed in the preparation of specific policies and 
allocations in the emerging Local Plan and will be reflected in the updated 
Framework as appropriate.

8.5 The video explainer has had over 6,500 views.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 The proposals set out in the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Framework could have 
significant impacts on the lives of Birkenhead residents and businesses.  Overall, 
these proposals will be beneficial as they will lead to the regeneration of Birkenhead 
as a more sustainable and equitable place.  

9.3 Equality implications were part of the procurement and award process. Any 
associated actions may require its own Equality impact Assessment.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Draft Framework document contains a series of proposals which will contribute 
to the regeneration of Birkenhead as a green and sustainable town. It is proposed to 
prepare a sustainability and green strategy to inform the delivery of the final 
Framework proposals. Where appropriate individual projects will be subject to 
environmental impact assessment at planning application stage.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The implementation of the Draft Birkenhead 2040 Framework will have significant 
community wealth opportunities through the delivery of its catalyst projects and other 
proposals.

Page 15



REPORT AUTHOR: Keith Keeley
Head of Regeneration Strategy
Telephone: 0151 691 8283
email:  keithkeeley@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Birkenhead Framework Boundary
Appendix 2: Birkenhead 2040 Framework Main Document
Appendix 3: Birkenhead 2040 Framework Summary
Appendix 4: Have Your Say: Birkenhead Framework 2040

 Public Consultation Report
Appendix 5: Birkenhead Regeneration Framework 2040 Consultation Summary Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Consultation on the draft Birkenhead Regeneration 
Framework (officer delegated decision)

26 March 2021

Page 16



B I R K ENHEADB I R K ENHEAD   
2 0 4 02 0 4 0

F RAMEWFRAMEWORKORK 
S UMMARSUMMARYY

D r a f t  
M a r c h  20 2 1   

LEFTBANK LIVING

Page 17



FOREWORD
PG 4

SECTION 3.
VISION AND 
OBJECTIVES
PG 36

SECTION 1. 
AN INTRODUCTION 
TO BIRKENHEAD 
2040
PG 8

SECTION 4. 
OUR SPATIAL 
STARTEGY FOR 
BIRKENHEAD
PG 46

SECTION 2. 
BIRKENHEAD 
OVERVIEW
P 20

SECTION 5.
BIRKENHEAD 
2040: DELIVERY 
STRATEGY
PG 86

HOW 
TO GET 
INVOLVED
PG 96

CONTENTS

BIRKENHEAD 2040
FRAMEWORK
SUMMARY
CONSULTATION DRAFT

MARCH 2021

2 3

P
age 18



FOREWORD

I am immensely proud to be 
able to share this exciting and 
ambitious plan for the future 
of Birkenhead. The vision set 
out in the Birkenhead 2040 
Framework represents the most 
transformational proposals for the 
town since the 1947 Town Plan.

We have a unique opportunity to 
create a beautiful, sustainable, 
waterfront town which people are 
proud to call home. A town on 
the left bank of the Mersey with a 
thriving, inclusive economy which 
benefits all its residents.  A town 
which is attractive to families and 
a great place for children to grow 
up.

The Birkenhead 2040 Framework 
is at the heart of a programme 
of regeneration which stretches 
along Wirral’s Mersey waterfront 
from New Brighton to New Ferry 
– Wirral’s LeftBank.

Underpinning these exciting 
programmes will be Wirral’s 
Local Plan. The radical re-use 
of brownfield-land it proposes 
will be a catalyst for growth in 
Birkenhead in a way that has not 
been seen since the inter-war 
period.  

We are proposing an extensive 
programme of investment and 
growth which will stretch over 20 
years. This investment will build 
on our proud pioneering and 
maritime heritage and enviable 
waterfront geography. It will 
bring to the fore the importance 
of community and locally-led 
business recovery and new job 
opportunities.

Major change has already started 
with significant development on 
the ground at Wirral Waters, the 
revitalisation of the town centre 
is underway, and Eureka! Mersey, 
the Science and Discovery Centre, 
due to open in 2022.

Your feedback on the Birkenhead 
2040 Framework will shape 
the draft Local Plan which will 
be published later this year for 
comment.

At the heart of the plan is 
the creation of family-friendly 
neighbourhoods with beautifully 
designed homes and green 
spaces. We are creating a place 
which is designed to inspire and 
which achieves our commitment 
to a low-carbon future. The plan 
has new routes for walking and 

This Framework sets out 
proposals for nine new 
neighbourhoods across 
Birkenhead and eight catalytic 
projects which will kick start 
the change. We know they will 
generate a huge amount of 
excitement in the town and set 
the tone for an optimistic future 
for Birkenhead.

At the heart of our regeneration 
agenda is the local community 
and it is the community that will 
ultimately determine the success 
of Birkenhead regeneration.

We look forward to hearing your 
views.

cycling woven throughout, which 
make the best of Birkenhead’s 
superb connectivity and access to 
public transport.

We hope that as you read through 
this Framework you will get an 
idea of the ambition and creativity 
which underpins it. We know that 
delivering it will be a collaborative 
effort with the pioneering 
ethos so evident throughout 
Birkenhead’s history. If you can 
contribute ideas and projects then 
we want to hear from you.

WITHOUT A DOUBT, THIS IS A PIVOTAL 
TIME FOR BIRKENHEAD – LARGE SCALE 
CHANGE IS ON THE HORIZON

“WE ARE RE-CONNECTING, 
RE-IMAGINING AND RE-
DISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD.”

JANETTE WILLIAMSON 
Leader Wirral Council

ANITA LEECH 
Deputy Leader Wirral Council 

Chair Of The Economy, 
Regeneration And 

Development Committee

4 5

P
age 19



WE’RECONNECTING BIRKENHEAD 
WE’REIMAGINING BIRKENHEAD
WE’REDISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD 

6 7

P
age 20



INTRODUCTION
SECTION 1.

P
age 21



AN INTRODUCTION TO 
BIRKENHEAD 2040
BIRKENHEAD 2040 
REPRESENTS A ONCE IN A 
GENERATION OPPORTUNITY 
TO TRANSFORM AND 
REGENERATE BIRKENHEAD. 
It is about creating a town which 
its residents and businesses are 
proud of, and one which many 
more people will choose to 
call home. An exemplar of low 
carbon, sustainable living with 
high quality urban design and 
beautiful public spaces.

Birkenhead is a place of firsts, 
born of ambition and shaped 
by pioneers. Birkenhead 2040 
continues that same ethos.

The significant scale of 
Birkenhead’s regeneration 
opportunity is rare, particularly 
the availability of brownfield 
sites. The unique position on the 
left bank of the River Mersey, 
opposite the World Heritage site 

of Liverpool waterfront, provides 
a transformative opportunity for 
Wirral and the Liverpool City 
Region. 

We have had strong, positive 
signs for economic growth and 
are working with colleagues 
and partners to continue this 
despite the impacts of Covid-19. 
This includes a strengthened, 
growing Maritime cluster with the 
potential to stimulate innovation 
and growth through a mixture of 
skills, infrastructure, innovation 
support and an ‘accelerator 
model’ approach. We also have 
the opportunity with our physical 
geography, housing growth 
potential and skills strength to 
become the centre of excellence 
for modular construction in the 
UK.

Birkenhead 2040 has been 
developed over the last 12 
months through a collaboration 

between Wirral Council, its 
partners and advisors, drawing 
inspiration from waterfront 
regeneration around the world. 
It responds to the priorities of 
local residents and businesses 
including those which were clearly 
articulated through the Local Plan 
consultation in January 2020. 

Whilst Birkenhead 2040 started 
out as a spatial plan to support 
Wirral’s emerging Local Plan it 
has developed into something 
so much more; a momentum 
and collaboration is growing, 
with a shared ambition and 
determination between partners.  
Confidence has increased through 
early high-quality developments 
at Wirral Waters and the start 
of the new Town Centre office 
quarter and market; £25m has 
been secured through the Future 
High Streets Fund; £8.3m to 
remove two flyovers which have 

formed a “concrete collar” 
blighting the town for years; an 
ambitious Town Fund bid has 
been submitted to Government. 

So, the plans set out in 
Birkenhead 2040 represent a 
huge opportunity, but we are 
still in the foothills of change. 
In this “first generation” of the 
strategy we have given a real 
focus to the “place” elements 
of Birkenhead 2040, aligned to 
our Local Plan. Future iterations 
will focus on economy, people 
and environment as equal 
components of our transformation 
agenda.

We are keen to hear your views 
on our vision and strategy during 
our 8 week consultation until 
19th May 2021. Details of how to 
get involved and share your views 
are on page 98.

WE’RECONNECTING 
WE’REIMAGINING
WE’REDISCOVERING
         BIRKENHEAD

10 11

P
age 22



THE OPPORTUNITY THE PROGRESS
 ◽ Creation of a sustainable urban garden 

community on the Mersey waterfront – over 
21,000 homes and 6,000 jobs in an area of 
over 270 hectares

 ◽ High quality urban design making best use of 
our historic and iconic buildings and spaces

 ◽ New residential, commercial, community and 
cultural development

 ◽ Birkenhead town centre revitalisation
 ◽ Unrivalled sustainable connectivity with 

opportunity for active travel and people-
friendly streets

 ◽ Estate-based regeneration of existing 
neighbourhoods

 ◽ One of the region’s largest District Heat 
Networks

 ◽ Economic growth sectors- modular 
construction, maritime and creative industries

 ◽ Eureka! the National Children’s Museum, will 
open Eureka! Mersey a world-class Science 
and Discovery Centre in Seacombe in July 
2022 

 ◽ Linking physical and social regeneration 
through community wealth building

 ◽ Wirral Waters development underway 
- first phase of Northbank residential 
developments started on site Nov 2019, 
Urban Splash and Peel Land and Property 
(Peel L&P) joint venture housing underway, 
Tower Road £3.2m streetscape project 
completed, and the Hythe Grade A office 
development started on site

 ◽ Bespoke construction training campus built 
for Wirral Metropolitan College

 ◽ Birkenhead now a University Town with the 
University of Chester campus and student 
accommodation 

 ◽ Wirral Growth Company in place – 50/50 
joint venture between the Council and 
Muse Developments - Town Centre 
regeneration underway

 ◽ Draft Local Plan in development for 2021 
consultation

THE CHALLENGES
 ◽ Need support to leverage our significant 

land assets, many of which are brownfield
 ◽ We have major physical blight and physical 

barriers that are holding us back
 ◽ A dominant highway infrastructure which 

needs to be replaced with active travel and 
a new Mass Transit solution to link in the 
“last mile”

 ◽ We need to attract more families to live in 
Birkenhead  

 ◽ We know that small business growth drives 
wider economic growth, and our small 
business base needs supporting     

 ◽ We need to spread wealth better and have 
equal access to economic opportunity   

 ◽ Health inequalities are there for all to see 
and shapes deprivation in our town, both 
pre COVID and especially in the last year

12 13

P
age 23



Green
Lane

Station

Birkenhead 
Park

Station

Birkenhead
North

Station

Hamilton 
Square
Station

Pier H
ead

Albert D
ock

Liverpool Cathedral

Conway 
Park

Station

Charing 
Cross

Wallasey 
Town Hall

Seacombe 
Local Centre

Birkenhead
Town Centre

East Float

West Float

St Joseph’s 
Primary 
School 

Sommerville
Primary 
School 

Market

Birkenhead
Central
Station

Birkenhead Park

Seacombe ferry and Eureka! 
Mersey children’s museum 

Woodside

*
*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

Bidston Moss

Central Park

EMPLOYMENT:

Port

New 

Existing

New office 

RESIDENTIAL:

New higher density 

New medium density 

Existing residential for regeneration/ refurb/ infill

RETAIL:

New/ existing town centre retail

LEISURE:

New cultural/ leisure/ hotel use/ retail mix

MIXED-USE:

New residential led mixed use

New employment led mixed use

Existing employment led mixed use

PUBLIC REALM:

New public realm project

New green space

Existing green space/ public realm

ACCESS/ HIGHWAYS:

Existing car park

EDUCATION

New college/ school/ university

Key
1:10,000 @ A1

NorthTHE 2040 ILLUSTRATIVE FRAMEWORK

Please note: The potential land uses shown on this 
diagram are illustrative only and do not represent the 
Council’s formal proposals.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance 
Survey 100019803. 

N

Not to scale

THE BIRKENHEAD 2040 FRAMEWORK WILL MAKE 
THE MOST OF BIRKENHEAD’S UNIQUE LOCATION AND 
SPACE TO CREATE A VIBRANT AND THRIVING TOWN. 

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Opportunity for intensification and development with 
strategic rail connectivity

Other opportunity for intensification and development 
in underutilised area   

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic  

Key

3. INTENSIFY THE GRID

Key ‘edge’ locations where built form and public 
spaces prominent from key views 

Node locations marking transition from urban to 
waterside environments   

Key frontage and definition
Passive, leisure orientated spaces 
Active and interactive spaces   

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

Key connections from urban areas to waterfront  

Key

2. VALUE THE VIEW

Key

Key focus of intensification and development 

Strategic core location 

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold into central area

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting 

*

1. BUILD A STRONG CORE 

Key

5. PLACE-LED INFRA 

Opportunity to transform existing movement 
corridors and junctions, reducing current 
hostility to pedestrians and cyclists

Additional opportunities for key people-friendly 
spaces and corridors

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key

6. PEOPLE CENTRIC 

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment 
and experience at a key nodal location, directing 
pedestrian movement  

Other key opportunity to tighten and intensify 
junction to create a more people-friendly environment

Key movement corridors with opportunity for 
coordinated environmental / public realm 
improvements 

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key focus of intensification and development in town 
centre

Currently underutilised routes that offer positive 
secondary links

Strategic landmarks helping orientation and sense of 
place  *

Town centre transformation and diversification at the 
heart of economic sustainability

Established strategic economic assets to be 
maximised, with strong physical and operational 
connections to the centre

Strategic road corridors and junctions sustaining 
business activity 

World-renowned public space central to town profile 
and visitor economy   

Key

4. ECONOMIC ASSETS

Employment 

Existing 

Potential for industrial / light industrial 

Potential to maximise maritime and related uses  

Finer grained employment (e.g. office, small 
scale studios, workshops) and education.  

Residential 

Existing residential including opportunities for 
regeneration and infill development

Potential for new medium density 

Potential for new higher density

Mixed use

Existing mixed use

New residential-led mixed use

New employment-led mixed use

Existing and new town centre uses

Opportunity for commercial leisure and 
cultural uses

Categories 1:10,000 @ A1

North

NEIGHBOURHOODS PUBLIC REALM:

New public realm project

New green space

Existing green space/ public realm

ACCESS/ HIGHWAYS:

Existing car park

Strategic core location 

Strategic gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment and experience 
at a key nodal location, directing pedestrian movement  

Key opportunities for people-friendly spaces and corridors

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

 

*

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Opportunity for intensification and development with 
strategic rail connectivity

Other opportunity for intensification and development 
in underutilised area   

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic  

Key

3. INTENSIFY THE GRID

Key ‘edge’ locations where built form and public 
spaces prominent from key views 

Node locations marking transition from urban to 
waterside environments   

Key frontage and definition
Passive, leisure orientated spaces 
Active and interactive spaces   

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

Key connections from urban areas to waterfront  

Key

2. VALUE THE VIEW

Key

Key focus of intensification and development 

Strategic core location 

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold into central area

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting 

*

1. BUILD A STRONG CORE 

Key

5. PLACE-LED INFRA 

Opportunity to transform existing movement 
corridors and junctions, reducing current 
hostility to pedestrians and cyclists

Additional opportunities for key people-friendly 
spaces and corridors

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key

6. PEOPLE CENTRIC 

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment 
and experience at a key nodal location, directing 
pedestrian movement  

Other key opportunity to tighten and intensify 
junction to create a more people-friendly environment

Key movement corridors with opportunity for 
coordinated environmental / public realm 
improvements 

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key focus of intensification and development in town 
centre

Currently underutilised routes that offer positive 
secondary links

Strategic landmarks helping orientation and sense of 
place  *

Town centre transformation and diversification at the 
heart of economic sustainability

Established strategic economic assets to be 
maximised, with strong physical and operational 
connections to the centre

Strategic road corridors and junctions sustaining 
business activity 

World-renowned public space central to town profile 
and visitor economy   

Key

4. ECONOMIC ASSETS

Employment 

Existing 

Potential for industrial / light industrial 

Potential to maximise maritime and related uses  

Finer grained employment (e.g. office, small 
scale studios, workshops) and education.  

Residential 

Existing residential including opportunities for 
regeneration and infill development

Potential for new medium density 

Potential for new higher density

Mixed use

Existing mixed use

New residential-led mixed use

New employment-led mixed use

Existing and new town centre uses

Opportunity for commercial leisure and 
cultural uses

Categories 1:10,000 @ A1

North

NEIGHBOURHOODS PUBLIC REALM:

New public realm project

New green space

Existing green space/ public realm

ACCESS/ HIGHWAYS:

Existing car park

Strategic core location 

Strategic gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment and experience 
at a key nodal location, directing pedestrian movement  

Key opportunities for people-friendly spaces and corridors

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

 

*

THE SPATIAL FRAMEWORK - KEY

14 15

P
age 24



A SUSTAINABLE, GREEN 
AND CONNECTED 
BIRKENHEAD THROUGH:

 ▪ Active travel network of high 
quality cycling and pedestrian 
routes 

 ▪ Retrofit Low Carbon 
Neighbourhoods

 ▪ A District Heat Network

 ▪ Urban greening through tree 
planting, green walls

 ▪ Sustainable urban drainage

 ▪ New strategic open space 
through Dock Branch Park

 ▪ Waterfront linear parks and 
spaces

 ▪ Hamilton Park enhancements 
and improved connections to 
the Waterfront

NEW HOMES INCLUDING:
 ▪ Over 21,000 new homes 

 ▪ An additional population 
of over 46,000 across new 
residential neighbourhoods

NEW COMMERCIAL 
FLOORSPACE DELIVERING:

 ▪ Over 900,000 sqm of new 
modernised space in key 
locations 

 ▪ A new Birkenhead Market and 
public square

BIRKENHEAD 2040 
OUTPUTS AND OUTCOMES

NEW AND IMPROVED 
INFRASTRUCTURE INCLUDING: 

 ▪ A new high quality and sustainable office 
quarter in the heart of the town

 ▪ A Mass Transit system to provide the ‘last 
mile’ links to our superb Merseyrail system

 ▪ Removal of ‘concrete collar’ flyovers 
between Hind Street Urban Village and 
Central Birkenhead

 ▪ Reconfiguration of the Woodside Gyratory 
and Birkenhead Central Gyratory

 ▪ New Primary Schools at Hind Street Urban 
Village and Hamilton Park

 ▪ New local convenience and amenity 
provision to support new and existing 
residential communities at Hamilton Park, 
Wirral Waters, the Waterfront, Central 
Birkenhead, Scotts Quay and Hind Street 
Urban Village

 ▪ Locally defined GP Health Care provision

16 17

P
age 25



18 19

P
age 26



BIRKENHEAD 
OVERVIEW

SECTION 2.

P
age 27



OUR 
HISTORY
THE HISTORY OF WIRRAL 
IS ONE OF MAKERS AND 
GREAT IDEAS, A TRUE 
PLACE OF FIRSTS. 
Shipbuilding, soap and 
healthcare, food manufacturing, 
tourism and engineering all have 
their roots in Wirral. With 26 miles 
of coastline, beautiful countryside 
and an ideal location between 
the cities of Liverpool and 
Chester, and part of the Mersey 
Dee Alliance, the potential of 
the area is second to none. 
The regeneration challenge of 
the Birkenhead area, the urban 
heartland of Wirral, however, is 
significant and far reaching. 

Birkenhead is a market town 
designed by visionaries on 
the left bank of the Mersey to 
compete with the largest cities in 
the world. In the 1820s William 

Laird planned a new town to 
neighbour his shipyard, Cammell 
Laird, on a revolutionary grid 
plan. In this period, Birkenhead 
experienced an explosion of 
industrial creativity offering the 
world several firsts: a publicly 
funded civic park, later providing 
inspiration for Central Park, 
New York; the world’s first steel 
ship; the first street tramway in 
Europe. Later, the Mersey Railway 
connected Birkenhead and 
Liverpool, with the world’s first 
tunnel beneath a tidal estuary. In 
1835 the famous market was built, 
home to one of Michael Marks 
first seven ‘Penny Bazaar’ stalls.

Present day Birkenhead is 
facing a number of inter-related 
challenges following decades 
of industrial decline and lack 
of investment. In particular low 
housing growth, affordability, 

and town centre decline, as well 
as high unemployment and low 
skills, child poverty and poor 
health in the local population. 
Whilst rail and ferry links to 
Liverpool are excellent (less 
than 3 minutes from Birkenhead 
Hamilton Square station to 
Liverpool James Street station), 
the ‘last mile’ of supporting 
transport and infrastructure to 
open up key sites for non-car 
access needs to be improved. 

Birkenhead 2040 is meeting 
these challenges head-on with 
an ambitious scale of investment, 
growing Birkenhead into a 
beautiful, sustainable waterfront 
town. The regeneration area 
covers over 780 hectares of land 
– larger than Liverpool city centre 
footprint, and serves nearly a third 
of the population of Wirral.

‘THE HISTORY 
IS UNDENIABLE, 

THE FIRST PUBLIC 
PARK IN THE WORLD, 
CENTRAL PARK IS 

DESIGNED AFTER IT!’

TO ADD

22 23

P
age 28



UNIQUELY 
BIRKENHEAD
HISTORY AND 
GEOGRAPHY HAVE  
GIFTED BIRKENHEAD 
WITH UNIQUE 
CHARACTERISTICS, 
ASSETS AND 
OPPORTUNITIES WHICH 
ARE THE FOUNDATIONS 
OF BIRKENHEAD 2040.

A WATERFRONT 
PLACE
Birkenhead’s history, evolution 
and maritime economy are 
completely entwined with 
its waterfront location. The 
Mersey Riverfront offers one 
of the most impressive global 
viewpoints – with direct 
views to the iconic Liverpool 
waterfront. Birkenhead 2040 
will make best use of this 
superb location through 
changing uses along the 
waterfront itself, creating 
attractive linkages between 
the waterfront and the rest of 
the town through investment 
in public space, and of course 
the transformation of Wirral 
Waters.

24 25

P
age 29



THE LAIRD 
GRID
Our town is a place of immense history. 
History that is often overlooked and 
certainly under-utilised.   The merchants and 
industrialists who underpinned the evolution 
of Birkenhead in the first half of the 
nineteenth century were intent on creating a 
new town that was well-planned. 

William Laird, a Scottish shipbuilder, and 
his son John, were influential in the design 
of Birkenhead. Parts were laid out in a 
grid-iron pattern like Edinburgh New Town 
with similar architecture.  Laird’s distinctive 
street layout  represents urban planning of 
the highest order. An efficient way to ease 
movement around the town and maximise 
views. Birkenhead 2040 seeks to rediscover 
and amplify the Laird grid, maximising this 
as a highly distinctive feature of the town 
layout. The wide, expansive and often flat 
key streets provide a fantastic opportunity 
to develop people-friendly, green 
thoroughfares which encourage journeys on 
foot and bike.

The creation of a Birkenhead Park, as the first publicly 
funded park in the world, became a key element in 
the implementation of the overall development plan. 
The Park is renowned to be the inspiration for the 
American, F.L. Olmstead in designing Central Park in 
New York, and is now a Grade I listed landscape and 
carries a prestigious Green Heritage Award, and is 
also being considered for World Heritage Site status. 

Hamilton Square, named after William Laird’s mother-
in-law, was designed as the civic heart of Birkenhead 
and hosts the largest concentration of Grade I listed 
buildings outside Trafalgar Square in London. The 
Hamilton Square cluster of Georgian buildings, the 
Laird Grid legacy, and Birkenhead Park nestled into 
the grid are three of the most evident heritage assets 
but only tell part of the story of Birkenhead

The Birkenhead Priory, constructed in the 12th 
Century, is the oldest standing collection of buildings 
in Merseyside and recognised as an Ancient 
Scheduled Monument by Historic England.

A more recent addition, the Mersey Tunnel 
Ventilation Shafts, are unusual, dominant, eye-
catching features of the town and are just waiting to 
be lit up!

ICONIC SPACES AND 
BUILDINGS 

26 27

P
age 30



CONNECTIVITY
Birkenhead has extraordinary connectivity 
with six Merseyrail stations and three ferry 
ports within the town boundary – 12 Quays, 
Woodside and Seacombe. A train journey from 
Hamilton Square to Liverpool City Centre takes 
less than three minutes. 

For travelling further afield, the 12 Quays 
Ferry Terminal has direct ferry connections to 
Belfast, and Liverpool John Lennon Airport 
is approximately 11 miles from Birkenhead 
and provides flights to a number of European 
destinations. 

Active, sustainable travel is at the heart of 
Birkenhead 2040 including proposals for a 
world-class mass transit system for improved 
“last mile” connectivity, a new linear park – 
Dock Branch Park – designed for walkers and 
cyclists, and an approach where streets are 
treated as a vital part of public space and are 
designed for people. 

Our areas of development will make the 
most of Birkenhead’s connectivity by being 
concentrated around improved transport hubs, 
supporting zero carbon lifestyles and industry. 
The Tower Road Streetscape project is an 
excellent example of the quality we seek to 
achieve.

A CULTURAL PLACE
Birkenhead  offers a unique opportunity to deliver a 
step change in Wirral’s urban cultural offer – working 
with existing creatives and combining the water, 
heritage, and a regionally significant visitor, arts and 
leisure location. 

Wirral was awarded the Liverpool City Region Borough 
of Culture 2019 and many events were held in 
Birkenhead including The Witching Hour street art and 
light show held in Birkenhead Park,  The Future Yard 
Festival,  and Royal Liverpool Philharmonic Orchestra 
live at Birkenhead Park. The Wirral Food and Drink 
Festival attracted 30,000 people to Birkenhead Park in 
one weekend. New attractions are being constructed 
including Eureka! Mersey, a new children’s museum 
which will open in 2022 following an £11.75 million 
development, comprising the creation of a 21st 
Century science and discovery centre.

There have also been developments in the 
creative and cultural sector including Future Yard a 
350-capacity performance venue opened in 2019. It 
is clear that Birkenhead has the potential to grow its 
distinctive culture and visitor offer.

28 29

P
age 31



A RESILIENT ECONOMY

Birkenhead’s economy has positive foundations for 
growth and, through the development of bespoke 
accommodation, can become a destination of 
choice for business start-ups.

Birkenhead is home to some high volume 
employment sectors - the retail sector accounts 
for 3,000 jobs and is clearly under immense 
pressure, professional/scientific services account for 
2,000 jobs, and the health and education sectors 
combined total 3,000 jobs. We are proud to be 
a town of industry and the manufacturing sector 
accounts for 3,500 jobs. Birkenhead is also a major 
public administration hub accounting for 4,000 jobs 
and our maritime cluster is a major contributor to 
the 52,000 jobs in the sector across the Liverpool 
City Region.     

The digital and creative sector is seeing a stream 
of new business starting, locating and growing 
in Birkenhead. We are seeing growth in music, 
immersive technologies, artificial intelligence, 
digital health, film and television, further boosted 
by the increased profile of the Wirral Borough of 
Culture 2019. Notable additions include Future 
Yard, Make Hamilton, Bloom Building, and Start 
Yard, adding to the growing number of creative, 
community and cultural organisations clustering 

in and around the Argyle Street area. Future 
plans focus on cultivating this emerging cluster 
through the ambitious Town Deal Investment Plan, 
supporting creative businesses to thrive. 

Birkenhead has a considerable history and future in 
industrial innovation. There are a growing number 
of clean-growth businesses situated in Birkenhead 
focusing on clean renewable energy generation, 
storage and private wire delivery to support 
Birkenhead’s future growth. Examples include Inteb 
(sustainability energy management specialists), 
Real Sphere Eco World (wholesale eco-friendly 
products), Quinnovations Group (collective of 
carbon reduction companies) and waste not want 
not (zero waste shopping initiative). Ørsted the 
leading green energy supplier is also based just 
outside the area in Seacombe. 

Maritime and related industries continue to be a 
strength in Birkenhead and recent investments in 
port facilities provide a growing role for the sector 
in the UK maritime supply chain. The Port and 
Cammell Laird are examples of the area’s continued 
dominance and investment in projects such as the 
Maritime Knowledge Hub (shown opposite) and 
the Liverpool City Region Freeport will drive further 
innovation, skills and growth for the sector.

30 31

P
age 32



FREEPORT STATUS
The Government’s announcement 
in March 2021 that Liverpool 
City Region has been awarded 
Freeport status will support the 
growth of jobs and investment 
within the borough.  Wirral 
Waters has been identified as 

one of three tax sites and this 
will add a further boost to the 
initiatives already underway to 
facilitate growth in low carbon 
technologies as well as attracting 
inward investment and creating 
new jobs. 

32 33

P
age 33



Birkenhead is at the heart of Wirral’s regeneration programme along 
the LeftBank of the River Mersey stretching from New Brighton 
to Rock Ferry. Alongside the development of Birkenhead 2040 
masterplanning work has taken place for New Brighton and Liscard, 
and the regeneration of New Ferry is underway. Together, the plans 
for these locations form an exciting programme of change, led 
by ambitious and passionate local organisations, bringing life and 
creativity to their communities - LeftBank Living.

There are a number of projects which tie together the LeftBank 
proposals. Two projects within Birkenhead 2040 – the new Mass Transit 
and the walking and cycling routes through Dock Branch Park, have 
both been developed with potential to extend routes to the north and 
the south.

LeftBank regeneration is 
already providing enticing 
attractions for locals and 
visitors alike, including the 
striking street art in New 
Brighton and community 
renewal led by Rockpoint 
Leisure, and the outstanding 
murals in New Ferry by the 
award-winning Liverpool 
artist Paul Curtis.

LEFT BANK 

N

Not to scale

34 35

P
age 34



VISION AND 
OBJECTIVES

SECTION 3.

P
age 35



VISION

BIRKENHEAD IN 2040

RE-IMAGINING + RE-DISCOVERING + RE-CONNECTING BIRKENHEAD

BIRKENHEAD HAS GROWN INTO A THRIVING URBAN COMMUNITY ON THE LEFT 
BANK OF THE RIVER MERSEY. 
CHOSEN AS HOME BY FAMILIES AND ENTREPRENEURS ALIKE, DRAWN BY THE 
UNIQUE AND HISTORIC WATERFRONT ENVIRONMENT AND ICONIC DESIGN. A PLACE 
OF CREATIVITY, INNOVATION AND FUN, A PLACE TO PUT DOWN ROOTS. 
BIRKENHEAD HAS THE CONNECTIVITY OF CITY-LIVING BUT IN HARMONY WITH 
NATURE. A PLACE WITH ROOM TO BREATHE AND SPACE TO GROW.

38 39

P
age 36



RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING

WATERFRONT 
GARDEN CITY

We will deliver a substantial and 
diverse array of additional homes, 

via new sustainable mixed-use family 
neighbourhoods and the renewal 

of existing residential areas. A high-
quality network of green and blue 
infrastructure will ensure ‘garden 

city’ principles are at the forefront of 
Birkenhead’s urban change.

INDUSTRIOUS 
BIRKENHEAD

We will grow and diversify our 
economic base. Our much celebrated 

manufacturing and maritime sectors will 
thrive and we will grow our emerging 
clean growth industries. Birkenhead’s 
service sector and town centre uses 
will prosper through innovation, as 

more and more of our residents utilise 
Birkenhead for their everyday needs.   

A significant increase in population 
in the Birkenhead area, up from the 
current baseline of circa 26,000    

An increase in the employment 
base of the Birkenhead area, up 
from the current baseline of 25,000

Wirral 
“Brownfield 
First” Local 

Plan

LCR 
Industrial 
Strategy

Wirral’s 
Housing 
Strategy

LCR 
Economic 
Recovery 

Plan

Liverpool 
City Region 

Housing 
Statement

KPI KPI

OBJECTIVES

INCLUSIVE 
BIRKENHEAD

We will ensure all our communities 
share more fully in the wealth we 

generate and in the economic assets 
we house. This means broader 

access to opportunity, higher rates of 
economic participation, higher rates of 
enterprise, higher skills, good work and 

more local ownership and control.     

A decrease in the rate of economic 
inactivity, down from the current 
annualised rate of 19%

Wirral 
Community 

Wealth 
Building Plan

Emerging 
LCR Fair 

Employment 
Charter

Wirral Creative 
and Digital 

Market Demand 
Strategy   

Wirral’s 
Improving 

Life Chances 
Strategy 

KPI

40 41

P
age 37



RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING

ICONIC 
BIRKENHEAD

We will fully celebrate and leverage the 
unique heritage offer of Birkenhead. 

Our assets will be treasured locally and 
recognised nationally. We will be known 
as a place of firsts, shaped by pioneers, 
and will use this to shape our brand and 

identity.  

CONNECTED 
BIRKENHEAD

We will improve yet further the 
connectivity of Birkenhead with the rest 
of the city-region and beyond. Internal 
connections within our town will also be 
greatly enhanced through new walking 
and cycling infrastructure. And digital 

access for all our communities will 
become world class.        

A decrease in the current 78% 
of residents who state that 
Birkenhead is declining

An increase on the 30% of survey 
respondents who said that 
Birkenhead is well connected

Emerging 2021 
Birkenhead 

Heritage and 
Cultural Strategy

LCR 
Combined 
Authority 
Transport 

Plan

Wirral’s 
Cultural 
Strategy 

LCR Local 
Journeys 
Strategy

Wirral 
Conservation 

Area and 
Heritage Trail 

Plans

KPI KPI

CULTURAL 
BIRKENHEAD

We will develop further the cultural 
infrastructure of Birkenhead, and ensure 

that the town becomes a key part of 
the City Region’s cultural identity.  This 

drive will focus on the production, 
the showcasing and the consumption 

of cultural content – a full and 
comprehensive approach to culture.       

An increase in annual visitors to 
Birkenhead, up from the current 
estimated 2 million per annum

Wirral’s 
Cultural 
Strategy

Emerging 2021 
Birkenhead 

Heritage 
and Cultural 

Strategy

LCR and Wirral 
Visitor Strategies 
and Destination 
Management 

Plans

KPI

Wirral’s Local 
Cycling 
Walking 

Investment 
Plan

42 43

P
age 38



RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING

SUSTAINABLE 
BIRKENHEAD

We will be known as Sustainability 
Central. This means Birkenhead will 

perform at the highest levels, and be 
a national leader, on lean and clean 

energy, on clean travel, and on carbon 
capture and offsetting.  We will create 

a climate-ready built environment 
and enhance our green and blue 

infrastructure to protect us from even 
more extreme weather patterns.        

HEALTHY 
BIRKENHEAD

We will help shape a healthy living and 
active culture across all of Birkenhead’s 
communities. We start from a relatively 

low base and a comprehensive 
programme of education, inspiration 

and accessible support infrastructure is 
required.  

H

2,000 homes in the Birkenhead 
area to be upgraded to be more 
energy efficient

A reduction in the 29% of 
Birkenhead residents with a 
limiting long term illness

Wirral Cool 2 
Sustainability 

Strategy

Wirral’s 
Healthier 

Lives 
Strategy

Wirral’s 
Managing 
Our Waste 
Strategy 

Wirral’s 
Ageing Well 

Strategy

Liverpool 
City Region 
Sustainable 

Energy Action 
Plan

KPI KPI

RESILIENT 
BIRKENHEAD

We will be in greater control of our 
own destiny, and by necessity more 

flexible. Our enhanced resilience will be 
delivered through the robust long-term 
stewardship of Birkenhead, innovative 
approaches to place management and 
new delivery models based on shared 

values and ambition. 

A reduction in the 15,500 
Birkenhead residents who live in 
the most income deprived decile

Wirral 
Council 

Plan 2025

Wirral’s Strategy 
for Children, 

Young People 
and Families

Cheshire and 
Wirral NHS 

Foundation Trust 
Strategy

Community 
Safety 

Strategy

KPI

44 45

P
age 39



OUR SPATIAL 
STRATEGY

SECTION 4.

P
age 40



OUR CATALYST PROJECTS 
AND NEIGHBOURHOODS
The spatial strategy for Birkenhead is based around eight catalyst 
projects and nine neighbourhoods. 

Each of these has their own distinct characteristics and opportunities 
and will play an important role in Birkenhead 2040. More detailed 
Neighbourhood Frameworks will be developed in the coming months 
which will inform the emerging Local Plan and future iterations of this 
strategy. 

The catalyst projects and neighbourhoods are listed below and set out 
over the following pages:

CATALYST 
PROJECTS
1. Wirral Waters

2. Dock Branch Park

3. Bikenhead Commercial 
District

4. Birkenhead Landing

5. East West Cultural Axis

6. Woodside Gyratory

7. Mass Transit

8. Birkenhead District Heating 
Network

NEIGHBOURHOOD 
AREAS

 ▪ Central Birkenhead

 ▪ Birkenhead Waterfront

 ▪ Hind Street Urban Village

 ▪ Wirral Waters and Portside

 ▪ Hamilton Park

 ▪ Scotts Quay

 ▪ Seacombe Riverside Corridor

 ▪ Northside

 ▪ Bidston Moss

‘ONLY THROUGH 
CONNECTING THE DOTS, 
THE IDEAS, THE PEOPLE 

AND THE PROJECTS WILL 
WE SUCCESSFULLY DELIVER 
THE REIMAGINED FUTURE OF 

BIRKENHEAD.’ 

48 49

P
age 41



OUR CATALYST 
PROJECTS

1 2

3 4

5 6

7 8

WIRRAL WATERS DOCK BRANCH PARK

BIRKENHEAD 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

BIRKENHEAD LANDING

EAST WEST CULTURAL 
AXIS

WOODSIDE GYRATORY

MASS TRANSIT BIRKENHEAD DISTRICT 
HEATING NETWORK

N

Not to scale
Catalyst Projects: Location Plan

50 51

P
age 42



1 CATALYST 
PROJECT

The principal example of our 
transformation is Wirral Waters. 
Led by Peel Land and Property 
(L&P) and located in the heart 
of Birkenhead, this programme 
alone is one of the largest 
regeneration projects in the 
UK. It will transform over 200 
hectares of docks in Birkenhead 
over a 30-year timeframe. The 
programme seeks to create a 
new, internationally recognisable, 
sustainable destination that will 
create many thousands of new 
jobs and deliver many thousands 
of new homes. 

WIRRAL WATERS

An Illustration of Wirral Waters: Tower Road and East Float, Peel L&P

Wirral Waters has both Enterprise 
Zone and Housing Zone status 
and is a critical building block 
of the regeneration strategy for 
Birkenhead.

It is not just its scale which makes 
Wirral Waters a major driver for 
Birkenhead’s regeneration, but 
the quality of design and holistic 
place-making approach being 
adopted. Early developments set 
the benchmark for what will be 
achieved and provide the catalyst 
for change:

 ▪ An on-site campus for Wirral 
Metropolitan College to provide 
construction training for local 
young people

 ▪ Work has started on the Urban 
Splash/Peel L&P joint venture 
new homes as phase one of their 
300+ pioneering and modern 
neighbourhood on Northbank

 ▪ Work is on site for the first 
phase of Legacy, the 500 new 
apartments on Northbank with 
views across the docks and to 
Liverpool

 ▪ £3m investment completed in 
Tower Road streetscape project 
to create an attractive and 
accessible setting to attract new 
workers, students and visitors 

 ▪ Work underway on Hythe, the 
first Grade A office development 
to be built speculatively in Wirral 
for over a decade. It will make 
the most of panoramic views 
to Liverpool, and will be in the 
top 10% of buildings for green 
credentials

 ▪ The eleventh village in the 
Belong portfolio of residential 
care hubs, providing a vibrant, 
safe and inclusive space at the 
heart of the Wirral Waters project

CATALYST 
PROJECT2

This is a truly iconic and 
transformational project for the 
town. It will see the creation of 
a beautiful new linear park and 
active travel corridor along the 
disused Dock Branch Railway, 
one of the earliest railways in 
the country. It will bring to life a 
neglected gem of Birkenhead’s 
heritage and link three key 
development areas: Wirral 
Waters, the Town Centre and 
Hind Street Urban Village. 

DOCK BRANCH PARK

Working with National Museums 
Liverpool we will incorporate a 
new museum; the Transport Shed, 
through a creative design set 
within the former rail corridor. The 
park will become the centrepiece 
of a new neighbourhood through 
creative use of the surrounding 
sites. 

Dock Branch Park will provide 
much needed greenspace within 
the heart of the town, with an 

emphasis on wildlife, nature and 
play. It will be an important part 
of the “east west cultural axis”, 
another one of our catalytic 
projects. The next phase of the 
project will involve working with 
community groups to identify 
opportunities for community 
ownership from the outset, 
building on the Community 
Wealth Building principles which 
are core to Birkenhead 2040 
delivery.

A
n Illustration of D

ock B
ranch Park, W

irral C
ouncil

52 53

P
age 43



3

Wirral Growth Company is a 
50:50 Joint Venture Partnership 
between Wirral Council and 
Muse Developments, formed 
in 2019. The flagship project of 
which is a major redesign and 
redevelopment of Birkenhead 
town centre, creating a new office 
quarter, development of over 
600 new homes on  vacant town 
centre sites, and development of 
a new permanent indoor market, 
something fundamental to the 
history, character and spirit of 
Birkenhead.

This town centre project has been 
developed following extensive 
consultation and engagement 
with local residents, businesses 
and stakeholders who have 
consistently said that revitalisation 

BIRKENHEAD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

of the town centre is one of their 
biggest priorities. 

Progress has been boosted by 
a successful £24m award to the 
town through the Governments 
Future High Streets Fund at the 
start of 2021 (this was in addition 
to £3.4m for New Ferry, Wirral 
being the only place to achieve 
two successful bids).

An Illustration of the Commercial 
District, Wirral Growth Company

4

This area is a strategic gateway to 
the town centre that is currently 
dominated by over-engineered 
infrastructure, creating part of the 
“concrete collar” which divides 
the town and constrains the town 
centre. 

A dominant feature are the two 
flyovers which provide a major 
physical barrier between the 

BIRKENHEAD LANDING

town centre and new community 
at Hind Street Urban Village. 
The Council is working in 
partnership with Merseytravel 
and the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority to remove 
these flyovers and create a more 
people-friendly key gateway. 
£8.3m of Transforming Cities 
Fund money has been secured to 
enable this.

Birkenhead Central Station, and 
the area around it, has major 
potential for improvement – 
including restoration of the 
station building, a new public 
space replacing the Central 
gyratory, and a new southern 
entrance serving the future Hind 
Street Urban Village community.

CATALYST 
PROJECT

CATALYST 
PROJECT

Demolition has started as the 
first phase of the new office 
quarter, and a number of 
important gateway and transport 
improvements will take place, 
part of the wider programme of 
removing the “concrete collar” 
which has constricted and 
blighted the town centre for so 
long.

54 55

P
age 44



5

One of Birkenhead’s most 
underutilised assets is the 
Mersey waterfront, hidden and 
inaccessible from much of the 
town. The Framework will create 
experiences that entice and 
encourage people to follow the 
path linking central Birkenhead 
with the waterfront. This needs to 
be an active corridor and network 
across Birkenhead, with a focus 
on culture and creativity. 

EAST WEST CULTURAL AXIS

This cultural axis will join the 
dots between the re-focused 
high street, the new vibrant 
commercial district, the Dock 
Branch Park neighbourhood, 
Hamilton Square and Birkenhead 
Town Hall – Birkenhead’s Heritage 
Heart – and the Waterfront.

The Framework prioritises the 
creation of arts and cultural assets 
in these locations: giving life 
to the underutilised Hamilton 

Square, bringing Birkenhead 
Town Hall back into use, and 
creating a unique and globally 
recognised attraction to the 
Waterfront. The new Culture and 
Heritage strategy will develop 
these proposals including 
potential for creative “meanwhile 
uses” to bring spaces to life 
and projects are already coming 
forward to encourage people to 
spend time there.

6

The Woodside Gyratory 
should be a key gateway 
point linking the waterfront 
and town centre but 
currently acts as a barrier. 
It epitomises Birkenhead’s 
underutilised sites and 
therefore provides one of 
the biggest transformative 
opportunities. It is 
oversized and over 
engineered, creating a 
poor environment for both 
pedestrians and cyclists. 
Although the area is home 
to one of the town’s key 
transport hubs, Hamilton 
Square station, it provides 
no sense of arrival or 
character. 

We will remove the gyratory 
and bus interchange 
and create a continuous 
high-quality public realm 
connection between 
Woodside Ferry Terminal 
and Hamilton Square. This 
will allow the town and 
water to stitch together and 
release major development 
opportunity sites.

WOODSIDE GYRATORY

‘IT IS 
TIME THAT THE 

INFRASTRUCTURE 
WORKS BETTER FOR 

PEOPLE ON FOOT. FOR 
PEOPLE LIVING AND 

WORKING AND INHABITING 
THE AREA, NOT FOR THE 

PEOPLE PASSING THROUGH.’

CATALYST 
PROJECT

CATALYST 
PROJECT

56 57

P
age 45



7

Birkenhead is already served by 
one of the best rail systems in the 
country - the Merseyrail network 
is a major asset to Birkenhead and 
the wider City Region. It is fast, 
frequent and consistently ranked 
one of the most reliable operators 
in the country. 

The Birkenhead 2040 Framework 
seeks to ensure that this asset 
is utilised to its full extent, 

MASS TRANSIT

concentrating new development 
around improved transport hubs. 
However, a more radical and 
far-reaching solution is required 
in order to complete “last mile” 
connectivity, enabling and linking 
key growth sites into the existing 
Merseyrail network. 

A Mass Transit demand study is 
already underway to explore the 
potential for a new Mass Transit 

network. A new network would 
prioritise links between Wirral 
Waters, Seacombe (specifically 
Eureka! Mersey), the Waterfront, 
Hind Street Urban Village and the 
Town Centre in the first instance. 
Longer term opportunities for 
further links to New Brighton are 
also included in the study. 

8

The Chancellor’s 2019 Spring Statement, 
the Future Homes Consultation and the 
Future Buildings Standard consultation 
set the commitment that fossil fuel 
heating will no longer be permitted in 
new homes from 2025. In response to 
the economic challenges of individual 
renewable heat, Wirral is working with 
Government to undertake a detailed 
feasibility study into the practicalities 
of a district heat network to enable 
economically-viable decarbonisation of 
energy at a regional level. 

The normal barriers of renewable heat 
sources do not exist in Wirral as there 
is potential to abstract heat from water 
in the docks, transport tunnels and 
wastewater treatment works. The network 
will spread across Birkenhead, linking in 
key development sites, and will be one 
of the largest in the country. It is currently 
planned to be constructed between 
2025 – 2030 and will bring significant 
cost reductions for future low-carbon 
development. 

BIRKENHEAD DISTRICT HEATING NETWORK

CATALYST 
PROJECT

CATALYST 
PROJECT

58 59

P
age 46



WE’RECONNECTING BIRKENHEAD 
WE’REIMAGINING BIRKENHEAD
WE’REDISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD      

60 61

P
age 47



OUR 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

HAMILTON PARK
Creation of more family-friendly housing 
through a changed mix of business and 
residential uses, making the most of the 
location between Birkenhead Park and the 
new Wirral Waters development at Vittoria 
Studios

WIRRAL WATERS + 
PORTSIDE 
The £4.5 billion transformation of 
Birkenhead’s docks through mixed-
use development alongside continued 
growth of the operational port

NORTHSIDE
Increasing the availability of modern, 
purpose-built business and employment 
accommodation

BIDSTON MOSS + DOCK
Increasing the value and use of the Moss as 
one of Birkenhead’s key green spaces and 
leisure opportunities

N

Not to scale

CENTRAL BIRKENHEAD
A revitalised and vibrant town centre, 
with more cultural and creative 
businesses and a purpose-built indoor 
market, bringing life to the town

HIND STREET URBAN 
VILLAGE
Creation of an exciting new low-carbon 
urban village of up to 1,000 new homes 
on this brownfield site

SCOTTS QUAY
Opportunity for new residential 
development and an improved 
environment through high quality 
employment uses and more people-
friendly streets

SEACOMBE RIVERSIDE 
CORRIDOR
New housing and improved environment, 
building on the opening of Eureka! 
Mersey in 2022, and a re-purposed Town 
Hall quarter

BIRKENHEAD’S WATERFRONT
Our hidden gem - opening up the Mersey 
waterfront as a major destination with 
new housing, leisure, arts and culture 
development, making the most of the 
unrivalled views of the Liverpool skyline

Neighbourhoods: Location Plan

62 63

P
age 48



CENTRAL BIRKENHEAD

Change is coming to the centre of Birkenhead, 
at scale, and at pace. Work is now underway 
on a new office quarter and market, and further 
plans are focused around the creation of distinct 
neighbourhoods within the central area: 

 ▪ Grange Road: Birkenhead’s High Street – including 
the pedestrianised and non-pedestrianised extents 
of Grange Road (crossing the Charing Cross 
junction) and the Pyramids Shopping Centre as 
a more concentrated and revitalised core of the 
traditional retail offer within the Town Centre; 

 ▪ Commercial District and Mixed-Use Quarter: 
an emerging prestigious commercial, leisure and 
housing district within Birkenhead, set in the 
context of high quality and well-managed public 
realm and supported by a vibrant mix of uses 
including Birkenhead Market and the Pavements 
shopping area; 

 ▪ St Werburgh’s Quarter: The built environment 
between the Commercial District and Hind Street 
Urban Village is perhaps the most apparent 
physical legacy of retail decline within the town 
centre. This presents significant opportunity for 
change and potential to bring the listed church 
to the forefront of this new residential led mixed 
use neighbourhood area and create a people-
friendly link to the new Hind Street Urban Village 
neighbourhood

 ▪ Hamilton Square: Birkenhead’s ‘Heritage Heart’, 
with key assets including the square itself, 
Birkenhead Town Hall and the Magistrates’ Court, 

but with so much more to offer in terms of active uses 
which attract people, particularly as part of the “east 
west cultural axis” linking the town centre to the 
Waterfront 

 ▪ Argyle Approach: Capturing the corridor linking 
Birkenhead Central Station, Hind Street Urban Village 
and Dock Branch Park with the Heritage Heart. It 
lacks identity but is has the potential to become an 
independent and culture-led hub within the central 
area, and is a focus of the programme developed in 
Birkenhead’s Towns Fund proposals; and 

 ▪ Argyle and Conway: the most prominent intersection 
of the Laird grid within Central Birkenhead, with the 
disused former Dock Branch line cutting through 
its middle – creating an underwhelming, disjointed, 
and largely forgotten neighbourhood of Birkenhead, 
predominantly industrial in use and feel, and very 
much underutilised in nature.

OFFICE

OFFICE

BOOKSHOPCafe & Bakery

Bar & Music

Birkenhead Cenotaph

A REVITALISED AND 
VIBRANT TOWN CENTRE, 
WITH MORE CULTURAL 
AND CREATIVE BUSINESSES 
AND A PURPOSE-BUILT 
INDOOR MARKET, BRINGING 
LIFE TO THE TOWN

“

”

64 65

P
age 49



BIRKENHEAD WATERFRONT

The Mersey River waterfront represents 
Birkenhead’s most underutilised asset – 
Birkenhead 2040 will change that. Wirral Waters 
is transforming the dockside waterfront and the 
proposals in this Framework will expand the 
transformation to the Mersey riverfront. 

Inspired by riverside towns and cities across 
the globe which have used their waterfront 
location to focus regeneration, over the next 
20 years we will create a greener, more active 
waterfront environment that celebrates the 
views across to Liverpool and encourages 
vibrancy and life along this historically closed off 
environment. Birkenhead’s own Graces – iconic 
architecture and spaces designed for people 
to visit and linger – will form a new skyline vista 
to complement Liverpool’s. These connected 
spaces will flow together and encourage 
movement along the waterfront with activity at 
every stop. Birkenhead waterfront will include:

 ▪ A canvas for world class architecture;

 ▪ Residential-led mixed use neighbourhoods;

 ▪ A globally recognised arts destination as the 
climax of the cultural axis connecting Central 
Birkenhead to its waterfront;

 ▪ Activation of Birkenhead’s waterfront through 
the delivery of recreational activities within the 
inland water bodies at Egerton Dock as well the 
introduction of a new waterside attraction at the 
historic Monks Ferry; and 

 ▪ Celebration of the heritage of the area and the 
role the waterfront has played in the fortunes 
and evolution of Birkenhead and the wider 
Liverpool City Region.

“SENTENCE”

OFFICE

OFFICE

BOOKSHOP

RIVER MERSEY

RIV
ER M

ERSEY

M
ersey Tunnel

M
ersey Tunnel

Delivery

canoeingcanoeing

OFFICE

OFFICE

BOOKSHOP

RIVER MERSEY

RIV
ER M

ERSEY

M
ersey Tunnel

M
ersey Tunnel

Delivery

canoeingcanoeing

OUR HIDDEN GEM - 
OPENING UP THE MERSEY 
WATERFRONT AS A 
MAJOR DESTINATION 
WITH NEW HOUSING, 
LEISURE, ARTS AND 
CULTURE DEVELOPMENT, 
MAKING THE MOST OF 
THE UNRIVALLED VIEWS 
OF THE LIVERPOOL 
SKYLINE

“

”

66 67

P
age 50



HIND STREET URBAN VILLAGE

The Hind Street Urban Village offers a unique 
opportunity to create a sustainable, market 
changing, low carbon exemplar urban village of up 
to 1,000 new homes. Major landowners, including 
the Council, are already working on a masterplan.

The Birkenhead Landing catalytic project is 
fundamental to the development of the site. It will 
include the removal of the two flyovers currently 
dissecting the site and creating a hostile road 
environment separating this future community from 
Central Birkenhead. 

The project will enable the creation of this new 
neighbourhood which will include:

 ▪ An exemplar and innovative low carbon urban 
village, creating a new residential offer with 
scale and potential for inter-generational living;

 ▪ Highly accessible, well-located, high-quality 
accommodation for families which can help 
to underpin diversification of the town centre 
including an enhanced food and drink and 
leisure offer;

 ▪ New open greenspace, linked to the delivery of 
the second phase of Dock Branch Park; and 

 ▪ New social infrastructure – including specific 
potential to deliver an innovative and modern 
urban school to meet wider need across 
Birkenhead.

“SENTENCE”

CREATION OF AN 
EXCITING NEW LOW-
CARBON URBAN 
VILLAGE OF UP TO 1,000 
NEW HOMES ON THIS 
BROWNFIELD SITE

“

”
68 69

P
age 51



WIRRAL WATERS AND 
PORTSIDE
The early phases of Wirral 
Waters are the most significant 
catalyst for the transformative 
regeneration of Birkenhead. 
They demonstrate that high 
quality, large scale investment is 
already underway.

Wirral Waters and Portside is 
identified as one of Birkenhead 
2040s neighbourhoods for two 
reasons. Firstly, it acknowledges 
the 30-year timeframe for 
the delivery of the totality of 
Wirral Waters. Secondly, the 
Framework recognises the 
importance of the retained and 
thriving port at West Float and 
Twelve Quays. The port is a vital 
and growing part of the local 
economy. This is particularly 
true given the successful 
Freeport proposal.

THE £4.5 BILLION 
TRANSFORMATION OF 
BIRKENHEAD’S DOCKS 
THROUGH MIXED-
USE DEVELOPMENT 
ALONGSIDE CONTINUED 
GROWTH OF THE 
OPERATIONAL PORT

“

”

70 71

P
age 52



HAMILTON PARK

Hamilton Park covers an area of 82 hectares 
sat between the internationally recognised and 
strategically significant Birkenhead Park to the 
south and the docklands of Wirral Waters to the 
north. It has good connectivity with the Birkenhead 
Park Merseyrail station. It is a mixture of characterful 
Victorian residential streets, interwar and more 
modern housing to the south and employment uses 
adjacent to the docks. 

The northern part of the area closer to the 
docks historically consisted of heavy industry, 
manufacturing and processing as well as open 
storage associate with port operations. It is now 
home to a number of businesses but also numerous 
vacant and underutilised buildings and sites across 
the north of the area.

Hamilton Park was recognised as a key gateway 
location in the original Wirral Waters masterplan, 
with huge potential to become an area of further 
family-focused homes making best use of its 
proximity to Birkenhead Park, Wirral Waters and 
Central Birkenhead.  Through this Framework a 
core area adjoining the Wirral Waters Vittoria Studio 
development will deliver: 

 ▪ A vibrant and modern high density, family 
oriented residential-led neighbourhood that 
is defined by a richness of better-integrated 
communities, spaces and street life, unlocking 
and contributing to the viability and vibrancy of 
Wirral Waters and Vittoria Studios;

 ▪ A new mixed-use area where residential and 
employment uses intertwine to create a new 
‘industrious living’ neighbourhood

 ▪ High quality green streets linking Vittoria 
Studios and the new neighbourhoods to the 
waterside at Vittoria Studios, Birkenhead Park 
Railway Station and Birkenhead Park itself.

 ▪ A more balanced mix of business and 
residential uses – retaining uses that 
complement and sit alongside wider plans for 
regeneration and family housing, alongside 
supporting the relocation of businesses to 
purpose built employment areas where that will 
enable them to thrive.

CREATION OF MORE 
FAMILY-FRIENDLY HOUSING 
THROUGH A CHANGED 
MIX OF BUSINESS AND 
RESIDENTIAL USES, 
MAKING THE MOST OF 
THE LOCATION BETWEEN 
BIRKENHEAD PARK AND 
THE NEW WIRRAL 
WATERS DEVELOPMENT AT 
VITTORIA STUDIOS

“

”

72 73

P
age 53



SCOTTS QUAY

This neighbourhood to the north of Birkenhead 
docks presents early and medium-term 
opportunities for high quality residential-led 
redevelopment. This development will respond to 
its riverside location and impressive views whilst 
addressing constraints in terms of interface with 
the active Dock to the south and the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant to the north. A Neighbourhood 
Framework for this area will be developed and will 
include:

 ▪ Improvements to the existing housing area 
within the neighbourhood alongside the 
delivery of new waterfront homes;

 ▪ Gateway development at a scale that addresses 
Alfred Dock and gives prominence at Tower 
Road. 

 ▪ Interventions to create more people-friendly 
streets to connect the existing communities and 
businesses with the waterfront. 

 ▪ Opportunities for new modern employment 
premises to support local economic growth, 
ensuring the continued positive economic 
contribution of this neighbourhood in the 
future.

“SENTENCE”

OPPORTUNITY FOR 
NEW RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT 
AND AN IMPROVED 
ENVIRONMENT THROUGH 
HIGH QUALITY 
EMPLOYMENT USES AND 
MORE PEOPLE-FRIENDLY 
STREETS

“

”

74 75

P
age 54



SEACOMBE RIVERSIDE CORRIDOR

This neighbourhood is the northern most area in 
the Birkenhead 2040 Framework and is a largely 
residential area with the imposing Wallasey Town 
Hall complex a focal point on the waterfront. It also 
includes the start of the riverside promenade to 
New Brighton, a major asset for the wider active 
travel networks. 

A Neighbourhood Framework will be developed for 
this area which will address in more detail:

 ▪ A new, re-configured low carbon waterside 
community, enabling enhanced connectivity 
to the waterfront for existing residents, and 
bringing life to underutilised and vacant assets;

 ▪ A reimagined Wallasey Town Hall Quarter – a 
vibrant mixed used location including the 
long-term use of the Town Hall building as 
a key asset – to be determined as part of a 
comprehensive masterplanning approach. 
Planned and co-ordinated redevelopment 
of the north and south annexes will ensure 
that the significant potential of the area will 
be realised; vibrancy along a key corridor 
connecting Birkenhead and New Brighton – the 
Brighton Street corridor – creating a meaningful 
stop on the mass-transit route between the two, 
and including the conversion of retail units for 
residential where appropriate to ensure active 
frontages along this route;

 ▪ A high-quality arrival point at the Seacombe 
Ferry Terminal using Eureka! Mersey as a 
catalyst to attract new visitors to this area, 
including the need to ensure safe, high quality 
sustainable active travel links.

 ▪ A new visitor and culture offer along the 
waterfront, building on the back of the delivery 
of Eureka! Mersey;

 ▪ Renewal and improved living conditions across 
the existing communities of Seacombe to fully 
connect into its riverside potential and the need 
to improve the environment and integrate with 
new communities being delivered in the future– 
including renewal of the social housing areas 
including opportunities for low carbon retrofit 
neighbourhoods to be identified working in 
partnership with Registered Providers; and

 ▪ Delivery of an improved and vibrant 
promenade – linking to New Brighton and 
beyond, and more locally ensuring connectivity 
to the Brighton Street corridor, including 
the potential for a land train to be delivered 
connecting to the Eureka! Mersey project being 
delivered at the Seacombe Ferry Terminal.

NEW HOUSING 
AND IMPROVED 
ENVIRONMENT, 
BUILDING ON THE 
OPENING OF EUREKA! 
MERSEY IN 2022, AND 
A RE-PURPOSED TOWN 
HALL QUARTER

“

”76 77

P
age 55



NORTHSIDE

Strategically located, benefiting from direct access 
to the M53 motorway, Northside represents a key 
location underpinning the Wirral employment land 
strategy. It is also a key location in the successful 
Freeports proposal for the Liverpool City Region.  
It has the potential to accommodate new, modern 
and intensified employment growth, which could 
also support the relocation of industrial uses from 
other neighbourhoods across the urban area. It 
is a critical neighbourhood supporting the wider 
regeneration programme, ensuring that businesses 
are not displaced from Birkenhead. 

The Northside neighbourhood has the identified 
potential to deliver:

 ▪ Modern and intensified employment floorspace 
to support the economic resilience of the 
urban area and Wirral, with enhanced local and 
strategic connectivity through intensification 
of existing uses and the remediation and 
development of contaminated sites. This area is 
included within the recent designation of Wirral 
Waters as a Tax site as part of the Liverpool City 
Region Freeport proposals. 

 ▪ Purpose built employment accommodation to 
enable businesses to relocate from elsewhere in 
the Birkenhead urban area.

 ▪ Accommodation for uses not suited to retention 
within the core of the urban area.

INCREASING THE 
AVAILABILITY OF 
MODERN, PURPOSE-
BUILT BUSINESS 
AND EMPLOYMENT 
ACCOMMODATION

“

”

78 79

P
age 56



BIDSTON MOSS

Future development must serve to protect the 
recreational offer at the Moss – recognising that 
beyond Birkenhead Park and Bidston Hill, the 
Birkenhead urban area does not have a wealth 
of open green space to provide amenity for local 
residents. Through the implementation of the 
Framework, access to all of them will be better sign-
posted, strengthened and enhanced – including 
through any new development at Bidston Dock.

The Framework identifies the potential to bring 
forward development on the infilled Dock for 
leisure uses, in a manner and of a scale and form 
that does not undermine the strategy for Central 
Birkenhead and the Grange Road High Street.

 ▪ A protected green space with improved 
connections and amenity value to enrich and 
improve the lives of local residents;

 ▪ Development of unique and active leisure uses 
on the vacant land at the former dock which 
contributes to the urban area of Birkenhead 
and complements ambitions for the central 
core and the waterfront; and

 ▪ A dramatic and memorable gateway to 
Birkenhead through the use of public art and 
lighting installations on and at the Moss.

INCREASING THE 
VALUE AND USE OF 
THE MOSS AS ONE OF 
BIRKENHEAD’S KEY 
GREEN SPACES AND 
LEISURE OPPORTUNITIES

“

”

80 81

P
age 57



Summary Diagram: Catalyst 
Projects and Neighbourhood

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

WIRRAL 
WATERS

CENTRAL BIRKENHEAD

DOCK BRANCH 
PARK

BIRKENHEAD’S 
WATERFRONT

BIRKENHEAD 
COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT

WIRRAL WATERS + 
PORTSIDE

HIND STREET URBAN 
VILLAGE

BIRKENHEAD 
LANDING

HAMILTON PARK

EAST WEST 
CULTURAL AXIS

SCOTTS QUAY

WOODSIDE 
GYRATORY SEACOMBE RIVERSIDE 

CORRIDOR

MASS TRANSIT
NORTHSIDE

BIRKENHEAD 
DISTRICT HEATING 
NETWORK

BIDSTON MOSS

CATA
LY

ST PROJECTS

NEIGHBOURHOODS

CATALYST PROJECTS AND 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

N

Not to scale

82 83

P
age 58



WE’RECONNECTING BIRKENHEAD 
WE’REIMAGINING BIRKENHEAD
WE’REDISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD      

84 85

P
age 59



DELIVERING 
BIRKENHEAD 
2040

SECTION 5.

P
age 60



THE CHALLENGE

The scale of opportunity to 
create a prosperous, thriving 
and beautiful town is immense. 
Collaboration and ambition of 
partners is strong. Delivery has 
started and foundations have 
been laid. 

However, there are a number of 
significant challenges to achieving 
the vision for Birkenhead – if it 
was easy it would have happened 
already! Key challenges are:

1. Inter-related market failures 
in and around Birkenhead 
following decades of 
industrial decline and lack of 
investment.

2. Viability - low values 
exacerbated by historically 
poor external perceptions 
of the area, lack of occupier 
confidence and associated 
uncertainties about 
investment returns.

3. The capacity and expertise 
required to deliver and tackle 
the complex problems of site 
assembly, land remediation 
and infrastructure investment.

‘WE NEED TO 
ENSURE THAT ALL 

THIS TALK OF NEW 
BUILDINGS, NEW ROADS, 

NEW INFRASTRUCTURE IS 
NOT DISCUSSED PRIMARILY 
FOR NEW PEOPLE. IT MUST 
WORK FOR THOSE PEOPLE 
WHO LIVE IN THE AREA 

NOW.’

88 89

P
age 61



GETTING STARTED

A FAILURE TO FULLY 
CONFRONT THESE 
CHALLENGES HAS 
HAMPERED PREVIOUS 
REGENERATION EFFORTS. 
WE HAVE USED THIS 
LEARNING TO SHAPE OUR 
DELIVERY PLAN AND 
HAVE TAKEN A NUMBER 
OF PRACTICAL STEPS TO 
CREATE THE CONDITIONS 
FOR SUCCESS:

1. A NEW DELIVERY MODEL 
Wirral Council  submitted 
a successful bid to the 
Government’s Urban 
Development Corporation 
competition. This has provided 
funding to develop a bespoke 
delivery vehicle for Birkenhead’s 
regeneration, including exploring 
potential Urban Development 
Corporation models. The option 
assessment work for the delivery 
model will begin in April 2021. 

This is a game-changer for 
delivery – a dedicated, bespoke 
approach which can adopt the 
necessary 20-year time horizon, 
and assemble the skills required 
for truly transformational change.

2. HIGH QUALITY EARLY 
DELIVERY
We know that the right early 
developments are needed 
to shift the market and bring 
confidence to others to invest.  
Peel L&P’s early developments 
at Wirral Waters have led the 
way, set a benchmark for quality 
and demonstrated the art of the 
possible. 

Wirral Growth Company’s start 
on site with the wholescale 
redevelopment of the town 
centre is addressing one of the 
biggest priorities for local people. 
Eureka Mersey! due to open in 
2022 will provide a huge draw for 
visitors. The award of funding to 
remove two flyovers which have 
blighted the town for years show 
the commitment between the 
Council and Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority to tackle 
the large-scale infrastructure 
investment required.

3. STRONG PARTNERSHIP 
APPROACH TO PLACE-
MAKING
Perhaps one of the biggest 
unseen changes over the last 
18 months is the growing 
collaboration between partners, 
some of whom have been 
involved in previous regeneration 
efforts. There is a strong belief 
that this is Birkenhead’s time and 
a commitment to putting in the 
hard work to make it happen.

The Council has formed a working 
group with Homes England and 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority which is preparing 
a joint business case for the 

next phase of major investment 
using Government funding such 
as Brownfield Land Fund and 
Housing Infrastructure Fund. 

At the same time Birkenhead’s 
Town Board has created a £100m 
programme for new culture, arts, 
community and public realm 
projects and is seeking £45m of 
investment to make it happen. 
The Town Board’s momentum will 
continue as an important part of 
our collaborative delivery.

4. INVESTING IN LOW-
CARBON INFRASTRUCTURE 
We know that low-carbon, 
sustainable communities are 
a must if we are to address 
the climate and biodiversity 
challenges. We have embraced 
these challenges as we believe 
Birkenhead can become an 
exemplar given its unique 
combination of waterfront 
location, public transport 
connectivity, and availability of 
brownfield sites. We are working 
with Government to develop a 
business case for one of the UKs 
largest district heating networks. 
We are investing in digital 
infrastructure as part of Liverpool 
City Region’s  project, and 
creating a network of attractive 
walking and cycling routes 
throughout the town. 

DELIVERY

90 91

P
age 62



WHAT 
NEXT
THERE ARE A 
NUMBER OF ACTIONS 
WE WILL BE 
TAKING IN THE NEXT 
YEAR TO KEEP THE 
MOMENTUM:

1. WIRRAL’S LOCAL PLAN  
This is one of the most important 
enablers to regenerating 
Birkenhead. We intend to 
publicise the Draft Local Plan 
(Regulation 19) in summer 2021, 
and the comments received on 
Birkenhead 2040 will shape that 
Plan. The Local Plan will then be 
submitted to the Secretary of 
State later in the year with the 
Examination in Public likely in 
early 2022. The regeneration of 
Birkenhead will be at the heart 
of the Local Plan’s strategy to 
meet the Borough’s development 
needs within existing urban areas.

2. CREATE OUR 
BIRKENHEAD PLACE 
SHAPING POLICY 
FRAMEWORK 
We know that clarity provides 
confidence and fosters 
collaboration. To help this 
we are developing a suite of 
key strategies and policies to 
articulate different elements of 
the Birkenhead place-shaping 
approach. These specific 
strategies for Birkenhead 
include:

 ▪ Culture and Heritage Strategy

 ▪ Design Guide and Public 
Realm Strategy

 ▪ Sustainability, Wildlife and 
Biodiversity Strategy 

 ▪ Active Travel Strategy

 ▪ Parking Strategy

3. BUILD OUR PARTNERSHIP 
OF PIONEERS  
We understand that it takes 
a certain type of developer, 
designer or investor to get 
involved in a regeneration 
programme of this scale at this 
point in its life. However, we 
also know that there are many 
creative organisations who 
share our ethos and ambition 
and see the challenges 
Birkenhead faces as an 
opportunity to do something 
new and exciting.  We are 
keen to speak to innovative 
developers with an appetite 
for creating special places 
on brownfield sites.  We are 
committed to using local 
companies and suppliers in all 
aspects of the regeneration 
programme so we can make 
sure the local economy 
benefits directly from the 
significant investments which 
will be made.

4. PEOPLE, ECONOMY AND 
ENVIRONMENT 
As we have been developing 
the Local Plan there has 
inevitably been a focus 
on the spatial or “place” 
elements of regeneration. 
Our vision and objectives 
set out a holistic approach 
which incorporates People, 
Economy and Environment 
alongside Place. The next year 
will see an increased focus 
on drawing these elements 
together, particularly as we 
recover from the impacts 
of Covid-19 and build on 
the positive community and 
organisational alliances which 
have been forged. We will not 
just focus on “the new” but 
will continue improvements 
and investments in our existing 
neighbourhoods.

5. PLACE MANAGEMENT 
AND COMMUNITY WEALTH 
BUILDING  
The ultimate success of 
creating a place where 
people choose to live and put 
down roots is more about its 
management than it is about 
building new things.  Is it clean, 
safe and well maintained, do 
local people feel proud of their 
town? The early Garden Cities 
were as much an economic 
model as a planning one – 
seeking ways to generate 
income to plough back into 
maintaining high quality public 
spaces. We want to ensure that 
securing community benefits 
from physical regeneration 
is not just a worthy intention 
for Birkenhead but a 
demonstrable reality. Over the 
next year we will develop a 
delivery model for Birkenhead 
which seeks to secure the long-
term community stewardship 
of assets and spaces across the 
town.ACTIONS92 93

P
age 63



COMING SOON

Wirral Waters: Maritime 
Knowledge Hub

Wirral Waters: 
Northbank

Eureka! 
Mersey

Wirral Growth Company: 
Commercial District

COMING SOON

94 95

P
age 64



HOW TO GET INVOLVED

THE PUBLICATION OF THIS 
DRAFT BIRKENHEAD 2040 
FRAMEWORK MARKS 
A MAJOR MILESTONE 
IN BIRKENHEAD’S 
REGENERATION. HOWEVER, 
THE WORK CONTINUES AT 
PACE. 
We will increase our 
communication to keep 
people up to date and to get 
feedback, particularly for local 
residents and the many active 
community and voluntary 
groups across the town and 
wider Wirral. 

THIS CONSULTATION
We are undertaking an initial 
consultation on Birkenhead 2040 
from Wednesday 24 March to 
Wednesday 19 May 2021. If 
you would like to respond then 
please go to Wirral Have Your Say 
website: www.haveyoursay.wirral.
gov.uk

We are particularly keen to know:

1. What do you think of the 
vision and strategy? What 
do you like best? Is anything 
missing? Please go to Wirral 
Have Your Say to complete 
the survey and leave your 
comments.

2. Would you like to be part 
of the delivery? Do you 
have ideas or projects that 
you would like to link in? 
There is an interactive map on 
Wirral Have Your Say where 
you can pin your ideas and 
upload photos anonymously. 
Alternatively please email 
regeneratingbirkenhead@
wirral.gov.uk

3. Do you know of good 
examples from the UK and 
around the world which 
we should learn from? We 
are particularly interested in 
gathering best practice or 
emerging thinking on:

 ▪ Creating family friendly 
urban neighbourhoods 

 ▪ Delivery models for long-
term place management

 ▪ Creating child friendly 
urban neighbourhoods 
– our vision is for 
Birkenhead to be a place 
where it is fun to grow up. 
What real-life examples 
are there of putting this in 
to practice?

4. Would you or your 
organisation like to join 
our network? We know 
that many places are 
grappling with similar 
issues to Birkenhead, made 
especially challenging due 
to the Covid-19 experience 
of the last 12 months. Wirral 
Council is committed to 
building networks to share 
learning, best practice 
and best of all, practical 
solutions. If you would like 
to be part of our growing 
network please email 
regeneratingbirkenhead@
wirral.gov.uk

96 97

ENGAGE ONLINE

WATCH

FIND OUT MORE

www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk

View our short video of the 
Birkenhead 2040 vision on the 

‘Have your say website’ 

www.wirralwaters.co.uk
www.wirralgrowthcompany.co.uk

www.eurekamersey.org.uk

P
age 65

https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
https://www.wirralwaters.co.uk/ 
https://wirralgrowthcompany.co.uk/birkenhead/
https://www.eurekamersey.org.uk/ 


BIRKENHEAD
2040 2040 2040
THE FUTURE IS
BIRKENHEAD
BIRKENHEAD
2040 2040 2040
THE FUTURE IS

98 99

P
age 66



Our maritime heritage and unique waterfront setting of our town; the 
majestic River Mersey and its world famous ferry and dramatic inland docks.

Our world class heritage and future landscape assets; the world’s first public 
park in Birkenhead Park, the georgian grandeur of Hamilton Square and 
Dock Branch Park.

The boldness of our vision and the vibrancy of our culture; the dynamic 
independent and creative sectors and opportunities that future investment 
in our town centre can unlock.

Our name expressed 
proudly and loudly; no 

longer a passive partner 
in the world-famous 
Mersey waterfront. 

OUR VISUAL IDENTITY:
It builds on our proud history and 
points to an even stronger future. 

The distinctive Laird grid 
provides the backdrop 
- planned for ambitious 

growth - the New York of 
Europe. 

Within the regularity of 
the grid we express our 
character and celebrate 

the vibrancy of our culture.

OUR COLOURS:

100 101

P
age 67



The Framework has been 
produced by Wirral Council, 
in collaboration with 
Avison Young, Optimised 
Environments and Mott 
MacDonald

PHOTOGRAPHY AND 
CGI WHERE USED:
Architectural Emporium

Christopher Smith 
Photography

Eureka Mersey!

Feilden Clegg Bradley Studios

Future Yard

Mark McNulty 

Optimised Environments

Peel Land and Property/ Peel 
Ports

Simon Mabey

Urban Splash

Wirral Growth Company

Wirral Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Any additional precedent 
imagery may be subject 
to copyright but are not 
believed to be commercially 
available. They are 
published here solely for 
purposes of instruction or 
critique.

MAPPING WHERE 
USED:
Ordnance Survey Data 
© Crown copyright 
and database rights 
2021 Ordnance Survey 
100019803.

Aerial photography 
sources: Esri, DigitalGlobe, 
GeoEye, Earthstar 
Geographics, CNES/
Airbus DS,USDA,USGS, 
AeroGRID, IGN and the 
GIS User Community

Map data also sourced 
from © OpenStreetMap 
contributors and © 2020 
Geofabrik GmbH Karlsruhe

102 103

P
age 68



Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



B I R K ENHEADB I R K ENHEAD   
2 0 4 02 0 4 0

F RAMEWFRAMEWORKORK 
S UMMARSUMMARYY

D r a f t  
M a r c h  20 2 1   

LEFTBANK LIVING

Page 71



FOREWORD
PG 4

SECTION 3.
VISION AND 
OBJECTIVES
PG 36

SECTION 1. 
AN INTRODUCTION 
TO BIRKENHEAD 
2040
PG 8

SECTION 4. 
OUR SPATIAL 
STARTEGY FOR 
BIRKENHEAD
PG 46

SECTION 2. 
BIRKENHEAD 
OVERVIEW
P 20

SECTION 5.
BIRKENHEAD 
2040: DELIVERY 
STRATEGY
PG 86

HOW 
TO GET 
INVOLVED
PG 96

CONTENTS

BIRKENHEAD 2040
FRAMEWORK
SUMMARY
CONSULTATION DRAFT

MARCH 2021

2 3

P
age 72



FOREWORD

I am immensely proud to be 
able to share this exciting and 
ambitious plan for the future 
of Birkenhead. The vision set 
out in the Birkenhead 2040 
Framework represents the most 
transformational proposals for the 
town since the 1947 Town Plan.

We have a unique opportunity to 
create a beautiful, sustainable, 
waterfront town which people are 
proud to call home. A town on 
the left bank of the Mersey with a 
thriving, inclusive economy which 
benefits all its residents.  A town 
which is attractive to families and 
a great place for children to grow 
up.

The Birkenhead 2040 Framework 
is at the heart of a programme 
of regeneration which stretches 
along Wirral’s Mersey waterfront 
from New Brighton to New Ferry 
– Wirral’s LeftBank.

Underpinning these exciting 
programmes will be Wirral’s 
Local Plan. The radical re-use 
of brownfield-land it proposes 
will be a catalyst for growth in 
Birkenhead in a way that has not 
been seen since the inter-war 
period.  

We are proposing an extensive 
programme of investment and 
growth which will stretch over 20 
years. This investment will build 
on our proud pioneering and 
maritime heritage and enviable 
waterfront geography. It will 
bring to the fore the importance 
of community and locally-led 
business recovery and new job 
opportunities.

Major change has already started 
with significant development on 
the ground at Wirral Waters, the 
revitalisation of the town centre 
is underway, and Eureka! Mersey, 
the Science and Discovery Centre, 
due to open in 2022.

Your feedback on the Birkenhead 
2040 Framework will shape 
the draft Local Plan which will 
be published later this year for 
comment.

At the heart of the plan is 
the creation of family-friendly 
neighbourhoods with beautifully 
designed homes and green 
spaces. We are creating a place 
which is designed to inspire and 
which achieves our commitment 
to a low-carbon future. The plan 
has new routes for walking and 

This Framework sets out 
proposals for nine new 
neighbourhoods across 
Birkenhead and eight catalytic 
projects which will kick start 
the change. We know they will 
generate a huge amount of 
excitement in the town and set 
the tone for an optimistic future 
for Birkenhead.

At the heart of our regeneration 
agenda is the local community 
and it is the community that will 
ultimately determine the success 
of Birkenhead regeneration.

We look forward to hearing your 
views.

cycling woven throughout, which 
make the best of Birkenhead’s 
superb connectivity and access to 
public transport.

We hope that as you read through 
this Framework you will get an 
idea of the ambition and creativity 
which underpins it. We know that 
delivering it will be a collaborative 
effort with the pioneering 
ethos so evident throughout 
Birkenhead’s history. If you can 
contribute ideas and projects then 
we want to hear from you.

WITHOUT A DOUBT, THIS IS A PIVOTAL 
TIME FOR BIRKENHEAD – LARGE SCALE 
CHANGE IS ON THE HORIZON

“WE ARE RE-CONNECTING, 
RE-IMAGINING AND RE-
DISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD.”

JANETTE WILLIAMSON 
Leader Wirral Council

ANITA LEECH 
Deputy Leader Wirral Council 

Chair Of The Economy, 
Regeneration And 

Development Committee

4 5

P
age 73



WE’RECONNECTING BIRKENHEAD 
WE’REIMAGINING BIRKENHEAD
WE’REDISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD 

6 7

P
age 74



INTRODUCTION
SECTION 1.

P
age 75



AN INTRODUCTION TO 
BIRKENHEAD 2040
BIRKENHEAD 2040 
REPRESENTS A ONCE IN A 
GENERATION OPPORTUNITY 
TO TRANSFORM AND 
REGENERATE BIRKENHEAD. 
It is about creating a town which 
its residents and businesses are 
proud of, and one which many 
more people will choose to 
call home. An exemplar of low 
carbon, sustainable living with 
high quality urban design and 
beautiful public spaces.

Birkenhead is a place of firsts, 
born of ambition and shaped 
by pioneers. Birkenhead 2040 
continues that same ethos.

The significant scale of 
Birkenhead’s regeneration 
opportunity is rare, particularly 
the availability of brownfield 
sites. The unique position on the 
left bank of the River Mersey, 
opposite the World Heritage site 

of Liverpool waterfront, provides 
a transformative opportunity for 
Wirral and the Liverpool City 
Region. 

We have had strong, positive 
signs for economic growth and 
are working with colleagues 
and partners to continue this 
despite the impacts of Covid-19. 
This includes a strengthened, 
growing Maritime cluster with the 
potential to stimulate innovation 
and growth through a mixture of 
skills, infrastructure, innovation 
support and an ‘accelerator 
model’ approach. We also have 
the opportunity with our physical 
geography, housing growth 
potential and skills strength to 
become the centre of excellence 
for modular construction in the 
UK.

Birkenhead 2040 has been 
developed over the last 12 
months through a collaboration 

between Wirral Council, its 
partners and advisors, drawing 
inspiration from waterfront 
regeneration around the world. 
It responds to the priorities of 
local residents and businesses 
including those which were clearly 
articulated through the Local Plan 
consultation in January 2020. 

Whilst Birkenhead 2040 started 
out as a spatial plan to support 
Wirral’s emerging Local Plan it 
has developed into something 
so much more; a momentum 
and collaboration is growing, 
with a shared ambition and 
determination between partners.  
Confidence has increased through 
early high-quality developments 
at Wirral Waters and the start 
of the new Town Centre office 
quarter and market; £25m has 
been secured through the Future 
High Streets Fund; £8.3m to 
remove two flyovers which have 

formed a “concrete collar” 
blighting the town for years; an 
ambitious Town Fund bid has 
been submitted to Government. 

So, the plans set out in 
Birkenhead 2040 represent a 
huge opportunity, but we are 
still in the foothills of change. 
In this “first generation” of the 
strategy we have given a real 
focus to the “place” elements 
of Birkenhead 2040, aligned to 
our Local Plan. Future iterations 
will focus on economy, people 
and environment as equal 
components of our transformation 
agenda.

We are keen to hear your views 
on our vision and strategy during 
our 8 week consultation until 
19th May 2021. Details of how to 
get involved and share your views 
are on page 98.

WE’RECONNECTING 
WE’REIMAGINING
WE’REDISCOVERING
         BIRKENHEAD

10 11

P
age 76



THE OPPORTUNITY THE PROGRESS
 ◽ Creation of a sustainable urban garden 

community on the Mersey waterfront – over 
21,000 homes and 6,000 jobs in an area of 
over 270 hectares

 ◽ High quality urban design making best use of 
our historic and iconic buildings and spaces

 ◽ New residential, commercial, community and 
cultural development

 ◽ Birkenhead town centre revitalisation
 ◽ Unrivalled sustainable connectivity with 

opportunity for active travel and people-
friendly streets

 ◽ Estate-based regeneration of existing 
neighbourhoods

 ◽ One of the region’s largest District Heat 
Networks

 ◽ Economic growth sectors- modular 
construction, maritime and creative industries

 ◽ Eureka! the National Children’s Museum, will 
open Eureka! Mersey a world-class Science 
and Discovery Centre in Seacombe in July 
2022 

 ◽ Linking physical and social regeneration 
through community wealth building

 ◽ Wirral Waters development underway 
- first phase of Northbank residential 
developments started on site Nov 2019, 
Urban Splash and Peel Land and Property 
(Peel L&P) joint venture housing underway, 
Tower Road £3.2m streetscape project 
completed, and the Hythe Grade A office 
development started on site

 ◽ Bespoke construction training campus built 
for Wirral Metropolitan College

 ◽ Birkenhead now a University Town with the 
University of Chester campus and student 
accommodation 

 ◽ Wirral Growth Company in place – 50/50 
joint venture between the Council and 
Muse Developments - Town Centre 
regeneration underway

 ◽ Draft Local Plan in development for 2021 
consultation

THE CHALLENGES
 ◽ Need support to leverage our significant 

land assets, many of which are brownfield
 ◽ We have major physical blight and physical 

barriers that are holding us back
 ◽ A dominant highway infrastructure which 

needs to be replaced with active travel and 
a new Mass Transit solution to link in the 
“last mile”

 ◽ We need to attract more families to live in 
Birkenhead  

 ◽ We know that small business growth drives 
wider economic growth, and our small 
business base needs supporting     

 ◽ We need to spread wealth better and have 
equal access to economic opportunity   

 ◽ Health inequalities are there for all to see 
and shapes deprivation in our town, both 
pre COVID and especially in the last year

12 13

P
age 77



Green
Lane

Station

Birkenhead 
Park

Station

Birkenhead
North

Station

Hamilton 
Square
Station

Pier H
ead

Albert D
ock

Liverpool Cathedral

Conway 
Park

Station

Charing 
Cross

Wallasey 
Town Hall

Seacombe 
Local Centre

Birkenhead
Town Centre

East Float

West Float

St Joseph’s 
Primary 
School 

Sommerville
Primary 
School 

Market

Birkenhead
Central
Station

Birkenhead Park

Seacombe ferry and Eureka! 
Mersey children’s museum 

Woodside

*
*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

Bidston Moss

Central Park

EMPLOYMENT:

Port

New 

Existing

New office 

RESIDENTIAL:

New higher density 

New medium density 

Existing residential for regeneration/ refurb/ infill

RETAIL:

New/ existing town centre retail

LEISURE:

New cultural/ leisure/ hotel use/ retail mix

MIXED-USE:

New residential led mixed use

New employment led mixed use

Existing employment led mixed use

PUBLIC REALM:

New public realm project

New green space

Existing green space/ public realm

ACCESS/ HIGHWAYS:

Existing car park

EDUCATION

New college/ school/ university

Key
1:10,000 @ A1

NorthTHE 2040 ILLUSTRATIVE FRAMEWORK

Please note: The potential land uses shown on this 
diagram are illustrative only and do not represent the 
Council’s formal proposals.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance 
Survey 100019803. 

N

Not to scale

THE BIRKENHEAD 2040 FRAMEWORK WILL MAKE 
THE MOST OF BIRKENHEAD’S UNIQUE LOCATION AND 
SPACE TO CREATE A VIBRANT AND THRIVING TOWN. 

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Opportunity for intensification and development with 
strategic rail connectivity

Other opportunity for intensification and development 
in underutilised area   

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic  

Key

3. INTENSIFY THE GRID

Key ‘edge’ locations where built form and public 
spaces prominent from key views 

Node locations marking transition from urban to 
waterside environments   

Key frontage and definition
Passive, leisure orientated spaces 
Active and interactive spaces   

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

Key connections from urban areas to waterfront  

Key

2. VALUE THE VIEW

Key

Key focus of intensification and development 

Strategic core location 

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold into central area

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting 

*

1. BUILD A STRONG CORE 

Key

5. PLACE-LED INFRA 

Opportunity to transform existing movement 
corridors and junctions, reducing current 
hostility to pedestrians and cyclists

Additional opportunities for key people-friendly 
spaces and corridors

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key

6. PEOPLE CENTRIC 

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment 
and experience at a key nodal location, directing 
pedestrian movement  

Other key opportunity to tighten and intensify 
junction to create a more people-friendly environment

Key movement corridors with opportunity for 
coordinated environmental / public realm 
improvements 

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key focus of intensification and development in town 
centre

Currently underutilised routes that offer positive 
secondary links

Strategic landmarks helping orientation and sense of 
place  *

Town centre transformation and diversification at the 
heart of economic sustainability

Established strategic economic assets to be 
maximised, with strong physical and operational 
connections to the centre

Strategic road corridors and junctions sustaining 
business activity 

World-renowned public space central to town profile 
and visitor economy   

Key

4. ECONOMIC ASSETS

Employment 

Existing 

Potential for industrial / light industrial 

Potential to maximise maritime and related uses  

Finer grained employment (e.g. office, small 
scale studios, workshops) and education.  

Residential 

Existing residential including opportunities for 
regeneration and infill development

Potential for new medium density 

Potential for new higher density

Mixed use

Existing mixed use

New residential-led mixed use

New employment-led mixed use

Existing and new town centre uses

Opportunity for commercial leisure and 
cultural uses

Categories 1:10,000 @ A1

North

NEIGHBOURHOODS PUBLIC REALM:

New public realm project

New green space

Existing green space/ public realm

ACCESS/ HIGHWAYS:

Existing car park

Strategic core location 

Strategic gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment and experience 
at a key nodal location, directing pedestrian movement  

Key opportunities for people-friendly spaces and corridors

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

 

*

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Opportunity for intensification and development with 
strategic rail connectivity

Other opportunity for intensification and development 
in underutilised area   

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic  

Key

3. INTENSIFY THE GRID

Key ‘edge’ locations where built form and public 
spaces prominent from key views 

Node locations marking transition from urban to 
waterside environments   

Key frontage and definition
Passive, leisure orientated spaces 
Active and interactive spaces   

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

Key connections from urban areas to waterfront  

Key

2. VALUE THE VIEW

Key

Key focus of intensification and development 

Strategic core location 

Key gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold into central area

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting 

*

1. BUILD A STRONG CORE 

Key

5. PLACE-LED INFRA 

Opportunity to transform existing movement 
corridors and junctions, reducing current 
hostility to pedestrians and cyclists

Additional opportunities for key people-friendly 
spaces and corridors

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key

6. PEOPLE CENTRIC 

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment 
and experience at a key nodal location, directing 
pedestrian movement  

Other key opportunity to tighten and intensify 
junction to create a more people-friendly environment

Key movement corridors with opportunity for 
coordinated environmental / public realm 
improvements 

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement by creating new 
green corridors, including utilising former rail cutting

Key focus of intensification and development in town 
centre

Currently underutilised routes that offer positive 
secondary links

Strategic landmarks helping orientation and sense of 
place  *

Town centre transformation and diversification at the 
heart of economic sustainability

Established strategic economic assets to be 
maximised, with strong physical and operational 
connections to the centre

Strategic road corridors and junctions sustaining 
business activity 

World-renowned public space central to town profile 
and visitor economy   

Key

4. ECONOMIC ASSETS

Employment 

Existing 

Potential for industrial / light industrial 

Potential to maximise maritime and related uses  

Finer grained employment (e.g. office, small 
scale studios, workshops) and education.  

Residential 

Existing residential including opportunities for 
regeneration and infill development

Potential for new medium density 

Potential for new higher density

Mixed use

Existing mixed use

New residential-led mixed use

New employment-led mixed use

Existing and new town centre uses

Opportunity for commercial leisure and 
cultural uses

Categories 1:10,000 @ A1

North

NEIGHBOURHOODS PUBLIC REALM:

New public realm project

New green space

Existing green space/ public realm

ACCESS/ HIGHWAYS:

Existing car park

Strategic core location 

Strategic gateway  

Other strategic nodes in movement network

Locally significant node / threshold

Key rail hub and 400m / 5min walk isochrone

Strategic landmark location

Primary movement corridor

Secondary movement corridor

Opportunity to strengthen strategic 
ped/cycle orientated movement 

Opportunity for green corridor links, including utilising 
former rail cutting

Strategic junction for port and industrial traffic

Strategic opportunity for transformed environment and experience 
at a key nodal location, directing pedestrian movement  

Key opportunities for people-friendly spaces and corridors

Key opportunity to maximise views out over Mersey

Key opportunity to capture the value of views towards 
Birkenhead from the Mersey

 

*

THE SPATIAL FRAMEWORK - KEY

14 15

P
age 78



A SUSTAINABLE, GREEN 
AND CONNECTED 
BIRKENHEAD THROUGH:

 ▪ Active travel network of high 
quality cycling and pedestrian 
routes 

 ▪ Retrofit Low Carbon 
Neighbourhoods

 ▪ A District Heat Network

 ▪ Urban greening through tree 
planting, green walls

 ▪ Sustainable urban drainage

 ▪ New strategic open space 
through Dock Branch Park

 ▪ Waterfront linear parks and 
spaces

 ▪ Hamilton Park enhancements 
and improved connections to 
the Waterfront

NEW HOMES INCLUDING:
 ▪ Over 21,000 new homes 

 ▪ An additional population 
of over 46,000 across new 
residential neighbourhoods

NEW COMMERCIAL 
FLOORSPACE DELIVERING:

 ▪ Over 900,000 sqm of new 
modernised space in key 
locations 

 ▪ A new Birkenhead Market and 
public square

BIRKENHEAD 2040 
OUTPUTS AND OUTCOMES

NEW AND IMPROVED 
INFRASTRUCTURE INCLUDING: 

 ▪ A new high quality and sustainable office 
quarter in the heart of the town

 ▪ A Mass Transit system to provide the ‘last 
mile’ links to our superb Merseyrail system

 ▪ Removal of ‘concrete collar’ flyovers 
between Hind Street Urban Village and 
Central Birkenhead

 ▪ Reconfiguration of the Woodside Gyratory 
and Birkenhead Central Gyratory

 ▪ New Primary Schools at Hind Street Urban 
Village and Hamilton Park

 ▪ New local convenience and amenity 
provision to support new and existing 
residential communities at Hamilton Park, 
Wirral Waters, the Waterfront, Central 
Birkenhead, Scotts Quay and Hind Street 
Urban Village

 ▪ Locally defined GP Health Care provision

16 17

P
age 79



18 19

P
age 80



BIRKENHEAD 
OVERVIEW

SECTION 2.

P
age 81



OUR 
HISTORY
THE HISTORY OF WIRRAL 
IS ONE OF MAKERS AND 
GREAT IDEAS, A TRUE 
PLACE OF FIRSTS. 
Shipbuilding, soap and 
healthcare, food manufacturing, 
tourism and engineering all have 
their roots in Wirral. With 26 miles 
of coastline, beautiful countryside 
and an ideal location between 
the cities of Liverpool and 
Chester, and part of the Mersey 
Dee Alliance, the potential of 
the area is second to none. 
The regeneration challenge of 
the Birkenhead area, the urban 
heartland of Wirral, however, is 
significant and far reaching. 

Birkenhead is a market town 
designed by visionaries on 
the left bank of the Mersey to 
compete with the largest cities in 
the world. In the 1820s William 

Laird planned a new town to 
neighbour his shipyard, Cammell 
Laird, on a revolutionary grid 
plan. In this period, Birkenhead 
experienced an explosion of 
industrial creativity offering the 
world several firsts: a publicly 
funded civic park, later providing 
inspiration for Central Park, 
New York; the world’s first steel 
ship; the first street tramway in 
Europe. Later, the Mersey Railway 
connected Birkenhead and 
Liverpool, with the world’s first 
tunnel beneath a tidal estuary. In 
1835 the famous market was built, 
home to one of Michael Marks 
first seven ‘Penny Bazaar’ stalls.

Present day Birkenhead is 
facing a number of inter-related 
challenges following decades 
of industrial decline and lack 
of investment. In particular low 
housing growth, affordability, 

and town centre decline, as well 
as high unemployment and low 
skills, child poverty and poor 
health in the local population. 
Whilst rail and ferry links to 
Liverpool are excellent (less 
than 3 minutes from Birkenhead 
Hamilton Square station to 
Liverpool James Street station), 
the ‘last mile’ of supporting 
transport and infrastructure to 
open up key sites for non-car 
access needs to be improved. 

Birkenhead 2040 is meeting 
these challenges head-on with 
an ambitious scale of investment, 
growing Birkenhead into a 
beautiful, sustainable waterfront 
town. The regeneration area 
covers over 780 hectares of land 
– larger than Liverpool city centre 
footprint, and serves nearly a third 
of the population of Wirral.

‘THE HISTORY 
IS UNDENIABLE, 

THE FIRST PUBLIC 
PARK IN THE WORLD, 
CENTRAL PARK IS 

DESIGNED AFTER IT!’

TO ADD

22 23

P
age 82



UNIQUELY 
BIRKENHEAD
HISTORY AND 
GEOGRAPHY HAVE  
GIFTED BIRKENHEAD 
WITH UNIQUE 
CHARACTERISTICS, 
ASSETS AND 
OPPORTUNITIES WHICH 
ARE THE FOUNDATIONS 
OF BIRKENHEAD 2040.

A WATERFRONT 
PLACE
Birkenhead’s history, evolution 
and maritime economy are 
completely entwined with 
its waterfront location. The 
Mersey Riverfront offers one 
of the most impressive global 
viewpoints – with direct 
views to the iconic Liverpool 
waterfront. Birkenhead 2040 
will make best use of this 
superb location through 
changing uses along the 
waterfront itself, creating 
attractive linkages between 
the waterfront and the rest of 
the town through investment 
in public space, and of course 
the transformation of Wirral 
Waters.

24 25

P
age 83



THE LAIRD 
GRID
Our town is a place of immense history. 
History that is often overlooked and 
certainly under-utilised.   The merchants and 
industrialists who underpinned the evolution 
of Birkenhead in the first half of the 
nineteenth century were intent on creating a 
new town that was well-planned. 

William Laird, a Scottish shipbuilder, and 
his son John, were influential in the design 
of Birkenhead. Parts were laid out in a 
grid-iron pattern like Edinburgh New Town 
with similar architecture.  Laird’s distinctive 
street layout  represents urban planning of 
the highest order. An efficient way to ease 
movement around the town and maximise 
views. Birkenhead 2040 seeks to rediscover 
and amplify the Laird grid, maximising this 
as a highly distinctive feature of the town 
layout. The wide, expansive and often flat 
key streets provide a fantastic opportunity 
to develop people-friendly, green 
thoroughfares which encourage journeys on 
foot and bike.

The creation of a Birkenhead Park, as the first publicly 
funded park in the world, became a key element in 
the implementation of the overall development plan. 
The Park is renowned to be the inspiration for the 
American, F.L. Olmstead in designing Central Park in 
New York, and is now a Grade I listed landscape and 
carries a prestigious Green Heritage Award, and is 
also being considered for World Heritage Site status. 

Hamilton Square, named after William Laird’s mother-
in-law, was designed as the civic heart of Birkenhead 
and hosts the largest concentration of Grade I listed 
buildings outside Trafalgar Square in London. The 
Hamilton Square cluster of Georgian buildings, the 
Laird Grid legacy, and Birkenhead Park nestled into 
the grid are three of the most evident heritage assets 
but only tell part of the story of Birkenhead

The Birkenhead Priory, constructed in the 12th 
Century, is the oldest standing collection of buildings 
in Merseyside and recognised as an Ancient 
Scheduled Monument by Historic England.

A more recent addition, the Mersey Tunnel 
Ventilation Shafts, are unusual, dominant, eye-
catching features of the town and are just waiting to 
be lit up!

ICONIC SPACES AND 
BUILDINGS 

26 27

P
age 84



CONNECTIVITY
Birkenhead has extraordinary connectivity 
with six Merseyrail stations and three ferry 
ports within the town boundary – 12 Quays, 
Woodside and Seacombe. A train journey from 
Hamilton Square to Liverpool City Centre takes 
less than three minutes. 

For travelling further afield, the 12 Quays 
Ferry Terminal has direct ferry connections to 
Belfast, and Liverpool John Lennon Airport 
is approximately 11 miles from Birkenhead 
and provides flights to a number of European 
destinations. 

Active, sustainable travel is at the heart of 
Birkenhead 2040 including proposals for a 
world-class mass transit system for improved 
“last mile” connectivity, a new linear park – 
Dock Branch Park – designed for walkers and 
cyclists, and an approach where streets are 
treated as a vital part of public space and are 
designed for people. 

Our areas of development will make the 
most of Birkenhead’s connectivity by being 
concentrated around improved transport hubs, 
supporting zero carbon lifestyles and industry. 
The Tower Road Streetscape project is an 
excellent example of the quality we seek to 
achieve.

A CULTURAL PLACE
Birkenhead  offers a unique opportunity to deliver a 
step change in Wirral’s urban cultural offer – working 
with existing creatives and combining the water, 
heritage, and a regionally significant visitor, arts and 
leisure location. 

Wirral was awarded the Liverpool City Region Borough 
of Culture 2019 and many events were held in 
Birkenhead including The Witching Hour street art and 
light show held in Birkenhead Park,  The Future Yard 
Festival,  and Royal Liverpool Philharmonic Orchestra 
live at Birkenhead Park. The Wirral Food and Drink 
Festival attracted 30,000 people to Birkenhead Park in 
one weekend. New attractions are being constructed 
including Eureka! Mersey, a new children’s museum 
which will open in 2022 following an £11.75 million 
development, comprising the creation of a 21st 
Century science and discovery centre.

There have also been developments in the 
creative and cultural sector including Future Yard a 
350-capacity performance venue opened in 2019. It 
is clear that Birkenhead has the potential to grow its 
distinctive culture and visitor offer.

28 29

P
age 85



A RESILIENT ECONOMY

Birkenhead’s economy has positive foundations for 
growth and, through the development of bespoke 
accommodation, can become a destination of 
choice for business start-ups.

Birkenhead is home to some high volume 
employment sectors - the retail sector accounts 
for 3,000 jobs and is clearly under immense 
pressure, professional/scientific services account for 
2,000 jobs, and the health and education sectors 
combined total 3,000 jobs. We are proud to be 
a town of industry and the manufacturing sector 
accounts for 3,500 jobs. Birkenhead is also a major 
public administration hub accounting for 4,000 jobs 
and our maritime cluster is a major contributor to 
the 52,000 jobs in the sector across the Liverpool 
City Region.     

The digital and creative sector is seeing a stream 
of new business starting, locating and growing 
in Birkenhead. We are seeing growth in music, 
immersive technologies, artificial intelligence, 
digital health, film and television, further boosted 
by the increased profile of the Wirral Borough of 
Culture 2019. Notable additions include Future 
Yard, Make Hamilton, Bloom Building, and Start 
Yard, adding to the growing number of creative, 
community and cultural organisations clustering 

in and around the Argyle Street area. Future 
plans focus on cultivating this emerging cluster 
through the ambitious Town Deal Investment Plan, 
supporting creative businesses to thrive. 

Birkenhead has a considerable history and future in 
industrial innovation. There are a growing number 
of clean-growth businesses situated in Birkenhead 
focusing on clean renewable energy generation, 
storage and private wire delivery to support 
Birkenhead’s future growth. Examples include Inteb 
(sustainability energy management specialists), 
Real Sphere Eco World (wholesale eco-friendly 
products), Quinnovations Group (collective of 
carbon reduction companies) and waste not want 
not (zero waste shopping initiative). Ørsted the 
leading green energy supplier is also based just 
outside the area in Seacombe. 

Maritime and related industries continue to be a 
strength in Birkenhead and recent investments in 
port facilities provide a growing role for the sector 
in the UK maritime supply chain. The Port and 
Cammell Laird are examples of the area’s continued 
dominance and investment in projects such as the 
Maritime Knowledge Hub (shown opposite) and 
the Liverpool City Region Freeport will drive further 
innovation, skills and growth for the sector.

30 31

P
age 86



FREEPORT STATUS
The Government’s announcement 
in March 2021 that Liverpool 
City Region has been awarded 
Freeport status will support the 
growth of jobs and investment 
within the borough.  Wirral 
Waters has been identified as 

one of three tax sites and this 
will add a further boost to the 
initiatives already underway to 
facilitate growth in low carbon 
technologies as well as attracting 
inward investment and creating 
new jobs. 

32 33

P
age 87



Birkenhead is at the heart of Wirral’s regeneration programme along 
the LeftBank of the River Mersey stretching from New Brighton 
to Rock Ferry. Alongside the development of Birkenhead 2040 
masterplanning work has taken place for New Brighton and Liscard, 
and the regeneration of New Ferry is underway. Together, the plans 
for these locations form an exciting programme of change, led 
by ambitious and passionate local organisations, bringing life and 
creativity to their communities - LeftBank Living.

There are a number of projects which tie together the LeftBank 
proposals. Two projects within Birkenhead 2040 – the new Mass Transit 
and the walking and cycling routes through Dock Branch Park, have 
both been developed with potential to extend routes to the north and 
the south.

LeftBank regeneration is 
already providing enticing 
attractions for locals and 
visitors alike, including the 
striking street art in New 
Brighton and community 
renewal led by Rockpoint 
Leisure, and the outstanding 
murals in New Ferry by the 
award-winning Liverpool 
artist Paul Curtis.

LEFT BANK 

N

Not to scale

34 35

P
age 88



VISION AND 
OBJECTIVES

SECTION 3.

P
age 89



VISION

BIRKENHEAD IN 2040

RE-IMAGINING + RE-DISCOVERING + RE-CONNECTING BIRKENHEAD

BIRKENHEAD HAS GROWN INTO A THRIVING URBAN COMMUNITY ON THE LEFT 
BANK OF THE RIVER MERSEY. 
CHOSEN AS HOME BY FAMILIES AND ENTREPRENEURS ALIKE, DRAWN BY THE 
UNIQUE AND HISTORIC WATERFRONT ENVIRONMENT AND ICONIC DESIGN. A PLACE 
OF CREATIVITY, INNOVATION AND FUN, A PLACE TO PUT DOWN ROOTS. 
BIRKENHEAD HAS THE CONNECTIVITY OF CITY-LIVING BUT IN HARMONY WITH 
NATURE. A PLACE WITH ROOM TO BREATHE AND SPACE TO GROW.

38 39

P
age 90



RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING

WATERFRONT 
GARDEN CITY

We will deliver a substantial and 
diverse array of additional homes, 

via new sustainable mixed-use family 
neighbourhoods and the renewal 

of existing residential areas. A high-
quality network of green and blue 
infrastructure will ensure ‘garden 

city’ principles are at the forefront of 
Birkenhead’s urban change.

INDUSTRIOUS 
BIRKENHEAD

We will grow and diversify our 
economic base. Our much celebrated 

manufacturing and maritime sectors will 
thrive and we will grow our emerging 
clean growth industries. Birkenhead’s 
service sector and town centre uses 
will prosper through innovation, as 

more and more of our residents utilise 
Birkenhead for their everyday needs.   

A significant increase in population 
in the Birkenhead area, up from the 
current baseline of circa 26,000    

An increase in the employment 
base of the Birkenhead area, up 
from the current baseline of 25,000

Wirral 
“Brownfield 
First” Local 

Plan

LCR 
Industrial 
Strategy

Wirral’s 
Housing 
Strategy

LCR 
Economic 
Recovery 

Plan

Liverpool 
City Region 

Housing 
Statement

KPI KPI

OBJECTIVES

INCLUSIVE 
BIRKENHEAD

We will ensure all our communities 
share more fully in the wealth we 

generate and in the economic assets 
we house. This means broader 

access to opportunity, higher rates of 
economic participation, higher rates of 
enterprise, higher skills, good work and 

more local ownership and control.     

A decrease in the rate of economic 
inactivity, down from the current 
annualised rate of 19%

Wirral 
Community 

Wealth 
Building Plan

Emerging 
LCR Fair 

Employment 
Charter

Wirral Creative 
and Digital 

Market Demand 
Strategy   

Wirral’s 
Improving 

Life Chances 
Strategy 

KPI

40 41

P
age 91



RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING

ICONIC 
BIRKENHEAD

We will fully celebrate and leverage the 
unique heritage offer of Birkenhead. 

Our assets will be treasured locally and 
recognised nationally. We will be known 
as a place of firsts, shaped by pioneers, 
and will use this to shape our brand and 

identity.  

CONNECTED 
BIRKENHEAD

We will improve yet further the 
connectivity of Birkenhead with the rest 
of the city-region and beyond. Internal 
connections within our town will also be 
greatly enhanced through new walking 
and cycling infrastructure. And digital 

access for all our communities will 
become world class.        

A decrease in the current 78% 
of residents who state that 
Birkenhead is declining

An increase on the 30% of survey 
respondents who said that 
Birkenhead is well connected

Emerging 2021 
Birkenhead 

Heritage and 
Cultural Strategy

LCR 
Combined 
Authority 
Transport 

Plan

Wirral’s 
Cultural 
Strategy 

LCR Local 
Journeys 
Strategy

Wirral 
Conservation 

Area and 
Heritage Trail 

Plans

KPI KPI

CULTURAL 
BIRKENHEAD

We will develop further the cultural 
infrastructure of Birkenhead, and ensure 

that the town becomes a key part of 
the City Region’s cultural identity.  This 

drive will focus on the production, 
the showcasing and the consumption 

of cultural content – a full and 
comprehensive approach to culture.       

An increase in annual visitors to 
Birkenhead, up from the current 
estimated 2 million per annum

Wirral’s 
Cultural 
Strategy

Emerging 2021 
Birkenhead 

Heritage 
and Cultural 

Strategy

LCR and Wirral 
Visitor Strategies 
and Destination 
Management 

Plans

KPI

Wirral’s Local 
Cycling 
Walking 

Investment 
Plan

42 43

P
age 92



RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING
RE-CONNECTING

RE-IMAGINING
RE-DISCOVERING

SUSTAINABLE 
BIRKENHEAD

We will be known as Sustainability 
Central. This means Birkenhead will 

perform at the highest levels, and be 
a national leader, on lean and clean 

energy, on clean travel, and on carbon 
capture and offsetting.  We will create 

a climate-ready built environment 
and enhance our green and blue 

infrastructure to protect us from even 
more extreme weather patterns.        

HEALTHY 
BIRKENHEAD

We will help shape a healthy living and 
active culture across all of Birkenhead’s 
communities. We start from a relatively 

low base and a comprehensive 
programme of education, inspiration 

and accessible support infrastructure is 
required.  

H

2,000 homes in the Birkenhead 
area to be upgraded to be more 
energy efficient

A reduction in the 29% of 
Birkenhead residents with a 
limiting long term illness

Wirral Cool 2 
Sustainability 

Strategy

Wirral’s 
Healthier 

Lives 
Strategy

Wirral’s 
Managing 
Our Waste 
Strategy 

Wirral’s 
Ageing Well 

Strategy

Liverpool 
City Region 
Sustainable 

Energy Action 
Plan

KPI KPI

RESILIENT 
BIRKENHEAD

We will be in greater control of our 
own destiny, and by necessity more 

flexible. Our enhanced resilience will be 
delivered through the robust long-term 
stewardship of Birkenhead, innovative 
approaches to place management and 
new delivery models based on shared 

values and ambition. 

A reduction in the 15,500 
Birkenhead residents who live in 
the most income deprived decile

Wirral 
Council 

Plan 2025

Wirral’s Strategy 
for Children, 

Young People 
and Families

Cheshire and 
Wirral NHS 

Foundation Trust 
Strategy

Community 
Safety 

Strategy

KPI

44 45

P
age 93



OUR SPATIAL 
STRATEGY

SECTION 4.

P
age 94



OUR CATALYST PROJECTS 
AND NEIGHBOURHOODS
The spatial strategy for Birkenhead is based around eight catalyst 
projects and nine neighbourhoods. 

Each of these has their own distinct characteristics and opportunities 
and will play an important role in Birkenhead 2040. More detailed 
Neighbourhood Frameworks will be developed in the coming months 
which will inform the emerging Local Plan and future iterations of this 
strategy. 

The catalyst projects and neighbourhoods are listed below and set out 
over the following pages:

CATALYST 
PROJECTS
1. Wirral Waters

2. Dock Branch Park

3. Bikenhead Commercial 
District

4. Birkenhead Landing

5. East West Cultural Axis

6. Woodside Gyratory

7. Mass Transit

8. Birkenhead District Heating 
Network

NEIGHBOURHOOD 
AREAS

 ▪ Central Birkenhead

 ▪ Birkenhead Waterfront

 ▪ Hind Street Urban Village

 ▪ Wirral Waters and Portside

 ▪ Hamilton Park

 ▪ Scotts Quay

 ▪ Seacombe Riverside Corridor

 ▪ Northside

 ▪ Bidston Moss

‘ONLY THROUGH 
CONNECTING THE DOTS, 
THE IDEAS, THE PEOPLE 

AND THE PROJECTS WILL 
WE SUCCESSFULLY DELIVER 
THE REIMAGINED FUTURE OF 

BIRKENHEAD.’ 

48 49

P
age 95



OUR CATALYST 
PROJECTS

1 2

3 4

5 6

7 8

WIRRAL WATERS DOCK BRANCH PARK

BIRKENHEAD 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

BIRKENHEAD LANDING

EAST WEST CULTURAL 
AXIS

WOODSIDE GYRATORY

MASS TRANSIT BIRKENHEAD DISTRICT 
HEATING NETWORK

N

Not to scale
Catalyst Projects: Location Plan

50 51

P
age 96



1 CATALYST 
PROJECT

The principal example of our 
transformation is Wirral Waters. 
Led by Peel Land and Property 
(L&P) and located in the heart 
of Birkenhead, this programme 
alone is one of the largest 
regeneration projects in the 
UK. It will transform over 200 
hectares of docks in Birkenhead 
over a 30-year timeframe. The 
programme seeks to create a 
new, internationally recognisable, 
sustainable destination that will 
create many thousands of new 
jobs and deliver many thousands 
of new homes. 

WIRRAL WATERS

An Illustration of Wirral Waters: Tower Road and East Float, Peel L&P

Wirral Waters has both Enterprise 
Zone and Housing Zone status 
and is a critical building block 
of the regeneration strategy for 
Birkenhead.

It is not just its scale which makes 
Wirral Waters a major driver for 
Birkenhead’s regeneration, but 
the quality of design and holistic 
place-making approach being 
adopted. Early developments set 
the benchmark for what will be 
achieved and provide the catalyst 
for change:

 ▪ An on-site campus for Wirral 
Metropolitan College to provide 
construction training for local 
young people

 ▪ Work has started on the Urban 
Splash/Peel L&P joint venture 
new homes as phase one of their 
300+ pioneering and modern 
neighbourhood on Northbank

 ▪ Work is on site for the first 
phase of Legacy, the 500 new 
apartments on Northbank with 
views across the docks and to 
Liverpool

 ▪ £3m investment completed in 
Tower Road streetscape project 
to create an attractive and 
accessible setting to attract new 
workers, students and visitors 

 ▪ Work underway on Hythe, the 
first Grade A office development 
to be built speculatively in Wirral 
for over a decade. It will make 
the most of panoramic views 
to Liverpool, and will be in the 
top 10% of buildings for green 
credentials

 ▪ The eleventh village in the 
Belong portfolio of residential 
care hubs, providing a vibrant, 
safe and inclusive space at the 
heart of the Wirral Waters project

CATALYST 
PROJECT2

This is a truly iconic and 
transformational project for the 
town. It will see the creation of 
a beautiful new linear park and 
active travel corridor along the 
disused Dock Branch Railway, 
one of the earliest railways in 
the country. It will bring to life a 
neglected gem of Birkenhead’s 
heritage and link three key 
development areas: Wirral 
Waters, the Town Centre and 
Hind Street Urban Village. 

DOCK BRANCH PARK

Working with National Museums 
Liverpool we will incorporate a 
new museum; the Transport Shed, 
through a creative design set 
within the former rail corridor. The 
park will become the centrepiece 
of a new neighbourhood through 
creative use of the surrounding 
sites. 

Dock Branch Park will provide 
much needed greenspace within 
the heart of the town, with an 

emphasis on wildlife, nature and 
play. It will be an important part 
of the “east west cultural axis”, 
another one of our catalytic 
projects. The next phase of the 
project will involve working with 
community groups to identify 
opportunities for community 
ownership from the outset, 
building on the Community 
Wealth Building principles which 
are core to Birkenhead 2040 
delivery.

A
n Illustration of D

ock B
ranch Park, W

irral C
ouncil

52 53

P
age 97



3

Wirral Growth Company is a 
50:50 Joint Venture Partnership 
between Wirral Council and 
Muse Developments, formed 
in 2019. The flagship project of 
which is a major redesign and 
redevelopment of Birkenhead 
town centre, creating a new office 
quarter, development of over 
600 new homes on  vacant town 
centre sites, and development of 
a new permanent indoor market, 
something fundamental to the 
history, character and spirit of 
Birkenhead.

This town centre project has been 
developed following extensive 
consultation and engagement 
with local residents, businesses 
and stakeholders who have 
consistently said that revitalisation 

BIRKENHEAD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

of the town centre is one of their 
biggest priorities. 

Progress has been boosted by 
a successful £24m award to the 
town through the Governments 
Future High Streets Fund at the 
start of 2021 (this was in addition 
to £3.4m for New Ferry, Wirral 
being the only place to achieve 
two successful bids).

An Illustration of the Commercial 
District, Wirral Growth Company

4

This area is a strategic gateway to 
the town centre that is currently 
dominated by over-engineered 
infrastructure, creating part of the 
“concrete collar” which divides 
the town and constrains the town 
centre. 

A dominant feature are the two 
flyovers which provide a major 
physical barrier between the 

BIRKENHEAD LANDING

town centre and new community 
at Hind Street Urban Village. 
The Council is working in 
partnership with Merseytravel 
and the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority to remove 
these flyovers and create a more 
people-friendly key gateway. 
£8.3m of Transforming Cities 
Fund money has been secured to 
enable this.

Birkenhead Central Station, and 
the area around it, has major 
potential for improvement – 
including restoration of the 
station building, a new public 
space replacing the Central 
gyratory, and a new southern 
entrance serving the future Hind 
Street Urban Village community.

CATALYST 
PROJECT

CATALYST 
PROJECT

Demolition has started as the 
first phase of the new office 
quarter, and a number of 
important gateway and transport 
improvements will take place, 
part of the wider programme of 
removing the “concrete collar” 
which has constricted and 
blighted the town centre for so 
long.

54 55

P
age 98



5

One of Birkenhead’s most 
underutilised assets is the 
Mersey waterfront, hidden and 
inaccessible from much of the 
town. The Framework will create 
experiences that entice and 
encourage people to follow the 
path linking central Birkenhead 
with the waterfront. This needs to 
be an active corridor and network 
across Birkenhead, with a focus 
on culture and creativity. 

EAST WEST CULTURAL AXIS

This cultural axis will join the 
dots between the re-focused 
high street, the new vibrant 
commercial district, the Dock 
Branch Park neighbourhood, 
Hamilton Square and Birkenhead 
Town Hall – Birkenhead’s Heritage 
Heart – and the Waterfront.

The Framework prioritises the 
creation of arts and cultural assets 
in these locations: giving life 
to the underutilised Hamilton 

Square, bringing Birkenhead 
Town Hall back into use, and 
creating a unique and globally 
recognised attraction to the 
Waterfront. The new Culture and 
Heritage strategy will develop 
these proposals including 
potential for creative “meanwhile 
uses” to bring spaces to life 
and projects are already coming 
forward to encourage people to 
spend time there.

6

The Woodside Gyratory 
should be a key gateway 
point linking the waterfront 
and town centre but 
currently acts as a barrier. 
It epitomises Birkenhead’s 
underutilised sites and 
therefore provides one of 
the biggest transformative 
opportunities. It is 
oversized and over 
engineered, creating a 
poor environment for both 
pedestrians and cyclists. 
Although the area is home 
to one of the town’s key 
transport hubs, Hamilton 
Square station, it provides 
no sense of arrival or 
character. 

We will remove the gyratory 
and bus interchange 
and create a continuous 
high-quality public realm 
connection between 
Woodside Ferry Terminal 
and Hamilton Square. This 
will allow the town and 
water to stitch together and 
release major development 
opportunity sites.

WOODSIDE GYRATORY

‘IT IS 
TIME THAT THE 

INFRASTRUCTURE 
WORKS BETTER FOR 

PEOPLE ON FOOT. FOR 
PEOPLE LIVING AND 

WORKING AND INHABITING 
THE AREA, NOT FOR THE 

PEOPLE PASSING THROUGH.’

CATALYST 
PROJECT

CATALYST 
PROJECT

56 57

P
age 99



7

Birkenhead is already served by 
one of the best rail systems in the 
country - the Merseyrail network 
is a major asset to Birkenhead and 
the wider City Region. It is fast, 
frequent and consistently ranked 
one of the most reliable operators 
in the country. 

The Birkenhead 2040 Framework 
seeks to ensure that this asset 
is utilised to its full extent, 

MASS TRANSIT

concentrating new development 
around improved transport hubs. 
However, a more radical and 
far-reaching solution is required 
in order to complete “last mile” 
connectivity, enabling and linking 
key growth sites into the existing 
Merseyrail network. 

A Mass Transit demand study is 
already underway to explore the 
potential for a new Mass Transit 

network. A new network would 
prioritise links between Wirral 
Waters, Seacombe (specifically 
Eureka! Mersey), the Waterfront, 
Hind Street Urban Village and the 
Town Centre in the first instance. 
Longer term opportunities for 
further links to New Brighton are 
also included in the study. 

8

The Chancellor’s 2019 Spring Statement, 
the Future Homes Consultation and the 
Future Buildings Standard consultation 
set the commitment that fossil fuel 
heating will no longer be permitted in 
new homes from 2025. In response to 
the economic challenges of individual 
renewable heat, Wirral is working with 
Government to undertake a detailed 
feasibility study into the practicalities 
of a district heat network to enable 
economically-viable decarbonisation of 
energy at a regional level. 

The normal barriers of renewable heat 
sources do not exist in Wirral as there 
is potential to abstract heat from water 
in the docks, transport tunnels and 
wastewater treatment works. The network 
will spread across Birkenhead, linking in 
key development sites, and will be one 
of the largest in the country. It is currently 
planned to be constructed between 
2025 – 2030 and will bring significant 
cost reductions for future low-carbon 
development. 

BIRKENHEAD DISTRICT HEATING NETWORK

CATALYST 
PROJECT

CATALYST 
PROJECT

58 59

P
age 100



WE’RECONNECTING BIRKENHEAD 
WE’REIMAGINING BIRKENHEAD
WE’REDISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD      

60 61

P
age 101



OUR 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

HAMILTON PARK
Creation of more family-friendly housing 
through a changed mix of business and 
residential uses, making the most of the 
location between Birkenhead Park and the 
new Wirral Waters development at Vittoria 
Studios

WIRRAL WATERS + 
PORTSIDE 
The £4.5 billion transformation of 
Birkenhead’s docks through mixed-
use development alongside continued 
growth of the operational port

NORTHSIDE
Increasing the availability of modern, 
purpose-built business and employment 
accommodation

BIDSTON MOSS + DOCK
Increasing the value and use of the Moss as 
one of Birkenhead’s key green spaces and 
leisure opportunities

N

Not to scale

CENTRAL BIRKENHEAD
A revitalised and vibrant town centre, 
with more cultural and creative 
businesses and a purpose-built indoor 
market, bringing life to the town

HIND STREET URBAN 
VILLAGE
Creation of an exciting new low-carbon 
urban village of up to 1,000 new homes 
on this brownfield site

SCOTTS QUAY
Opportunity for new residential 
development and an improved 
environment through high quality 
employment uses and more people-
friendly streets

SEACOMBE RIVERSIDE 
CORRIDOR
New housing and improved environment, 
building on the opening of Eureka! 
Mersey in 2022, and a re-purposed Town 
Hall quarter

BIRKENHEAD’S WATERFRONT
Our hidden gem - opening up the Mersey 
waterfront as a major destination with 
new housing, leisure, arts and culture 
development, making the most of the 
unrivalled views of the Liverpool skyline

Neighbourhoods: Location Plan

62 63

P
age 102



CENTRAL BIRKENHEAD

Change is coming to the centre of Birkenhead, 
at scale, and at pace. Work is now underway 
on a new office quarter and market, and further 
plans are focused around the creation of distinct 
neighbourhoods within the central area: 

 ▪ Grange Road: Birkenhead’s High Street – including 
the pedestrianised and non-pedestrianised extents 
of Grange Road (crossing the Charing Cross 
junction) and the Pyramids Shopping Centre as 
a more concentrated and revitalised core of the 
traditional retail offer within the Town Centre; 

 ▪ Commercial District and Mixed-Use Quarter: 
an emerging prestigious commercial, leisure and 
housing district within Birkenhead, set in the 
context of high quality and well-managed public 
realm and supported by a vibrant mix of uses 
including Birkenhead Market and the Pavements 
shopping area; 

 ▪ St Werburgh’s Quarter: The built environment 
between the Commercial District and Hind Street 
Urban Village is perhaps the most apparent 
physical legacy of retail decline within the town 
centre. This presents significant opportunity for 
change and potential to bring the listed church 
to the forefront of this new residential led mixed 
use neighbourhood area and create a people-
friendly link to the new Hind Street Urban Village 
neighbourhood

 ▪ Hamilton Square: Birkenhead’s ‘Heritage Heart’, 
with key assets including the square itself, 
Birkenhead Town Hall and the Magistrates’ Court, 

but with so much more to offer in terms of active uses 
which attract people, particularly as part of the “east 
west cultural axis” linking the town centre to the 
Waterfront 

 ▪ Argyle Approach: Capturing the corridor linking 
Birkenhead Central Station, Hind Street Urban Village 
and Dock Branch Park with the Heritage Heart. It 
lacks identity but is has the potential to become an 
independent and culture-led hub within the central 
area, and is a focus of the programme developed in 
Birkenhead’s Towns Fund proposals; and 

 ▪ Argyle and Conway: the most prominent intersection 
of the Laird grid within Central Birkenhead, with the 
disused former Dock Branch line cutting through 
its middle – creating an underwhelming, disjointed, 
and largely forgotten neighbourhood of Birkenhead, 
predominantly industrial in use and feel, and very 
much underutilised in nature.

OFFICE

OFFICE

BOOKSHOPCafe & Bakery

Bar & Music

Birkenhead Cenotaph

A REVITALISED AND 
VIBRANT TOWN CENTRE, 
WITH MORE CULTURAL 
AND CREATIVE BUSINESSES 
AND A PURPOSE-BUILT 
INDOOR MARKET, BRINGING 
LIFE TO THE TOWN

“

”

64 65

P
age 103



BIRKENHEAD WATERFRONT

The Mersey River waterfront represents 
Birkenhead’s most underutilised asset – 
Birkenhead 2040 will change that. Wirral Waters 
is transforming the dockside waterfront and the 
proposals in this Framework will expand the 
transformation to the Mersey riverfront. 

Inspired by riverside towns and cities across 
the globe which have used their waterfront 
location to focus regeneration, over the next 
20 years we will create a greener, more active 
waterfront environment that celebrates the 
views across to Liverpool and encourages 
vibrancy and life along this historically closed off 
environment. Birkenhead’s own Graces – iconic 
architecture and spaces designed for people 
to visit and linger – will form a new skyline vista 
to complement Liverpool’s. These connected 
spaces will flow together and encourage 
movement along the waterfront with activity at 
every stop. Birkenhead waterfront will include:

 ▪ A canvas for world class architecture;

 ▪ Residential-led mixed use neighbourhoods;

 ▪ A globally recognised arts destination as the 
climax of the cultural axis connecting Central 
Birkenhead to its waterfront;

 ▪ Activation of Birkenhead’s waterfront through 
the delivery of recreational activities within the 
inland water bodies at Egerton Dock as well the 
introduction of a new waterside attraction at the 
historic Monks Ferry; and 

 ▪ Celebration of the heritage of the area and the 
role the waterfront has played in the fortunes 
and evolution of Birkenhead and the wider 
Liverpool City Region.

“SENTENCE”

OFFICE

OFFICE

BOOKSHOP

RIVER MERSEY

RIV
ER M

ERSEY

M
ersey Tunnel

M
ersey Tunnel

Delivery

canoeingcanoeing

OFFICE

OFFICE

BOOKSHOP

RIVER MERSEY

RIV
ER M

ERSEY

M
ersey Tunnel

M
ersey Tunnel

Delivery

canoeingcanoeing

OUR HIDDEN GEM - 
OPENING UP THE MERSEY 
WATERFRONT AS A 
MAJOR DESTINATION 
WITH NEW HOUSING, 
LEISURE, ARTS AND 
CULTURE DEVELOPMENT, 
MAKING THE MOST OF 
THE UNRIVALLED VIEWS 
OF THE LIVERPOOL 
SKYLINE

“

”

66 67

P
age 104



HIND STREET URBAN VILLAGE

The Hind Street Urban Village offers a unique 
opportunity to create a sustainable, market 
changing, low carbon exemplar urban village of up 
to 1,000 new homes. Major landowners, including 
the Council, are already working on a masterplan.

The Birkenhead Landing catalytic project is 
fundamental to the development of the site. It will 
include the removal of the two flyovers currently 
dissecting the site and creating a hostile road 
environment separating this future community from 
Central Birkenhead. 

The project will enable the creation of this new 
neighbourhood which will include:

 ▪ An exemplar and innovative low carbon urban 
village, creating a new residential offer with 
scale and potential for inter-generational living;

 ▪ Highly accessible, well-located, high-quality 
accommodation for families which can help 
to underpin diversification of the town centre 
including an enhanced food and drink and 
leisure offer;

 ▪ New open greenspace, linked to the delivery of 
the second phase of Dock Branch Park; and 

 ▪ New social infrastructure – including specific 
potential to deliver an innovative and modern 
urban school to meet wider need across 
Birkenhead.

“SENTENCE”

CREATION OF AN 
EXCITING NEW LOW-
CARBON URBAN 
VILLAGE OF UP TO 1,000 
NEW HOMES ON THIS 
BROWNFIELD SITE

“

”
68 69

P
age 105



WIRRAL WATERS AND 
PORTSIDE
The early phases of Wirral 
Waters are the most significant 
catalyst for the transformative 
regeneration of Birkenhead. 
They demonstrate that high 
quality, large scale investment is 
already underway.

Wirral Waters and Portside is 
identified as one of Birkenhead 
2040s neighbourhoods for two 
reasons. Firstly, it acknowledges 
the 30-year timeframe for 
the delivery of the totality of 
Wirral Waters. Secondly, the 
Framework recognises the 
importance of the retained and 
thriving port at West Float and 
Twelve Quays. The port is a vital 
and growing part of the local 
economy. This is particularly 
true given the successful 
Freeport proposal.

THE £4.5 BILLION 
TRANSFORMATION OF 
BIRKENHEAD’S DOCKS 
THROUGH MIXED-
USE DEVELOPMENT 
ALONGSIDE CONTINUED 
GROWTH OF THE 
OPERATIONAL PORT

“

”

70 71

P
age 106



HAMILTON PARK

Hamilton Park covers an area of 82 hectares 
sat between the internationally recognised and 
strategically significant Birkenhead Park to the 
south and the docklands of Wirral Waters to the 
north. It has good connectivity with the Birkenhead 
Park Merseyrail station. It is a mixture of characterful 
Victorian residential streets, interwar and more 
modern housing to the south and employment uses 
adjacent to the docks. 

The northern part of the area closer to the 
docks historically consisted of heavy industry, 
manufacturing and processing as well as open 
storage associate with port operations. It is now 
home to a number of businesses but also numerous 
vacant and underutilised buildings and sites across 
the north of the area.

Hamilton Park was recognised as a key gateway 
location in the original Wirral Waters masterplan, 
with huge potential to become an area of further 
family-focused homes making best use of its 
proximity to Birkenhead Park, Wirral Waters and 
Central Birkenhead.  Through this Framework a 
core area adjoining the Wirral Waters Vittoria Studio 
development will deliver: 

 ▪ A vibrant and modern high density, family 
oriented residential-led neighbourhood that 
is defined by a richness of better-integrated 
communities, spaces and street life, unlocking 
and contributing to the viability and vibrancy of 
Wirral Waters and Vittoria Studios;

 ▪ A new mixed-use area where residential and 
employment uses intertwine to create a new 
‘industrious living’ neighbourhood

 ▪ High quality green streets linking Vittoria 
Studios and the new neighbourhoods to the 
waterside at Vittoria Studios, Birkenhead Park 
Railway Station and Birkenhead Park itself.

 ▪ A more balanced mix of business and 
residential uses – retaining uses that 
complement and sit alongside wider plans for 
regeneration and family housing, alongside 
supporting the relocation of businesses to 
purpose built employment areas where that will 
enable them to thrive.

CREATION OF MORE 
FAMILY-FRIENDLY HOUSING 
THROUGH A CHANGED 
MIX OF BUSINESS AND 
RESIDENTIAL USES, 
MAKING THE MOST OF 
THE LOCATION BETWEEN 
BIRKENHEAD PARK AND 
THE NEW WIRRAL 
WATERS DEVELOPMENT AT 
VITTORIA STUDIOS

“

”

72 73

P
age 107



SCOTTS QUAY

This neighbourhood to the north of Birkenhead 
docks presents early and medium-term 
opportunities for high quality residential-led 
redevelopment. This development will respond to 
its riverside location and impressive views whilst 
addressing constraints in terms of interface with 
the active Dock to the south and the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant to the north. A Neighbourhood 
Framework for this area will be developed and will 
include:

 ▪ Improvements to the existing housing area 
within the neighbourhood alongside the 
delivery of new waterfront homes;

 ▪ Gateway development at a scale that addresses 
Alfred Dock and gives prominence at Tower 
Road. 

 ▪ Interventions to create more people-friendly 
streets to connect the existing communities and 
businesses with the waterfront. 

 ▪ Opportunities for new modern employment 
premises to support local economic growth, 
ensuring the continued positive economic 
contribution of this neighbourhood in the 
future.

“SENTENCE”

OPPORTUNITY FOR 
NEW RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT 
AND AN IMPROVED 
ENVIRONMENT THROUGH 
HIGH QUALITY 
EMPLOYMENT USES AND 
MORE PEOPLE-FRIENDLY 
STREETS

“

”

74 75

P
age 108



SEACOMBE RIVERSIDE CORRIDOR

This neighbourhood is the northern most area in 
the Birkenhead 2040 Framework and is a largely 
residential area with the imposing Wallasey Town 
Hall complex a focal point on the waterfront. It also 
includes the start of the riverside promenade to 
New Brighton, a major asset for the wider active 
travel networks. 

A Neighbourhood Framework will be developed for 
this area which will address in more detail:

 ▪ A new, re-configured low carbon waterside 
community, enabling enhanced connectivity 
to the waterfront for existing residents, and 
bringing life to underutilised and vacant assets;

 ▪ A reimagined Wallasey Town Hall Quarter – a 
vibrant mixed used location including the 
long-term use of the Town Hall building as 
a key asset – to be determined as part of a 
comprehensive masterplanning approach. 
Planned and co-ordinated redevelopment 
of the north and south annexes will ensure 
that the significant potential of the area will 
be realised; vibrancy along a key corridor 
connecting Birkenhead and New Brighton – the 
Brighton Street corridor – creating a meaningful 
stop on the mass-transit route between the two, 
and including the conversion of retail units for 
residential where appropriate to ensure active 
frontages along this route;

 ▪ A high-quality arrival point at the Seacombe 
Ferry Terminal using Eureka! Mersey as a 
catalyst to attract new visitors to this area, 
including the need to ensure safe, high quality 
sustainable active travel links.

 ▪ A new visitor and culture offer along the 
waterfront, building on the back of the delivery 
of Eureka! Mersey;

 ▪ Renewal and improved living conditions across 
the existing communities of Seacombe to fully 
connect into its riverside potential and the need 
to improve the environment and integrate with 
new communities being delivered in the future– 
including renewal of the social housing areas 
including opportunities for low carbon retrofit 
neighbourhoods to be identified working in 
partnership with Registered Providers; and

 ▪ Delivery of an improved and vibrant 
promenade – linking to New Brighton and 
beyond, and more locally ensuring connectivity 
to the Brighton Street corridor, including 
the potential for a land train to be delivered 
connecting to the Eureka! Mersey project being 
delivered at the Seacombe Ferry Terminal.

NEW HOUSING 
AND IMPROVED 
ENVIRONMENT, 
BUILDING ON THE 
OPENING OF EUREKA! 
MERSEY IN 2022, AND 
A RE-PURPOSED TOWN 
HALL QUARTER

“

”76 77

P
age 109



NORTHSIDE

Strategically located, benefiting from direct access 
to the M53 motorway, Northside represents a key 
location underpinning the Wirral employment land 
strategy. It is also a key location in the successful 
Freeports proposal for the Liverpool City Region.  
It has the potential to accommodate new, modern 
and intensified employment growth, which could 
also support the relocation of industrial uses from 
other neighbourhoods across the urban area. It 
is a critical neighbourhood supporting the wider 
regeneration programme, ensuring that businesses 
are not displaced from Birkenhead. 

The Northside neighbourhood has the identified 
potential to deliver:

 ▪ Modern and intensified employment floorspace 
to support the economic resilience of the 
urban area and Wirral, with enhanced local and 
strategic connectivity through intensification 
of existing uses and the remediation and 
development of contaminated sites. This area is 
included within the recent designation of Wirral 
Waters as a Tax site as part of the Liverpool City 
Region Freeport proposals. 

 ▪ Purpose built employment accommodation to 
enable businesses to relocate from elsewhere in 
the Birkenhead urban area.

 ▪ Accommodation for uses not suited to retention 
within the core of the urban area.

INCREASING THE 
AVAILABILITY OF 
MODERN, PURPOSE-
BUILT BUSINESS 
AND EMPLOYMENT 
ACCOMMODATION

“

”

78 79

P
age 110



BIDSTON MOSS

Future development must serve to protect the 
recreational offer at the Moss – recognising that 
beyond Birkenhead Park and Bidston Hill, the 
Birkenhead urban area does not have a wealth 
of open green space to provide amenity for local 
residents. Through the implementation of the 
Framework, access to all of them will be better sign-
posted, strengthened and enhanced – including 
through any new development at Bidston Dock.

The Framework identifies the potential to bring 
forward development on the infilled Dock for 
leisure uses, in a manner and of a scale and form 
that does not undermine the strategy for Central 
Birkenhead and the Grange Road High Street.

 ▪ A protected green space with improved 
connections and amenity value to enrich and 
improve the lives of local residents;

 ▪ Development of unique and active leisure uses 
on the vacant land at the former dock which 
contributes to the urban area of Birkenhead 
and complements ambitions for the central 
core and the waterfront; and

 ▪ A dramatic and memorable gateway to 
Birkenhead through the use of public art and 
lighting installations on and at the Moss.

INCREASING THE 
VALUE AND USE OF 
THE MOSS AS ONE OF 
BIRKENHEAD’S KEY 
GREEN SPACES AND 
LEISURE OPPORTUNITIES

“

”

80 81

P
age 111



Summary Diagram: Catalyst 
Projects and Neighbourhood

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

WIRRAL 
WATERS

CENTRAL BIRKENHEAD

DOCK BRANCH 
PARK

BIRKENHEAD’S 
WATERFRONT

BIRKENHEAD 
COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT

WIRRAL WATERS + 
PORTSIDE

HIND STREET URBAN 
VILLAGE

BIRKENHEAD 
LANDING

HAMILTON PARK

EAST WEST 
CULTURAL AXIS

SCOTTS QUAY

WOODSIDE 
GYRATORY SEACOMBE RIVERSIDE 

CORRIDOR

MASS TRANSIT
NORTHSIDE

BIRKENHEAD 
DISTRICT HEATING 
NETWORK

BIDSTON MOSS

CATA
LY

ST PROJECTS

NEIGHBOURHOODS

CATALYST PROJECTS AND 
NEIGHBOURHOODS

N

Not to scale

82 83

P
age 112



WE’RECONNECTING BIRKENHEAD 
WE’REIMAGINING BIRKENHEAD
WE’REDISCOVERING BIRKENHEAD      

84 85

P
age 113



DELIVERING 
BIRKENHEAD 
2040

SECTION 5.

P
age 114



THE CHALLENGE

The scale of opportunity to 
create a prosperous, thriving 
and beautiful town is immense. 
Collaboration and ambition of 
partners is strong. Delivery has 
started and foundations have 
been laid. 

However, there are a number of 
significant challenges to achieving 
the vision for Birkenhead – if it 
was easy it would have happened 
already! Key challenges are:

1. Inter-related market failures 
in and around Birkenhead 
following decades of 
industrial decline and lack of 
investment.

2. Viability - low values 
exacerbated by historically 
poor external perceptions 
of the area, lack of occupier 
confidence and associated 
uncertainties about 
investment returns.

3. The capacity and expertise 
required to deliver and tackle 
the complex problems of site 
assembly, land remediation 
and infrastructure investment.

‘WE NEED TO 
ENSURE THAT ALL 

THIS TALK OF NEW 
BUILDINGS, NEW ROADS, 

NEW INFRASTRUCTURE IS 
NOT DISCUSSED PRIMARILY 
FOR NEW PEOPLE. IT MUST 
WORK FOR THOSE PEOPLE 
WHO LIVE IN THE AREA 

NOW.’

88 89

P
age 115



GETTING STARTED

A FAILURE TO FULLY 
CONFRONT THESE 
CHALLENGES HAS 
HAMPERED PREVIOUS 
REGENERATION EFFORTS. 
WE HAVE USED THIS 
LEARNING TO SHAPE OUR 
DELIVERY PLAN AND 
HAVE TAKEN A NUMBER 
OF PRACTICAL STEPS TO 
CREATE THE CONDITIONS 
FOR SUCCESS:

1. A NEW DELIVERY MODEL 
Wirral Council  submitted 
a successful bid to the 
Government’s Urban 
Development Corporation 
competition. This has provided 
funding to develop a bespoke 
delivery vehicle for Birkenhead’s 
regeneration, including exploring 
potential Urban Development 
Corporation models. The option 
assessment work for the delivery 
model will begin in April 2021. 

This is a game-changer for 
delivery – a dedicated, bespoke 
approach which can adopt the 
necessary 20-year time horizon, 
and assemble the skills required 
for truly transformational change.

2. HIGH QUALITY EARLY 
DELIVERY
We know that the right early 
developments are needed 
to shift the market and bring 
confidence to others to invest.  
Peel L&P’s early developments 
at Wirral Waters have led the 
way, set a benchmark for quality 
and demonstrated the art of the 
possible. 

Wirral Growth Company’s start 
on site with the wholescale 
redevelopment of the town 
centre is addressing one of the 
biggest priorities for local people. 
Eureka Mersey! due to open in 
2022 will provide a huge draw for 
visitors. The award of funding to 
remove two flyovers which have 
blighted the town for years show 
the commitment between the 
Council and Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority to tackle 
the large-scale infrastructure 
investment required.

3. STRONG PARTNERSHIP 
APPROACH TO PLACE-
MAKING
Perhaps one of the biggest 
unseen changes over the last 
18 months is the growing 
collaboration between partners, 
some of whom have been 
involved in previous regeneration 
efforts. There is a strong belief 
that this is Birkenhead’s time and 
a commitment to putting in the 
hard work to make it happen.

The Council has formed a working 
group with Homes England and 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority which is preparing 
a joint business case for the 

next phase of major investment 
using Government funding such 
as Brownfield Land Fund and 
Housing Infrastructure Fund. 

At the same time Birkenhead’s 
Town Board has created a £100m 
programme for new culture, arts, 
community and public realm 
projects and is seeking £45m of 
investment to make it happen. 
The Town Board’s momentum will 
continue as an important part of 
our collaborative delivery.

4. INVESTING IN LOW-
CARBON INFRASTRUCTURE 
We know that low-carbon, 
sustainable communities are 
a must if we are to address 
the climate and biodiversity 
challenges. We have embraced 
these challenges as we believe 
Birkenhead can become an 
exemplar given its unique 
combination of waterfront 
location, public transport 
connectivity, and availability of 
brownfield sites. We are working 
with Government to develop a 
business case for one of the UKs 
largest district heating networks. 
We are investing in digital 
infrastructure as part of Liverpool 
City Region’s  project, and 
creating a network of attractive 
walking and cycling routes 
throughout the town. 

DELIVERY

90 91

P
age 116



WHAT 
NEXT
THERE ARE A 
NUMBER OF ACTIONS 
WE WILL BE 
TAKING IN THE NEXT 
YEAR TO KEEP THE 
MOMENTUM:

1. WIRRAL’S LOCAL PLAN  
This is one of the most important 
enablers to regenerating 
Birkenhead. We intend to 
publicise the Draft Local Plan 
(Regulation 19) in summer 2021, 
and the comments received on 
Birkenhead 2040 will shape that 
Plan. The Local Plan will then be 
submitted to the Secretary of 
State later in the year with the 
Examination in Public likely in 
early 2022. The regeneration of 
Birkenhead will be at the heart 
of the Local Plan’s strategy to 
meet the Borough’s development 
needs within existing urban areas.

2. CREATE OUR 
BIRKENHEAD PLACE 
SHAPING POLICY 
FRAMEWORK 
We know that clarity provides 
confidence and fosters 
collaboration. To help this 
we are developing a suite of 
key strategies and policies to 
articulate different elements of 
the Birkenhead place-shaping 
approach. These specific 
strategies for Birkenhead 
include:

 ▪ Culture and Heritage Strategy

 ▪ Design Guide and Public 
Realm Strategy

 ▪ Sustainability, Wildlife and 
Biodiversity Strategy 

 ▪ Active Travel Strategy

 ▪ Parking Strategy

3. BUILD OUR PARTNERSHIP 
OF PIONEERS  
We understand that it takes 
a certain type of developer, 
designer or investor to get 
involved in a regeneration 
programme of this scale at this 
point in its life. However, we 
also know that there are many 
creative organisations who 
share our ethos and ambition 
and see the challenges 
Birkenhead faces as an 
opportunity to do something 
new and exciting.  We are 
keen to speak to innovative 
developers with an appetite 
for creating special places 
on brownfield sites.  We are 
committed to using local 
companies and suppliers in all 
aspects of the regeneration 
programme so we can make 
sure the local economy 
benefits directly from the 
significant investments which 
will be made.

4. PEOPLE, ECONOMY AND 
ENVIRONMENT 
As we have been developing 
the Local Plan there has 
inevitably been a focus 
on the spatial or “place” 
elements of regeneration. 
Our vision and objectives 
set out a holistic approach 
which incorporates People, 
Economy and Environment 
alongside Place. The next year 
will see an increased focus 
on drawing these elements 
together, particularly as we 
recover from the impacts 
of Covid-19 and build on 
the positive community and 
organisational alliances which 
have been forged. We will not 
just focus on “the new” but 
will continue improvements 
and investments in our existing 
neighbourhoods.

5. PLACE MANAGEMENT 
AND COMMUNITY WEALTH 
BUILDING  
The ultimate success of 
creating a place where 
people choose to live and put 
down roots is more about its 
management than it is about 
building new things.  Is it clean, 
safe and well maintained, do 
local people feel proud of their 
town? The early Garden Cities 
were as much an economic 
model as a planning one – 
seeking ways to generate 
income to plough back into 
maintaining high quality public 
spaces. We want to ensure that 
securing community benefits 
from physical regeneration 
is not just a worthy intention 
for Birkenhead but a 
demonstrable reality. Over the 
next year we will develop a 
delivery model for Birkenhead 
which seeks to secure the long-
term community stewardship 
of assets and spaces across the 
town.ACTIONS92 93

P
age 117



COMING SOON

Wirral Waters: Maritime 
Knowledge Hub

Wirral Waters: 
Northbank

Eureka! 
Mersey

Wirral Growth Company: 
Commercial District

COMING SOON

94 95

P
age 118



HOW TO GET INVOLVED

THE PUBLICATION OF THIS 
DRAFT BIRKENHEAD 2040 
FRAMEWORK MARKS 
A MAJOR MILESTONE 
IN BIRKENHEAD’S 
REGENERATION. HOWEVER, 
THE WORK CONTINUES AT 
PACE. 
We will increase our 
communication to keep 
people up to date and to get 
feedback, particularly for local 
residents and the many active 
community and voluntary 
groups across the town and 
wider Wirral. 

THIS CONSULTATION
We are undertaking an initial 
consultation on Birkenhead 2040 
from Wednesday 24 March to 
Wednesday 19 May 2021. If 
you would like to respond then 
please go to Wirral Have Your Say 
website: www.haveyoursay.wirral.
gov.uk

We are particularly keen to know:

1. What do you think of the 
vision and strategy? What 
do you like best? Is anything 
missing? Please go to Wirral 
Have Your Say to complete 
the survey and leave your 
comments.

2. Would you like to be part 
of the delivery? Do you 
have ideas or projects that 
you would like to link in? 
There is an interactive map on 
Wirral Have Your Say where 
you can pin your ideas and 
upload photos anonymously. 
Alternatively please email 
regeneratingbirkenhead@
wirral.gov.uk

3. Do you know of good 
examples from the UK and 
around the world which 
we should learn from? We 
are particularly interested in 
gathering best practice or 
emerging thinking on:

 ▪ Creating family friendly 
urban neighbourhoods 

 ▪ Delivery models for long-
term place management

 ▪ Creating child friendly 
urban neighbourhoods 
– our vision is for 
Birkenhead to be a place 
where it is fun to grow up. 
What real-life examples 
are there of putting this in 
to practice?

4. Would you or your 
organisation like to join 
our network? We know 
that many places are 
grappling with similar 
issues to Birkenhead, made 
especially challenging due 
to the Covid-19 experience 
of the last 12 months. Wirral 
Council is committed to 
building networks to share 
learning, best practice 
and best of all, practical 
solutions. If you would like 
to be part of our growing 
network please email 
regeneratingbirkenhead@
wirral.gov.uk

96 97

ENGAGE ONLINE

WATCH

FIND OUT MORE

www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk

View our short video of the 
Birkenhead 2040 vision on the 

‘Have your say website’ 

www.wirralwaters.co.uk
www.wirralgrowthcompany.co.uk

www.eurekamersey.org.uk

P
age 119

https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead%40wirral.gov.uk?subject=
https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/
https://www.wirralwaters.co.uk/ 
https://wirralgrowthcompany.co.uk/birkenhead/
https://www.eurekamersey.org.uk/ 


BIRKENHEAD
2040 2040 2040
THE FUTURE IS
BIRKENHEAD
BIRKENHEAD
2040 2040 2040
THE FUTURE IS

98 99

P
age 120



Our maritime heritage and unique waterfront setting of our town; the 
majestic River Mersey and its world famous ferry and dramatic inland docks.

Our world class heritage and future landscape assets; the world’s first public 
park in Birkenhead Park, the georgian grandeur of Hamilton Square and 
Dock Branch Park.

The boldness of our vision and the vibrancy of our culture; the dynamic 
independent and creative sectors and opportunities that future investment 
in our town centre can unlock.

Our name expressed 
proudly and loudly; no 

longer a passive partner 
in the world-famous 
Mersey waterfront. 

OUR VISUAL IDENTITY:
It builds on our proud history and 
points to an even stronger future. 

The distinctive Laird grid 
provides the backdrop 
- planned for ambitious 

growth - the New York of 
Europe. 

Within the regularity of 
the grid we express our 
character and celebrate 

the vibrancy of our culture.

OUR COLOURS:

100 101

P
age 121



The Framework has been 
produced by Wirral Council, 
in collaboration with 
Avison Young, Optimised 
Environments and Mott 
MacDonald

PHOTOGRAPHY AND 
CGI WHERE USED:
Architectural Emporium

Christopher Smith 
Photography

Eureka Mersey!

Feilden Clegg Bradley Studios

Future Yard

Mark McNulty 

Optimised Environments

Peel Land and Property/ Peel 
Ports

Simon Mabey

Urban Splash

Wirral Growth Company

Wirral Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Any additional precedent 
imagery may be subject 
to copyright but are not 
believed to be commercially 
available. They are 
published here solely for 
purposes of instruction or 
critique.

MAPPING WHERE 
USED:
Ordnance Survey Data 
© Crown copyright 
and database rights 
2021 Ordnance Survey 
100019803.

Aerial photography 
sources: Esri, DigitalGlobe, 
GeoEye, Earthstar 
Geographics, CNES/
Airbus DS,USDA,USGS, 
AeroGRID, IGN and the 
GIS User Community

Map data also sourced 
from © OpenStreetMap 
contributors and © 2020 
Geofabrik GmbH Karlsruhe

102 103

P
age 122



Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: Draft Birkenhead 2040 Framework Boundary

showing Framework Neighbourhoods (Regeneration Areas)  

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Birkenhead Framework 2040 

Public Consultation Report 

 

 
  

Consultation: 23 March to 19 May 2021 

Report: 25 June 2021 

Page 127



 

2 

 

Contents 
 

1.0 Executive Summary ...............................................................................................7 

1.1 Key Findings ......................................................................................................7 

1.1.1 Online Engagement ....................................................................................7 

The Vision: ..........................................................................................................7 

The Objectives: ...................................................................................................8 

Catalyst Projects: ................................................................................................9 

Neighbourhoods: .............................................................................................. 10 

Places ................................................................................................................ 11 

Ideas Board ....................................................................................................... 12 

1.1.2 Additional Responses ............................................................................... 13 

1.1.3 Stakeholder Events / Focus Groups ........................................................... 13 

1.1.4 Wirral Council Staff Engagement .............................................................. 14 

2.0 Methodology ...................................................................................................... 15 

2.1 Online ............................................................................................................. 15 

2.1.1 Questionnaire ........................................................................................... 15 

2.1.2 Ideas Board .............................................................................................. 16 

2.1.3 Places Mapping Tool ................................................................................. 16 

2.2 Additional Responses ...................................................................................... 16 

2.3 Stakeholder Events / Focus Groups ................................................................. 16 

2.4 Staff Feedback ................................................................................................. 17 

2.5 Analysis of Respondents .................................................................................. 17 

2.6 Interpretation of Results ................................................................................. 17 

2.7 Communications ............................................................................................. 17 

3.0 Findings .............................................................................................................. 19 

3.1 Questionnaire findings .................................................................................... 19 

3.1a The Vision ..................................................................................................... 19 

Page 128



 

3 

 

Q1. What is your connection with Wirral? ......................................................... 19 

Q2. Do you agree with the Birkenhead 2040 Framework Vision? ...................... 20 

Q3. If you do agree with the vision, please tell us why. ..................................... 20 

Q4. If you disagree with the vision, please tell us why. ...................................... 22 

Q4a. You think that the vision is too ambitious or unrealistic - do you have any 

ideas how to overcome this? ............................................................................. 24 

Q4b. You think there is something important missing from the vision - can you 

tell us what that is? ........................................................................................... 25 

Q4c. You think there is a lack of capacity or resources to deliver the vision - do 

you have any ideas how to overcome this? ....................................................... 26 

Q4d. You disagree with the whole approach for the Vision - please let us know 

why. .................................................................................................................. 26 

Q4e. You think the Vision is too costly – do you have any ideas how to overcome 

this? .................................................................................................................. 27 

3.1b The Objectives ............................................................................................... 28 

Q5. Is the Waterfront Garden City Objective Important for Birkenhead? .......... 28 

Q6. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Waterfront Garden City 

objective? ......................................................................................................... 29 

Q7. Is the Inclusive Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead?................ 30 

Q8. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Inclusive Birkenhead 

objective? ......................................................................................................... 31 

Q9. Is the Industrious Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead?

.......................................................................................................................... 32 

Q10. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Industrious 

Birkenhead objective? ....................................................................................... 33 

Q11. Is the Cultural Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? ............... 34 

Q12. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Cultural Birkenhead 

objective? ......................................................................................................... 34 

Q13. Is the Iconic Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? .................. 36 

Page 129



 

4 

 

Q14. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Iconic Birkenhead 

objective? ......................................................................................................... 37 

Q15. Is the Connected Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead?........... 38 

Q16. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Connected Birkenhead 

objective? ......................................................................................................... 39 

Q17. Is the Sustainable Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? ......... 40 

Q18. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Sustainable 

Birkenhead objective? ....................................................................................... 41 

Q19. Is the Healthy Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? ............... 42 

Q20. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Healthy Birkenhead 

objective? ......................................................................................................... 43 

Q21. Is the Resilient Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? .............. 44 

Q22. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Resilient Birkenhead 

objective? ......................................................................................................... 45 

3.1c Catalyst Projects ............................................................................................ 46 

Q23. Is the Wirral Waters project important for Birkenhead? ........................... 46 

Q24. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Wirral Waters project, 

is there anything missing? ................................................................................. 47 

Q25. Is the Dock Branch Park project important for Birkenhead? ...................... 48 

Q26. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Dock Branch Park 

project, is there anything missing? .................................................................... 49 

Q27. Is the Birkenhead Commercial District project important for Birkenhead? 50 

Q28. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Birkenhead 

Commercial District project, is there anything missing? .................................... 51 

Q29. Is the Birkenhead Landing project important for Birkenhead? .................. 52 

Q30. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Birkenhead Landing 

project, is there anything missing? .................................................................... 53 

Q31. Is the East West Cultural Axis project important for Birkenhead? ............. 54 

Q32. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the East West Cultural Axis 

project, is there anything missing? .................................................................... 55 

Page 130



 

5 

 

Q33. Is the Woodside Gyratory project important for Birkenhead? ................... 56 

Q34. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Woodside Gyratory 

project, is there anything missing? .................................................................... 57 

Q35. Is the Mass Transit project important for Birkenhead? ............................. 58 

Q36. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Mass Transit project, is 

there anything missing? .................................................................................... 59 

Q37. Is the Heat Network project important for Birkenhead? ........................... 60 

Q38. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Heat Network project, 

is there anything missing? ................................................................................. 61 

3.1d Neighbourhoods ........................................................................................... 62 

Q39. Do you agree with the proposals for Central Birkenhead? ........................ 62 

Q40. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Central 

Birkenhead and is there anything missing? ....................................................... 62 

Q41. Do you agree with the proposals for Birkenhead's Waterfront? ................ 64 

Q42. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for 

Birkenhead’s Waterfront and is there anything missing? .................................. 65 

Q43. Do you agree with the proposals for Hind Street? ..................................... 66 

Q44. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Hind 

Street and is there anything missing? ................................................................ 66 

Q45. Do you agree with the proposals for Wirral Waters and Portside? ............ 68 

Q46. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Wirral 

Waters and Portside, and is there anything missing? ........................................ 68 

Q47. Do you agree with the proposals for Hamilton Park? ................................ 70 

Q48. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Hamilton 

Park, and is there anything missing? ................................................................. 70 

Q49. Do you agree with the proposals for Scotts Quay? .................................... 72 

Q50. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Scotts 

Quay, and is there anything missing? ................................................................ 72 

Q51. Do you agree with the proposals for Seacombe Riverside Corridor? ......... 74 

Page 131



 

6 

 

Q52. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for 

Seacombe Riverside, and is there anything missing? ......................................... 74 

Q51. Do you agree with the proposals for Northside? ....................................... 76 

Q54. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for 

Northside, and is there anything missing? ......................................................... 76 

Q55. Do you agree with the proposals for Bidston Moss and Docks? ................. 78 

Q56. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Bidston 

Moss & Docks, and is there anything missing? .................................................. 78 

3.2 Places Tool Responses ..................................................................................... 80 

Assets................................................................................................................ 80 

Change .............................................................................................................. 82 

Opportunities .................................................................................................... 85 

3.3 Ideas Board Responses .................................................................................... 88 

3.4 Additional responses ....................................................................................... 89 

3.5 Stakeholder Events Feedback .......................................................................... 89 

3.6 Wirral Council Staff Feedback .......................................................................... 92 

3.7 Social Media .................................................................................................... 92 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic ............................................................................. 94 

4.1 Demographics ................................................................................................. 94 

4.2 Site Traffic ....................................................................................................... 95 

Appendix 1: Additional Feedback.............................................................................. 97 

 

  

Page 132



 

7 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 
 

Wirral Council has developed a framework for the transformational regeneration of Birkenhead, the 

Birkenhead 2040 Framework (the Framework). This is a twenty-year plan which sets out the most 

radical proposals for the town since the 1947 Town Plan. 

At the heart of the proposals is the creation of family-friendly neighbourhoods with beautiful, green 

public spaces and parks. The plan will re-connect the revitalised town centre with the amazing 

opportunities along the Mersey waterfront, and will make the most of the town’s iconic heritage and 

buildings. 

A public consultation was delivered to ensure all residents and stakeholders could provide feedback 

on the draft Framework and help shape the final draft. The feedback from this consultation will also 

be used to shape the final draft of Wirral's Local Plan, the land-use strategy for the Borough, which 

will be published for public comment later this summer. The consultation ran between 21 April to 19 

May 2021. 

The Framework sets out a 20-year plan for Birkenhead which will evolve over time as different stages 

of the plan programme are reached. The Council will continue to engage with stakeholders and 

residents of Birkenhead to ensure that they are kept up to date with progress and that their views 

continue to shape the regeneration of Birkenhead over the plan period.   

 A summary of key findings is set out below: 

1.1 Key Findings 

1.1.1 Online Engagement 

There was a total of 142 online responses to the survey and 6 Easy Read copies.  

Demographics: 

• Most respondents (91.5%) were from the Wirral. 

• The most represented Wirral Ward was Birkenhead & Tranmere (16.9%), which falls into the 

most deprived decile of the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). 

• Overall, most respondents (29.3%) resided in an area falling into the most deprived decile of 

the IMD. 

The Vision: 

Q1. The majority of respondents described themselves as residents of Wirral (65.8%).  11.1% were 

Wirral businesses and 6.3% were other local organisations. 

Q2.  A total of 84.8% of respondents agreed with the Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework 

Vision, 45.5% strongly agreed.  Across all IMD deciles, most people agreed with the Vision. 

Q3.  The most prevalent reasons that people agreed with the vision were: 

Page 133



 

8 

 

• 18.9% - Birkenhead has a lot of untapped potential. 

• 14.2% - We need to be ambitious. 

• 14% - Making better use of Birkenhead’s heritage. 

• 13.5% - Encouraging businesses to come to Birkenhead & to grow. 

Q4.  The most prevalent reasons that people disagreed with the vision were: 

• 30% - There is something important missing. 

• 23.3% - Other reasons.  There were a variety of concerns raised here, the top ones 

being the concern that the existing community would be alienated/pushed out (x3), 

that the vision is not ambitious enough (x2) and that it is not detailed or specific 

enough (x2). 

The Objectives: 

Questions 5 to 22. 

The Birkenhead 2040 Framework contains 9 objectives which set out the range of activity that will be 

undertaken to achieve the vision.  

All the Objectives garnered similarly high levels of support, with between 70.6% - 89.2% of 

respondents signalling agreement or strong agreement with each.  

The Objective that was most agreed with was the Inclusive Birkenhead objective (89.2%), and 

Resilient Birkenhead objective was agreed with the least (70.6%).   

The Objectives with the highest levels of disagreement were Connected Birkenhead, Resilient 

Birkenhead (6.6% each), and Iconic Birkenhead (6.5%). 

Page 134



 

9 

 

 

Figure 1: Proportion of overall agreement and disagreement with the Objectives 

 

 

Catalyst Projects: 

Questions 23-56 

The Birkenhead 2040 Framework has identified 8 catalyst projects which are key to achieving the 

major physical regeneration improvements planned. 

All of the Catalyst Projects garnered high levels of support, with between 74.3% - 88.8% of 

respondents signalling agreement or strong agreement with each.  

The Catalyst Projects that were most agreed with were the East West Cultural Axis project (88.8%) 

and the Wirral Waters project (88.4%).   

The Woodside Gyratory project was the least supported (74.3%). 

Birkenhead Landing and Birkenhead Commercial District projects had the highest levels of 

disagreement, 10.2% and 10% respectively. 

86.4% 89.2% 87.9% 85.5%
79.7%

86.8% 86.9% 87.5%

70.6%

5.7% 4.3% 5% 4.3% 6.5% 6.6%
3.6% 3.7%

6.6%

Waterfront
Garden City

Inclusive
Birkenhead

Industrious
Birkenhead

Cultural
Birkenhead

Iconic
Birkenhead

Connected
Birkenhead

Sustainable
Birkenhead

Healthy
Birkenhead

Resiliant
Birkenhead

Objectives: Proportion of overall agreement & disagreement

Agree or strongly agree Disagree or strongly disagree

Page 135



 

10 

 

 

Figure 2: Proportion of overall agreement and disagreement with the Catalyst Projects 

Neighbourhoods: 

Questions 39-56 

The Birkenhead 2040 Framework includes proposals for nine neighbourhoods across the town 

reflecting the different characteristics and opportunities in each area. 

All of the Neighbourhoods garnered high levels of support, with between 78.5% - 90.3% of 

respondents signalling agreement or strong agreement with each.  

The Neighbourhood proposals that were most agreed with were Bidston Moss & Dock (90.3%) and 

Birkenhead’s Waterfront (89.6%).   

The Scott’s Quay neighbourhood proposal was the least supported (78.5%).   

Central Birkenhead and Scott’s Quay proposals had the highest levels of disagreement, of 8.8% and 

6.7% respectively. 

88.4% 84.7%
75.7% 78.1%

88.8%

74.3%

86.3%
81.3%

6.5% 6.6% 10% 10.2%
3.7%

8.1% 7.9% 5.8%

Wirral
Waters

Dock Branch
Park

Birkenhead
Commercial

District

Birkenhead
Landing

East West
Cultural Axis

Woodside
Gyratory

Mass Transit Birkenhead
Heat

Network

Catalyst Projects: Proportion of overall agreement & disagreement

Agree or strongly agree Disagree or strongly disagree

Page 136



 

11 

 

 

Figure 3: Proportion of overall agreement and disagreement with the Neighbourhoods 

 

Places 

Users were invited to place pins on a map show where they believe Birkenhead’s assets are, as well 

as areas that could benefit from change or that present opportunities.  Users could choose to add 

one or more pins for each category (Asset, Change, Opportunity), and had the option to add a 

comment associated to each pin.   

A total of 55 people contributed to the Places tool, between them making 271 submissions.  There 

were 68 pins placed to highlight an asset, 90 pins placed to indicate a need for change, and 113 pins 

placed to show an opportunity. 

Assets pins  

The top assets highlighted were: 

• Birkenhead Park (14.7%),  

• Birkenhead Priory (8.8%)  

• Infrastructure associated with the Queensway Tunnel (8.8%). 

Change pins 

The neighbourhoods where most pins indicating a need for change were placed were:  

Birkenhead’s Waterfront (33.3%)  

• Docks 

81.6%
89.6% 85.8% 86.4% 83.0% 78.5% 80.0% 80.6%

90.3%

8.8%
3.7% 4.5% 3.0% 2.2% 6.7% 3.7% 3.9% 2.2%

Neighbourhoods: Proportion of overall agreement & disagreement

Agree or strongly agree Disagree or strongly disagree

Page 137



 

12 

 

• Woodside Ferry & surrounding area 

• Chester Street 

Central Birkenhead (30%) 

• Pyramids & Grange Road Precinct 

• Hamilton Square 

Opportunities pins 

The neighbourhoods where most pins indicating a potential opportunity were:  

Central Birkenhead (29.2%)  

• Borough Pavement/Grange Road Precinct/Pyramids 

• Dock Branch Park 

• Hamilton Square 

Birkenhead’s Waterfront (24.8%) 

• Woodside Ferry 

• Priory Wharf 

• Edgerton & Morpeth docks 

Ideas Board 

20 contributors submitted 30 ideas to the ideas board tool and other visitors to the board were able 

to ‘vote’ for ideas that they liked. 

The 2 most popular ideas, that received the most ‘votes’ were: 

 

 

Common themes amongst all the ideas were: 

• Transport Ideas (20%) 

“The Docklands area from Bidston to the Four Bridges should emulate what the Dutch have 

done with waterside apartments and cafés.” 3 votes 

 

“A Cammell Lairds shipbuilding museum should be built at Woodside to rival Dublin’s Titanic 

exhibition. Site: Where [redacted – private business] is now. 

It should be interactive and should highlight the famous ships built at Cammell Lairds.” 3 votes 

 

 

Page 138



 

13 

 

• Leisure ideas (16.7%) 

• Generative economy ideas (10%) 

 

1.1.2 Additional Responses  

Emails - 18 email comments were received, 10 of which were broadly positive, 3 of which were 

neutral and 2 of which were broadly negative.   

The key themes emerging from the emails collectively are below.  Since each email contains multiple 

themes, percentages do not add up to 100%. 

• Transport x7 (41.2%)  

• Housing x5 (29.4%) 

• Environmental sustainability x3 (17.6%)  

• Economic benefits x3 (17.6%)  

Documents: 6 organisations submitted their representations as a document.  These have been 

analysed to identify common themes. Where responses relate to the draft Local Plan, these have 

been shared with the Local Plan team to ensure that representations are in included in the Local Plan 

review. Details of respondents are included in Appendix 1. 

 

1.1.3 Stakeholder Events / Focus Groups 

Twelve Stakeholder Events were held between 14/04/2021 to 25/05/2021, which gathered feedback 

from various groups regarding the 2040 Framework proposals.   

Key themes per forum are detailed in section 3.5. The overriding themes from the forums, collectively 

are below, in order of prevalence: 

• The method of Council Engagement 

• Approval and support for the Framework in general 

• Transport 

• Economic Benefits 

• Pleasant local environment 

• Anti-social behaviour (ASB) & Crime 

• Environmental sustainability 

• Leisure 

Page 139



 

14 

 

 1.1.4 Wirral Council Staff Engagement 

An event was held on 11/05/2021 for Wirral Council staff to provide their views on the 2040 

Framework proposals. The top key themes emerging from this were: 

• Council Engagement – the need for future engagement to be inclusive and accessible. 

• Arts & Culture provision – the opportunity that this will provide in the regeneration of 

Birkenhead. 

• Transport connectivity – the opportunity for sustainable transport and active travel choices. 

 

 

  

Page 140



 

15 

 

2.0 Methodology 
 

A range of methods were developed in order to collect feedback through different routes to optimise 

the engagement approach and the range of feedback. 

2.1 Online  

To help shape the Birkenhead 2040 Framework, a public consultation was carried out using Wirral 

Council’s ‘Have Your Say’ consultation portal at www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk  where there was a 

page dedicated to the Framework.  

Key documents related to the framework were published on the page and were available for 

download. These included a Summary of the Framework alongside a full copy and an easy read 

version. A video was also provided which gave a visual outline of the plans for Birkenhead 2040. 

In order to collect feedback an online survey, and ideas board were available. In addition, a mapping 

tool that allowed respondents to place ‘pins’ and make comments on specific geographic sites was 

included.   

To ensure accessibility respondents were able to request paper copies of the survey, an easy read 

version, contact the team directly and submit additional comments via a dedicated email address, 

which was published on the Have Your Say site alongside the online survey. 

 

2.1.1 Questionnaire  

The consultation questionnaire was developed in order to enable stakeholders to record their 

opinions on the Birkenhead Regeneration Framework 2040. In particular, the consultation invited 

views on the vision, objectives, Catalyst projects and Neighbourhoods within the framework. The 

questions included opportunities for respondents to provide free text comments to expand on their 

answers. 

Both paper copies and Easy Read surveys were created to enable the survey to be accessible. Paper 

copies of these surveys were available at Birkenhead Central Library and various community hubs 

across Birkenhead and could be provided as required.  Five Easy Read copies were submitted. These 

responses were aggregated into the online survey results to ensure the views were represented in 

the final analysis. 

In terms of the results of the questionnaire it is important to note that: 

• The public consultation is not representative of the overall population of Wirral but provides 

information on the opinion of those residents who engaged. 

Page 141

http://www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/


 

16 

 

• Where percentages do not add up to 100, this may be due to rounding, or the question is multi-

coded. All free questions that invited respondents to write in comments are multi-coded and 

therefore add up to more than 100 percent. 

• In order that they can be summarised, all free text responses to the public consultation have 

been categorised using a ‘tagging’ system based on the main themes arising from the comment.  

Comments may cover multiple themes, therefore there are more comment categories than 

comments. 

 

2.1.2 Ideas Board 

The Ideas Board was set up to allow respondents to submit their own ideas bout Birkenhead 

Regeneration, these could be approved and commented on by other members of the public.  

The information provided was reviewed and coded based on content and a set of themes were 

identified to allow reporting.  

 

2.1.3 Places Mapping Tool 

The places mapping tool was configured to allow participants to add pins to the Birkenhead map. 

Users could choose from three pins to provide their comments. There was also the option for 

respondents to upload photographs. The three pin categories were assets, opportunities and what 

needed to change. 

 

2.2 Additional Responses 

An email address, regeneratingbirkenhead@wirral.gov.uk,  was provided to enable people to submit 

comments if they chose.  The emails received were examined and analysed collectively to identify 

common themes, which are outlined in section 3.4 of this document.   

6 organisations submitted their representations as a document.  These have been analysed 

collectively to identify common themes. Where representations relate to the draft Local Plan, the 

response have been shared with the Local Plans team for inclusion within the Local Plan review. 

Details of respondents are included in Appendix 1. 

 

2.3 Stakeholder Events / Focus Groups 

Twelve Stakeholder forums were held between 14/04/2021 – 25/05/2021, which gathered feedback 

from various groups regarding the 2040 Framework proposals.  Stakeholders, and in particular hard-

to-reach groups, were invited to suggest how they would wish the consultation event to take place, in 

order to suit the groups’ individual requirements. The majority chose to attend a round table focus 

group session held on MS Teams or Zoom. For some stakeholders, multiple focus group sessions were 

Page 142

mailto:regeneratingbirkenhead@wirral.gov.uk


 

17 

 

hosted to ensure all comments and views were captured and to explore more details areas of the 

Framework. To ensure continued engagement with stakeholder groups and at the request of the 

focus groups, future events are planned.   

Comments were recorded from the events, and examined for common themes, which are outlined in 

section 3.5 of this document. 

2.4 Staff Feedback 

An event was held on 11/05/2021 for Wirral Council staff to provide their views on the 2040 

Framework proposals. Comments were recorded from this event, and examined for common themes, 

which are outlined by forum in section 3.6 of this document. 

2.5 Analysis of Respondents 

The Council has provided a range of options for all stakeholders to feed back on the Framework 

proposals and has sought to ensure a range residents and stakeholders were enabled to engage in 

the consultation.  

Respondents to the online tools were provided with the option to provide demographic information 

about themselves. It must be noted that this is an option and that not all respondents included this 

information. This data allows the demographic results to be included in this report to enable analysis 

of the scope of responses and representation from different demographic groups.   

 

2.6 Interpretation of Results 

In terms of the results, it is important to note that: 

• The public consultation is not representative of the overall population but provides 

information on the opinion of those residents who engaged. 

• For specific tools where percentages do not add up to 100, this may be due to rounding, or 

the question is multi-coded.  

• All free text questions and ideas that offered respondents the option to provide written 

feedback could have covered multiple themes. Therefore, with free text responses being 

categorised using a coding system, some comments will be multi-coded and therefore add 

up to more than 100 percent. 

 

2.7 Communications 

The consultation was promoted in a number of ways, and key stakeholders who have been involved 

in the development of the Strategy were informed of the consultation. The COVID-19 virus continues 

to place limitations on our efforts to engage our local communities and meant face to face 

Page 143



 

18 

 

presentations and consultation was restricted. In addition, the local elections meant a significant part 

of the consultation was held during the pre-election period of heightened sensitivity, which can mean 

some limits on formal council communications. 

Therefore, in an effort to raise awareness amongst as many residents, stakeholders and businesses as 

possible, a communications campaign was put in place, using all communications channels available 

to the council, to underpin the aims of the consultation process. This began with issuing a series of 

press releases to outline the purpose of the consultation and to direct people to our site. The press 

releases were picked up by numerous media outlets in print, broadcast and web including local and 

regional media and trade press for development and regeneration.  

Additionally, press releases were used as the basis for stories on Wirral View (the council’s own 

wraparound news pages for its corporate website) and regularly included as news items in the 

20,000-subscriber council e-newsletter. This was supported by frequent posts throughout the 

consultation period on the council’s social media channels (LinkedIn, Twitter, Facebook & Instagram) 

in addition to a specific social media video campaign towards the end of the consultation period 

(after the elections) which ran on Twitter and Facebook, as well as paid-for targeted social media. 

Internal council comms including regular use of the ExecView newsletter was also applied to inform 

staff – many of whom are Wirral residents – about the regeneration aims and ambitions and 

encourage them to also take part in the consultation. 

The Council worked with private and third sector organisations and businesses to ensure that the 

consultation was shared and promoted to their networks. Banners and promotional material were 

also produced and located in prominent locations across the town centre to promote the 

consultation. 

 

 

  

Page 144



 

19 

 

3.0 Findings 
3.1 Questionnaire findings 

3.1a The Vision 

Q1. What is your connection with Wirral? 

The majority of respondents described themselves as residents of Wirral (65.8%).  11.1% were Wirral 

businesses and 6.3% were other local organisations.  

Where ‘other’ connections were specified, these were previous residents (x3) and a volunteer (x1). 

 

Figure 4: Respondents connection to Wirral 

 Q1. Tell us about your connection with Wirral Number % 

Resident 125 65.8% 

Wirral Councillor 4 2.1% 

Wirral Council Employee 7 3.7% 

Public sector organisation 6 3.2% 

Wirral business 21 11.1% 

Developer / investor 5 2.6% 

Registered Social Landlord 4 2.1% 

Other local organisation 12 6.3% 

National organisation 2 1.1% 

Other (please specify) 4 2.1% 

Total 190 100% 

Table 1: Respondents connection to Wirral 

 

65.8%

2.1%

3.7%

3.2%

11.1%

2.6%

2.1%

6.3%

1.1%

2.1%

Resident

Wirral Councillor

Wirral Council Employee

Public sector organisation

Wirral business

Developer / investor

Registered Social Landlord

Other local organisation

National organisation

Other (please specify)

Q1. What is your connection with Wirral

Page 145



 

20 

 

 

Q2. Do you agree with the Birkenhead 2040 Framework Vision?  

 

A total of 83.6% of respondents agreed with the Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework Vision, 

and 8.2% disagreed.  44.5% strongly agreed with the vision and 2.7% strongly disagreed. 

 

Figure 5: Proportion of respondents who agree with the Birkenhead 2040 Vision. 

Q2 Do you agree with the vision? Number % 

Strongly agree 66 45.5% 

Agree 57 39.3% 

Neither agree nor disagree 13 9% 

Disagree 6 4.1% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.1% 

Total 145 100% 

Figure 6: Proportion of respondents who agree with the Birkenhead 2040 Vision. 

Q3. If you do agree with the vision, please tell us why1. 

 

The most prevalent reasons that people agreed with the vision were: 

• 18.9% - Birkenhead has a lot of untapped potential. 

• 14.2% - We need to be ambitious. 

• 14% - Making better use of Birkenhead’s heritage. 

 

 

1 Respondents were invited to select up to 3 answers.  Therefore, percentages will not add up to 100%. 

45.5%

39.3%

9.0%
4.1%

2.1%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree

Q2. Do you agree with the Vision?

Page 146



 

21 

 

• 13.5% - Encouraging businesses to come to Birkenhead & to grow. 

 

Figure 7: Reasons that respondents agree with The Vision. 

Of the ‘other’ responses, the fact that the plan is environmentally sustainable was the most common 

reason given (x3). 

Q3. If you do agree with the vision please tell us why. Number % 

Birkenhead has a lot of untapped potential. 73 19% 

We need to be ambitious. 55 14% 

Making better use of Birkenhead’s heritage. 54 14% 

Encouraging businesses to come to Birkenhead and to grow. 52 13% 

Making the town a better place for children to grow up. 42 11% 

High quality urban design. 37 10% 

Improved connectivity and transport. 35 9% 

Building new homes for families. 31 8% 

Other (please specify). 7 2% 

Total 386 100% 

    Table 2: Reasons that respondents agree with The Vision. 

 

  

18.9%

14.2%

14.0%

13.5%

10.9%

9.6%

9.1%

8.0%

1.8%

Birkenhead has a lot of untapped potential.

We need to be ambitious.

Making better use of Birkenhead’s heritage.

Encouraging businesses to come to Birkenhead and…

Making the town a better place for children to grow…

High quality urban design.

Improved connectivity and transport.

Building new homes for families.

Other (please specify).

Q3. Why do you agree with the Vision?  

Page 147



 

22 

 

Q4. If you disagree with the vision, please tell us why2. 

 

The most prevalent reasons that people disagreed with the vision were: 

• 30% - There is something important missing. 

• 23.3% - Other. 

• 15% - There is a lack of capacity/resources to deliver it. 

 

Figure 8: Reasons that respondents disagree with The Vision. 

 

Q4. If you disagree with the vision, please tell us why. Number % 

Too ambitious / unrealistic. 7 11.7% 

There is something important missing. 18 30% 

There is a lack of capacity / resources to deliver it. 9 15% 

Disagree with whole approach. 4 6.7% 

Too costly – where will the money come from? 8 13.3% 

Other (please specify) 14 23.3% 

Total 59 100.0% 

Table 3: Reasons that respondents disagree with The Vision. 

 

 

 

2 Respondents were invited to select up to 3 answers.  Therefore, percentages will not add up to 100%. 

30%

23.3%

15%

13.3%

11.7%

6.7%

There is something important missing.

Other (please specify)

There is a lack of capacity / resources
to deliver it.

Too costly – where will the money 
come from?

Too ambitious / unrealistic.

Disagree with whole approach.

Q4. If you disagree with the vision, please tell us why.  

Page 148



 

23 

 

The ‘other’ responses were reviewed and categorised into themes; they are summarised below.   

Please note, some comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not match the figures in 

Q4.   

The most prevalent themes were: 

• 17.6% - Alienate community: Respondents were concerned whether locals will get on 

board with the plans, questioned how they will be engaged and whether Birkenhead 

would still feel like ‘their town’.  They were concerned about ‘gentrification’ of the 

area because they felt it will not benefit the people of Birkenhead. 

• 11.8% - Not ambitious enough: Respondents suggested that the Vision needs to be 

more creative and commented that ‘you are still a thinking as a third division town’.  

Another comment was that some elements lack ambition and are incorrect in their 

assumptions. 

• 11.8% - Not detailed or specific enough: Respondents criticised the Vision for lacking 

detail and commented that ‘you need to explain this better’. 

• 11.8% - Timescales: Respondents were concerned about how long the regeneration 

will take saying, ‘This has been planned for the last twenty years and now will take 

another twenty,’ and wondering whether it would ever happen. 

 

Theme Number % 

Alienate community 3 17.6% 

Not ambitious enough 2 11.8% 

Not detailed or specific enough 2 11.8% 

Timescales 2 11.8% 

Buildings too high 1 5.9% 

Climate change not enough focus 1 5.9% 

Too much high-density housing 1 5.9% 

Not enough plans to attract investment 1 5.9% 

Not unique 1 5.9% 

Housing unclear where and quality of 1 5.9% 

Adverse impact on business 1 5.9% 

Ignores Unitary Development Plan 1 5.9% 

Total 17 100.0% 

Table 4: ‘Other’ reasons why respondents disagree with The Vision. 

 

  

Page 149



 

24 

 

Q4a. You think that the vision is too ambitious or unrealistic - do you have any ideas 

how to overcome this? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not match the figures in 

Q4.  The top themes were: 

• 25% - Education first: Respondents commented that we need to educate our people 

to be better and respect each other and the environment. 

• 25% - Mindset/cultural change first: Respondents commented that there needed to 

be a mindset change before ‘you commit to the plan’ and that antisocial behaviour 

needed to be tackled. 

 

Theme Number % 

Education first 2 25.0% 

Mindset/cultural change first 2 25.0% 

Scrap Vison 1 12.5% 

Office space not needed 1 12.5% 

Market not needed 1 12.5% 

Unaffordable 1 12.5% 

Total 8 100.0% 

Table 5: Respondents' comments on how to overcome the vision being too ambitious or unrealistic. 

 

  

Page 150



 

25 

 

Q4b. You think there is something important missing from the vision - can you tell us 

what that is? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not match the figures in 

Q4.  The top themes were: 

• 9.1% - Sustainability/climate change considerations not adequate: Respondents 

commented that climate change and extreme weather is not being considered in the 

Vision and that Birkenhead should be emitting zero greenhouse gases by 2040.   

• 9.1% - Not ambitious enough: Respondents commented the Vision needs to be more 

ambitious and that Birkenhead should be a World Leader in sustainable new urban 

development, rather than just an example of best practice.  

 

Theme Number % 

Sustainability/climate change considerations not adequate 2 9.1% 

Not ambitious enough 2 9.1% 

Tall building analysis flawed 1 4.5% 

Lacking strategies for hard-to-reach groups 1 4.5% 

Homelessness - not mentioned 1 4.5% 

Bidston & St James - not included 1 4.5% 

Create sense of pride 1 4.5% 

Reducing crime & disorder not covered 1 4.5% 

More housing 1 4.5% 

Too Birkenhead centric 1 4.5% 

Traffic consequences re removal of flyover & tunnel closure 1 4.5% 

Upskill residents so can benefit from job opportunities created 1 4.5% 

Not enough green spaces created/beautification 1 4.5% 

Deprivation not addressed 1 4.5% 

Excludes local people 1 4.5% 

Williamson Art Gallery - ignored 1 4.5% 

Transport/connectivity plan - lacking 1 4.5% 

Not unique 1 4.5% 

Waterfront Views - not capitalised on 1 4.5% 

Leisure - lacking 1 4.5% 

Total 22 100.0% 

Table 6: Respondents' comments on important things that are missing from the Vision. 

 

  

Page 151



 

26 

 

Q4c. You think there is a lack of capacity or resources to deliver the vision - do you 

have any ideas how to overcome this? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not match the figures in 

Q4.  There were no common themes for this question. 

 

Theme Number % 

Homelessness - not mentioned 1 9.1% 

Create infrastructure 1 9.1% 

Clean and maintain buildings 1 9.1% 

Better use of Birkenhead market 1 9.1% 

A hotel for tourism 1 9.1% 

Unable to overcome lack of capacity & resources 1 9.1% 

Scrap the Vision 1 9.1% 

Community delivery training investment 1 9.1% 

More detailed plans needed to attract investors 1 9.1% 

Change the central government 1 9.1% 

Scrap Wirral Waters 1 9.1% 

Total 11 100.0% 

Table 7: Respondents' comments on how to overcome a lack of capacity or resources. 

 

Q4d. You disagree with the whole approach for the Vision - please let us know why. 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not match the figures in 

Q4.  The top theme was: 

• 50.0% - Offices and centralised infrastructure not required in future: Respondents 

commented that Birkenhead does not need any more offices, the current ones are 

closing, and staff being made redundant.  Additionally, the entire country is moving 

away from offices and centralised infrastructure. 

 

Theme Number % 

Offices & centralised infrastructure not required in future 2 50.0% 

There is not enough money to pay for it 1 25.0% 

Too Birkenhead centric 1 25.0% 

Total 4 100.0% 

Table 8: Respondents' comments on why they disagree with the whole Vision. 

 

  

Page 152



 

27 

 

Q4e. You think the Vision is too costly – do you have any ideas how to overcome this? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not match the figures in 

Q4.  The top theme was:  

• 28.6% - Unclear where money coming from: Respondents asked, ‘How are you/we going to 

pay for all of this?’ and commented that it would probably be from council tax and business 

rates rises.  One commented that ‘you shouldn’t be stealing from the people on the Western 

side of the peninsula’.  

 

Theme Number % 

Unclear where money coming from 3 37.5% 

Spend money on essential services instead 1 12.5% 

Redevelop waterfront to attract investors & businesses 1 12.5% 

There is no way to overcome this 1 12.5% 

Community delivery - training - investment 1 12.5% 

Disagree with everything 1 12.5% 

Total 8 100.0% 

Table 9: Respondents' comments on how to overcome the Vision being too costly. 

 

 

  

Page 153



 

28 

 

3.1b The Objectives 

Q5. Is the Waterfront Garden City Objective Important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 86.4% of respondents agreed that the Waterfront Garden City objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 5.7% disagreed.  52.9% strongly agreed with the objective, and 2.1% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 9: Proportion of respondents who think that the Waterfront Garden City objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q5. The Waterfront Garden City objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 74 52.9% 

Agree 47 33.6% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 7.9% 

Disagree 5 3.6% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.1% 

Table 10: Proportion of respondents who think that the Waterfront Garden City objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

 

  

52.9%

33.6%

7.9%
3.6% 2.1%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Waterfront Garden City objective is important to 
Birkenhead

Page 154



 

29 

 

Q6. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Waterfront Garden City 

objective? 

 

Respondents were invited to tell us what specifically they did or did not like about the Objective.  

These comments were categorised into themes; many comments contained multiple themes so the 

figures will not add up to 100%, nor will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes: 

o Waterfront location (34.3%).  Respondents were positive about the waterfront location, with 

20.4% of the comments saying that they liked the idea of waterside living, and 12.0% liked the 

fact that the riverside views and the waterfront location were being capitalised on. 

o Environmental aspects (34.3%).  Respondents liked the focus on the environment and 

sustainability (15.7%), and they also were positive about the green space that is incorporated 

into the objective (13.9%).  Some commented that building on brownfield sites such as this 

was preferable to building on greenbelt (4.6%). 

o Like in general (16.7%).  Respondents liked the objective saying that it is an opportunity to 

improve the area and make it more attractive to residents and visitors alike. 

o Ambitious (5.6%).  The project shows great ambition and will be transformative. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Housing (11.1%).  Some respondents did not like the housing proposals.  6.5% of the 

comments said that the housing would be too high density, 3.7% said it would be 

unaffordable to current residents, and 0.9% said that housing was not addressed. 

o Don’t like in general (5.6%).  Respondents did not like the objective in general.  2.8% of the 

comments said that the infrastructure was not in place, and 2.8% said that the objective was 

unimaginative. 

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Safety (5.6%).  Respondents commented that antisocial behaviour and crime need to be 

addressed.  

 

  

Page 155



 

30 

 

Q7. Is the Inclusive Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead?  

 

Overall, 89.2% of respondents agreed that the Inclusive Birkenhead objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 4.3% disagreed.  58.3% strongly agreed with the objective, and 1.4% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 10: Proportion of respondents who think that the Inclusive Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q7. The Inclusive Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 81 58.3% 

Agree 43 30.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 6.5% 

Disagree 4 2.9% 

Strongly disagree 2 1.4% 

Table 11: Proportion of respondents who think that the Inclusive Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

58.3%

30.9%

6.5%
2.9% 1.4%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Inclusive Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 156



 

31 

 

Q8. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Inclusive Birkenhead 

objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Opportunities (19.4%).  10.8% of the comments were positive about the fact that 

employment opportunities were going to be created, and others were positive about local 

ownership (4.3%), education (2.2%) and opportunities for young people (2.2%). 

o Inclusivity (10.8%).  Respondents felt that the project included the current residents and 

would promote inclusivity in Birkenhead. 

o Economic benefits (7.5%).  The objective will boost the local economy and help address 

inequalities in the region. 

o Like in general (5.4%).  Respondents liked the objective in general. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Alienation of locals (12.9%).  Respondents were critical of the objective, saying that the area 

would be gentrified, and it would lead to the alienation of current residents. 

o Unrealistic (9.7%).  Some comments showed criticism of the plans, saying they are unrealistic, 

and they doubted that local communities would share in the wealth.   

o Not detailed enough (6.5%) of the comments said the plans were vague and did not clarify 

exactly how the objective would be achieved. 

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Opportunities (14.0%).  Respondents commented that there needed to be opportunities for 

current residents and that the imbalance across the Wirral needed to be addressed. 

o Safety (5.4%).  Respondents suggested that crime in Birkenhead needed to be addressed. 

 

  

Page 157



 

32 

 

Q9. Is the Industrious Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 87.9% of respondents agreed that the Industrious Birkenhead objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 5.0% disagreed.  50.7% strongly agreed with the objective, and 2.9% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 11: Proportion of respondents who think that the Industrious Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q9. The Industrious Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 71 50.7% 

Agree 52 37.1% 

Neither agree nor disagree 10 7.1% 

Disagree 3 2.1% 

Strongly disagree 4 2.9% 

Table 12: Proportion of respondents who think that the Industrious Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

50.7%

37.1%

7.1%
2.1% 2.9%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Industrious Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 158



 

33 

 

Q10. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Industrious Birkenhead 

objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Opportunities (19.8%).  Respondents felt that this objective is going to create opportunities in 

Birkenhead.  8.3% of the comments were positive about the fact that employment 

opportunities were going to be created, and others were positive about local opportunities 

(6.2%), encouraging new businesses (3.1%) and boosting the local economy (2.1%). 

o Like in general (8.3%).  The comments were positive about the plans in general with some 

respondents saying that it will build on current strengths and enable residents to work closer 

to home. 

o Generate investment (6.3%).  Respondents felt that the objective would generate investment 

in the area. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Not clear (7.3%).  The comments were critical of the objective, saying it lacks clarity on what 

exactly is going to happen. 

o Not enough (5.2%).  Business growth alone is not necessarily a positive net gain for life in this 

area.  The objective should also concentrate on improving happiness and wellbeing. 

o Unrealistic (5.2%).  The comments were critical of the objective, saying that the timescale is 

not realistic for the changes proposed. 

o Type of industry (5.2%).  Respondents commented that the focus on the manufacturing and 

maritime industries could be unwise as they are unstable and outdated. 

 

Other comments and concerns:   

o Unique Selling Point (USP) (6.3%).  Respondents commented that Birkenhead needs a Unique 

Selling Point (USP), and the perception of the town must change. 

o Environmental aspects (4.2%).  Respondents commented that this objective must be 

environmentally sustainable. 

 

  

Page 159



 

34 

 

Q11. Is the Cultural Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 85.5% of respondents agreed that the Cultural Birkenhead objective is important to 

Birkenhead. 4.3% disagreed.  50.7% strongly agreed with the objective, and 2.2% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 12: Proportion of respondents who think that the Cultural Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q11. The Cultural Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 70 50.7% 

Agree 48 34.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 14 10.1% 

Disagree 3 2.2% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.2% 

Table 13: Proportion of respondents who think that the Cultural Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

 

 

Q12. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Cultural Birkenhead 

objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

50.7%

34.8%

10.1%

2.2% 2.2%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Cultural Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 160



 

35 

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (29.0%).  Respondents liked the idea of building on and improving the culture 

already in Birkenhead. 

o Locally available (16.1%).  Respondents mentioned it would be great to have culture locally 

available rather than having to travel to Liverpool or further afield. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Not detailed enough (6.5%).  Respondents felt that the plans were not specific in terms of 

what was going to be done. 

o Unrealistic (4.3%). Respondents felt that the objective is a ‘pipe-dream’ and that there could 

be problems with maintaining cultural venues because of lack of investment and money in the 

area generally. 

o Unnecessary (4.3%).  Respondents felt the project was unnecessary, either because Liverpool 

is so close by or because they felt that there is nothing wrong with the current culture in 

Birkenhead. 

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Cultural opportunity for Birkenhead (16.1%).  Some respondents included suggestions of 

what Birkenhead could do to improve culture.  See the table below: 

 

 Q12. Suggested Cultural Opportunity Number % 

Include Williamson Art Gallery 3 3.2% 

Reinstate the Pacific Arts Centre 3 3.2% 

Open a museum of industrial heritage 1 1.1% 

Open a maritime museum 1 1.1% 

More leisure facilities required 1 1.1% 

Bring the cinema back 1 1.1% 

Use Birkenhead Market 1 1.1% 

Emulate the Baltic Triangle in Liverpool 1 1.1% 

Table 14: Suggested cultural opportunities for Birkenhead. 

 

o The perception of Birkenhead must change (5.4%).  Respondents felt that it is important to 

showcase Birkenhead to help the local community feel pride in the area. 

 

  

Page 161



 

36 

 

Q13. Is the Iconic Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 79.7% of respondents agreed that the Iconic Birkenhead objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 6.5% disagreed.  47.8% strongly agreed with the objective, and 2.9% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 13: Proportion of respondents who think that the Iconic Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q13. The Iconic Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 66 47.8% 

Agree 44 31.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 19 13.8% 

Disagree 5 3.6% 

Strongly disagree 4 2.9% 

Table 15: Proportion of respondents who think that the Iconic Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead. 

 

  

47.8%

31.9%

13.8%

3.6% 2.9%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Iconic Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 162



 

37 

 

Q14. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Iconic Birkenhead objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Celebrating history (19.5%).  Respondents were positive about the fact the objective would 

help Birkenhead showcase and celebrate its history.  

o Maintaining historic architecture (10.3%).  Respondents felt that the many historic buildings 

should be retained and maintained, including Birkenhead Priory, Hamilton Square, Birkenhead 

Priory, Woodside and the Waterfront. 

o Like in general (5.7%).  Respondents liked the objective in general, agreeing with the vision 

and saying this is what we should ‘aspire to achieve’. 

o Encourage tourism (5.7%).  Respondents said this objective should bring in tourists to boost 

the local economy. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Landmarks overlooked (14.9 %).  Respondents felt that some important and historic 

landmarks were being overlooked.  These included Hamilton Square, trams, the Waterfront, 

Birkenhead Park, the Pacific Road theatre, Williamson Art Gallery, Birkenhead library and the 

historic tunnels in Bidston and Tranmere. 

o Unrealistic (9.2%).  Respondents felt that the objective was unrealistic and would be difficult 

to achieve.   

o Proposal unclear (6.9%).  The proposal is not detailed enough, and respondents were unclear 

about what it means in practice. 

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Perception of Birkenhead (4.6%). Some respondents felt that the perception of Birkenhead 

must change (2%), and that it needs a Unique Selling Point/cultural identity different to 

Liverpool (2%). 

 

  

Page 163



 

38 

 

Q15. Is the Connected Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 86.8% of respondents agreed that the Connected Birkenhead objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 6.6% disagreed.  57.4% strongly agreed with the objective, and 2.9% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 14: Proportion of respondents who think that the Connected Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q15. The Connected Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 78 57.4% 

Agree 40 29.4% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 6.6% 

Disagree 5 3.7% 

Strongly disagree 4 2.9% 

Table 16: Proportion of respondents who think that the Connected Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

57.4%

29.4%

6.6%
3.7% 2.9%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Connected Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 164



 

39 

 

Q16. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Connected Birkenhead 

objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes: 

o Active travel (22.1%).  The comments were positive about improvements to the infrastructure 

to encourage cycling and walking as a mode of transport. 

o Like in general (12.6%).  Respondents liked the objective in general, with some saying that 

connections are essential, and key to the success of Birkenhead's regeneration. 

o Public transport (10.5%).  Respondents commented that they liked the fact the objective 

included improvements to infrastructure and connectivity through public transport. 

o Car-free focus (7.4%).  The comments were positive about the car-free focus with the aim of 

reducing car use. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Unnecessary (5.3%). Respondents felt that Birkenhead is already well connected and that 

further improvements to public transport and cycle lanes are not needed. 

o Public transport insufficient (3.2%).  The comments mentioned that simply adding more 

public transport is not enough to help the connectivity because of the cost and for people 

with disabilities who struggle to use public transport. 

o Cycle paths (3.2%).  The respondents did not think that creating cycle paths was the answer: 

they commented that there are many unused cycle paths around the Wirral and some that 

cause a hazard because they run across people’s drives. 

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Trams (14.7%).  Respondents commented that the trams should be reinstated for use as 

transport across Birkenhead and possibly to Wallasey/New Brighton.   

o Ferries (4.2%).  Respondents commented that the ferries should be part of an integrated 

transport system and not for tourism.  

Page 165



 

40 

 

Q17. Is the Sustainable Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 86.9% of respondents agreed that the Sustainable Birkenhead objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 3.6% disagreed.  61.3% strongly agreed with the objective, and 2.9% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 15: Proportion of respondents who think that the Sustainable Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q17. The Sustainable Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 84 61.3% 

Agree 35 25.5% 

Neither agree nor disagree 13 9.5% 

Disagree 1 0.7% 

Strongly disagree 4 2.9% 

Table 17: Proportion of respondents who think that the Sustainable Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

61.3%

25.5%

9.5%

0.7% 2.9%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Sustainable Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 166



 

41 

 

Q18. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Sustainable Birkenhead 

objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (35.6%).  Respondents used language including ‘Amazing’ and ‘Just do it’.  

Several commented that sustainability was vital to the regeneration plans. 

o Environmental aspects (14.9%).  Respondents commented on the environmental aspects of 

the objective that they liked, including the District Heat Network (4.6%) and clean air (2.3%). 

o Futureproof (5.7%).  The comments were positive about the objective because it 

‘futureproofs’ the regeneration plans by making them environmentally sustainable. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Unrealistic (10.3%).  Respondents questioned how the objective would be achieved and some 

raised concerns about vandalism, fly-tipping and littering. 

o Jargon (4.6%).  Some of the respondents felt that the language used was ‘marketing words’ 

and sounded good but questioned whether there was any substance behind the words. 

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Environmental aspects (19.5%). 10.3% commented that becoming carbon zero was extremely 

important and should be prioritised.  5.7% commented that carbon offsetting should not be 

relied on to become carbon zero, with some calling it a ‘green-wash’. 

o Legal requirements for house builders (3.4%).  The respondents commented that the legal 

requirements for house builders are inadequate and that houses should be built in order to 

last so that they do not need extensive repairs in future. 

  

Page 167



 

42 

 

Q19. Is the Healthy Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 87.5% of respondents agreed that the Healthy Birkenhead objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 3.7% disagreed.  59.6% strongly agreed with the objective, and 2.2% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 16: Proportion of respondents who think that the Healthy Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q19. The Healthy Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 81 59.6% 

Agree 38 27.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 12 8.8% 

Disagree 2 1.5% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.2% 

Table 18: Proportion of respondents who think that the Healthy Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

59.6%

27.9%

8.8%

1.5% 2.2%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Healthy Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 168



 

43 

 

Q20. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Healthy Birkenhead 

objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (27.6%).  Respondents liked the Healthy Birkenhead objective, and many 

commented on how essential it is that the area becomes healthier. 

o Education (14.5%).  Respondents talked about how important education is and that an 

infrastructure should be set up to educate people. 

o Health (7.9%).  3.9% of the respondents felt that the objective will help to improve residents’ 

health and 3.9% felt it would address health inequality. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Unrealistic (10.5%).  The comments say that the objective is unrealistic and unlikely to happen 

by 2040, mainly because of the deprivation and social inequality in the area. 

o Jargon (3.9%).  Respondents did not like the jargon, or the wording used in this objective.  

o Performance monitoring (3.9%).  Respondents asked how this objective would be measured 

and suggested that measurable aims are added to the objective.    

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Engagement with residents (6.6%).  Respondents felt that in order to achieve the Healthy 

Birkenhead objective, there needs to be engagement with or ‘buy-in’ from all residents. 

o Outdoor leisure (5.3%).  Respondents mentioned that outdoor leisure is important to achieve 

this objective. Some comments (2.6%) suggested that the parks should be used to encourage 

people to spend time outside.  

 

 

  

Page 169



 

44 

 

Q21. Is the Resilient Birkenhead objective important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 70.6% of respondents agreed that the Resilient Birkenhead objective is important for 

Birkenhead. 6.6% disagreed.  39.0% strongly agreed with the objective, and 4.4% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 17: Proportion of respondents who think that the Resilient Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q21. The Resilient Birkenhead objective is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 53 39.0% 

Agree 43 31.6% 

Neither agree nor disagree 31 22.8% 

Disagree 3 2.2% 

Strongly disagree 6 4.4% 

Figure 18: Proportion of respondents who think that the Resilient Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

39.0%

31.6%

22.8%

2.2%
4.4%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Resilient Birkenhead objective is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 170



 

45 

 

Q22. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Resilient Birkenhead 

objective? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (18.6%).  Respondents liked the aims of the objective, and some said that the 

Resilient Birkenhead objective is very important, and it will follow on from all the other 

objectives.   

o Forward thinking (4.3%).  Respondents liked the fact that the objective was focused on the 

future and aims to ‘futureproof’ the regeneration plans. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Jargon (20.0%).  Respondents said that the purpose of this objective was meaningless because 

of the jargon and ‘buzz words’ used.  Many wondered what it meant ‘in plain English’. 

o Unclear (11.4%).  Respondents felt that the aims of this objective were vague and unclear.  

 

Other comments and concerns:  

o Accountability (10.0%).  Respondents were concerned that there would not be enough 

accountability and questioned whether Wirral Borough Council would be able to deliver the 

Regeneration Framework.  4.3% of comments questioned the stewardship of the council and 

2.9% mentioned perceived lack of transparency as a barrier. 

o Engagement (7.1%). Respondents commented that in order to make the big changes 

proposed, the local community would need to be engaged and ideally involved so they have a 

stake in the changes. 

 

  

Page 171



 

46 

 

3.1c Catalyst Projects 

 

Q23. Is the Wirral Waters project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 88.4% of respondents agreed that the Wirral Waters project is important for Birkenhead. 

6.5% disagreed.  63.8% strongly agreed that the project is important, and 4.3% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 19: Proportion of respondents who think that the Wirral Waters project is important for Birkenhead. 

 

Q23. The Wirral Waters project is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 88 63.8% 

Agree 34 24.6% 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 5.1% 

Disagree 3 2.2% 

Strongly disagree 6 4.3% 

Table 19: Proportion of respondents who think that the Wirral Waters project is important for Birkenhead. 

 

  

63.8%

24.6%

5.1%
2.2% 4.3%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Wirral Waters project is important for Birkenhead

Page 172



 

47 

 

Q24. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Wirral Waters project, is there 

anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (20.2%).  Respondents liked the project with some saying it is necessary and 

that it was nice to see some action happening.  

o Revitalisation of unused land (7.9%).  Respondents liked the fact the old docks are being 

brought back into use and the project will ‘breathe new life’ into an unused area. 

 

Negative themes:  

o Unrealistic (3.4%).  The respondents thought that the project was unrealistic with one calling 

it a ‘pipe-dream’.  This seemed partly to be attributed to the previous delays to the project. 

o Don’t like in general (3.4%). Some of the respondents thought the project was unimaginative 

and not detailed enough. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Delays (12.4%).  Respondents were concerned that there have already been delays to the 

project and that there is a certain amount of cynicism locally about whether it would ever be 

finished. 

o Confidence in developer (10.4%).  Respondents were concerned that there is too much of a 

reliance on the attached developer (5.6%) and that the project would just be a money-making 

project for developers (4.5%).  

o Trams (4.5%).  Respondents thought that trams should be used to aid transport to and from 

Wirral Waters and across Birkenhead. 

o More leisure facilities (3.4%).  Respondents felt that in order to attract people to live in the 

area, leisure facilities would be needed to include sports, culture and hospitality. 

 

  

Page 173



 

48 

 

Q25. Is the Dock Branch Park project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 84.7% of respondents agreed that the Dock Branch Park project is important for Birkenhead. 

6.6% disagreed.  59.1% strongly agreed that the project is important, and 3.6% strongly disagreed. 

 

Figure 20: Proportion of respondents who think that the Dock Branch Park project is important for Birkenhead. 

 

Q25. The Dock Branch Park project is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 81 59.1% 

Agree 35 25.5% 

Neither agree nor disagree 12 8.8% 

Disagree 4 2.9% 

Strongly disagree 5 3.6% 

Table 20: Proportion of respondents who think that the Dock Branch Park project is important for Birkenhead. 

 

  

59.1%

25.5%

8.8%
2.9% 3.6%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Dock Branch Park project is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 174



 

49 

 

Q26. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Dock Branch Park project, is 

there anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (31.2%).  Respondents thought the project was a great idea, with some 

likening it to the High Line in New York (4.3%). 

o Green space (17.2%).  Respondents liked the fact that more green space will be created in the 

centre of Birkenhead for residents to use. 

 

Negative themes: 

o 5.4% of comments were negative but they were all varied with no common themes emerging. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Antisocial behaviour (ASB) and crime (19.4%).  Respondents said they could see this area 

becoming a hotspot for crime and antisocial behaviour and that methods of preventing that 

happening, such as good lighting, CCTV and policing, should be factored into the design. 

o Trams (5.4%).  Respondents commented that they thought it would be great to have a tram in 

Dock Branch Park to help connectivity. 

o Old train line (4.3%).  Respondents think it is unnecessary to infill parts of the old train line to 

bring it up to street level.  For some this was in order to preserve the architecture, for others 

it was to ensure Dock Branch Park remains for pedestrians and cyclists rather than cars. 

o More leisure facilities required (3.2%).  Respondents thought it would be good to have cafés 

and coffee shops as well as children’s playgrounds in Dock Branch Park. 

 

  

Page 175



 

50 

 

Q27. Is the Birkenhead Commercial District project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 75.7% of respondents agreed that the Birkenhead Commercial District project is important 

for Birkenhead. 10.0% disagreed.  50.0% strongly agreed that the project is important, and 4.3% 

strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 21: Proportion of respondents who think that the Birkenhead Commercial District project is important 
for Birkenhead. 

 

Q27. The Birkenhead Commercial District project is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 70 50.0% 

Agree 36 25.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 20 14.3% 

Disagree 8 5.7% 

Strongly disagree 6 4.3% 

Table 21: Proportion of respondents who think that the Birkenhead Commercial District project is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

50.0%

25.7%

14.3%

5.7% 4.3%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Birkenhead Commerical District project is important 
for Birkenhead

Page 176



 

51 

 

Q28. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Birkenhead Commercial 

District project, is there anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Opportunities (14.8%).  Respondents thought that the project would create employment, 

encourage new businesses and generate money and investment. 

o Like in general (11.4%).  Respondents liked the proposal in general, with some saying that the 

project is critical to Birkenhead and will ‘save the town centre’. 

 

Negative themes: 

o Unrealistic (3.4%).  Respondents thought that the proposal was unrealistic, some said because 

of the lack of shops in Birkenhead town centre but another commented that this sort of 

development happens after the prosperity has returned, not before.  

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Office over-provision (29.5%).  Many respondents were concerned that too much office space 

will be created.  Some commented that there are already many empty offices in Birkenhead 

town centre, and others commented on the trend towards homeworking as a result of Covid-

19. 

o Architecture (8.0%).  Respondents were concerned that the architecture would be poorly 

designed and unattractive.  Some commented that the designs were bland, unimaginative and 

not aesthetically pleasing. 

  

Page 177



 

52 

 

Q29. Is the Birkenhead Landing project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 78.1% of respondents agreed that the Birkenhead Commercial District project is important 

for Birkenhead. 10.2% disagreed.  48.9% strongly agreed that the project is important, and 6.6% 

strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 22: Proportion of respondents who think that the Birkenhead Landing project is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q29. The Birkenhead Landing project is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 67 48.9% 

Agree 40 29.2% 

Neither agree nor disagree 16 11.7% 

Disagree 5 3.6% 

Strongly disagree 9 6.6% 

Table 22: Proportion of respondents who think that the Birkenhead Landing project is important for 
Birkenhead. 

  

48.9%

29.2%

11.7%

3.6%
6.6%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Birkenhead Landing project is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 178



 

53 

 

Q30. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Birkenhead Landing project, 

is there anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Flyover removal (48.4%).  Respondents agreed with the proposal to remove the flyovers, 

saying that they are unsightly and an ‘eyesore’, and their removal will help to make the town 

centre more joined up. 

o Pedestrian-friendly (6.5%).  Respondents liked that the project would make Birkenhead town 

centre more pedestrian-friendly to enable people to get around the centre on foot. 

 

Negative themes: 

o Flyover removal causing congestion (21.5%).  Respondents are concerned that removing the 

flyovers will make traffic much worse in the town centre and say that traffic calming plans are 

needed. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Access to tunnel and congestion (10.8%).  Some respondents are concerned that removing 

the flyovers will cause congestion which will then affect access to the Queensway tunnel. 

o Time to implement affecting traffic (2.2%).  Respondents were concerned that this project 

will take a long time, during which there could be traffic disruption.  

Page 179



 

54 

 

Q31. Is the East West Cultural Axis project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 88.8% of respondents agreed that the Birkenhead Commercial District project is important 

for Birkenhead. 3.7% disagreed.  55.2% strongly agreed that the project is important, and 2.2% 

strongly disagreed. 

 

Figure 23: Proportion of respondents who think that the East West Cultural Axis project is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q31. The East West Cultural Axis project is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 74 55.2% 

Agree 45 33.6% 

Neither agree nor disagree 10 7.5% 

Disagree 2 1.5% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.2% 

             Table 23: Proportion of respondents who think that the East West Cultural Axis project is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

  

55.2%

33.6%

7.5%
1.5% 2.2%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The East West Cultural Axis project is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 180



 

55 

 

Q32. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the East West Cultural Axis 

project, is there anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Connectivity (25.7%).  Many respondents commented that the project will help to link up the 

different parts of Birkenhead, including Hamilton Square and the Waterfront.  

o Pedestrian friendly (14.9%).  The project will be pedestrian friendly and will enable and 

encourage people to walk around Birkenhead. 

o Like in general (13.5%).  Respondents like the project in general, saying that it is great and 

important. 

o Active travel (5.4%).  Respondents liked the fact that the project will encourage people to 

exercise as they travel. 

 

Negative themes: 

o Unnecessary (6.8%).   The areas are already well joined up and it is not necessary to join the 

different areas up. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Hamilton Square (8.1%).  Some respondents thought that Hamilton Square had been 

overlooked, while others gave suggestions about how it should be improved, such as 

returning to the original layout or transforming to a cultural space. 

o Antisocial behaviour and crime (6.8%).  Respondents commented that the route must be well 

lit and feel safe, particularly at night. 

  

Page 181



 

56 

 

Q33. Is the Woodside Gyratory project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 74.3% of respondents agreed that the Woodside Gyratory project is important for 

Birkenhead. 8.1% disagreed.  45.6% strongly agreed that the project is important, and 3.7% strongly 

disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 24: Proportion of respondents who think that the Woodside Gyratory project is important for 
Birkenhead. 

 

Q33. The Woodside Gyratory Project is important for Birkenhead:  Number % 

Strongly agree 62 45.6% 

Agree 39 28.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 24 17.6% 

Disagree 6 4.4% 

Strongly disagree 5 3.7% 

Table 24: Proportion of respondents who think that the Woodside Gyratory project is important for Birkenhead. 

  

45.6%

28.7%

17.6%

4.4% 3.7%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Woodside Gyratory project is important for 
Birkenhead

Page 182



 

57 

 

Q34. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Woodside Gyratory project, is 

there anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Transport connectivity (18.9%).  Respondents liked the fact that travel connectivity would be 

improved, and the different modes of public transport would link up. 

o Revitalise unused land (9.5%).  The land is currently unused and looks derelict so revitalising it 

would be an improvement. 

o Iconic gateway (8.1%).  Respondents think that this area could be an iconic gateway, a ‘jewel 

in the crown’, making good use of the waterfront location. 

o In general (6.8%).  Respondents commented positively about removing the gyratory in order 

to improve the area. 

 

Negative themes: 

o Unnecessary (8.1%).  Respondents felt that the transport to the area including the bus 

interchange is already good and these proposals would not improve the area. 

o Unclear (5.4%).  Respondents felt that it is not clear exactly what is being proposed in this 

project. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o There were other comments and concerns (23%), but they were all varied with no common 

themes emerging. 

  

Page 183



 

58 

 

Q35. Is the Mass Transit project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 86.3% of respondents agreed that the Heat Network project is important for Birkenhead. 

7.9% disagreed.  58.3% strongly agreed that the project is important, 2.9% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 25: Proportion of respondents who think that the Mass Transit project is important for Birkenhead. 

 

Q35. The Mass Transit project is important for Birkenhead: Number % 

Strongly agree 81 58.3% 

Agree 39 28.1% 

Neither agree nor disagree 8 5.8% 

Disagree 7 5.0% 

Strongly disagree 4 2.9% 

Table 25: Proportion of respondents who think that the Mass Transit project is important for Birkenhead. 

 

 

  

58.3%

28.1%

5.8% 5.0% 2.9%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Mass Transit project is important for Birkenhead

Page 184



 

59 

 

Q36. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Mass Transit project, is there 

anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (17.6%).  Respondents said that the improved transport was vital to help 

regeneration and making sure all places are served by public transport. 

o Transport connectivity (14.1%).  Respondents like the fact that Wirral Waters would have 

improved transport connectivity to the rest of the town and further afield. 

o Trams (12.9%).  Respondents thought it was a good idea to have a tram system for transport 

around Birkenhead. 

o Car-free focus (7.1%).  Respondents liked the fact that the plan will discourage people from 

using cars, for environmental reasons. 

 

Negative themes: 

o Unnecessary (7.1%).  Respondents felt that Birkenhead is already well served for public 

transport, with some saying that improvements in public transport should be to other parts of 

the Wirral rather than just within Birkenhead. 

o Not detailed enough (5.9%).  Respondents felt the proposals are not detailed enough or clear 

enough for them to comment on. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Accessibility (3.5%).  Respondents commented that the Mass Transit system must be 

accessible to all, including people with disabilities. 

o Wirral Water Centric (3.5%).  Respondents felt that the Mass Transit system should spread 

further than just Wirral Waters. 

o Public transport for West Wirral (3.5%).  Some respondents felt that rather than improving 

the public transport links in Birkenhead, that the focus should be one West Wirral including 

Heswall. 

  

Page 185



 

60 

 

Q37. Is the Heat Network project important for Birkenhead? 

 

Overall, 81.3% of respondents agreed that the Heat Network project is important for Birkenhead. 

5.8% disagreed.  49.6% strongly agreed that the project is important, 2.9% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 26: Proportion of respondents who think that the Heat Network project is important for Birkenhead. 

 

Q37. The Heat Network Project is important for Birkenhead:  Number % 

Strongly agree 69 49.6% 

Agree 44 31.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 18 12.9% 

Disagree 4 2.9% 

Strongly disagree 4 2.9% 

Table 26: Proportion of respondents who think that the Heat Network project is important for Birkenhead. 

  

49.6%

31.7%

12.9%

2.9% 2.9%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

The Heat Network project is important for Birkenhead

Page 186



 

61 

 

Q38. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the Heat Network project, is there 

anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Sustainable Energy (70.9%).  Respondents thought this project was ‘fantastic’ and ‘brilliant’, 

with many commenting on how it is essential for the future. 

 

Negative themes: 

o Unachievable (10.1%).  Some respondents felt that this objective was unachievable and that it 

may not be viable long term because technologies will change over time. 

o Unaffordable (6.3%).  Respondents thought that the costs of building the heat network could 

be prohibitive. 

o Not detailed enough (5.1%).  Respondents felt there was not enough detail, or that they did 

not know enough about the technologies to be able to comment. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Zero carbon (6.3%).  Respondents felt that this project should be zero-carbon rather than low 

carbon. 

o Excludes existing residents (6.3%).  Respondents were concerned that only new 

developments would be able to tap into the Heat Network and that there may be challenges 

with linking older buildings to the network. 

 

 

  

Page 187



 

62 

 

3.1d Neighbourhoods 

Q39. Do you agree with the proposals for Central Birkenhead? 

 

A total of 81.6% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Central Birkenhead, and 8.8% 

disagreed.  50.7% strongly agreed with the vision and 2.9% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Table 27: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Central Birkenhead. 

 

Q39. Do you agree with the proposals for Central Birkenhead? Number % 

Strongly agree 69 50.7% 

Agree 42 30.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 13 9.6% 

Disagree 8 5.9% 

Strongly disagree 4 2.9% 

Table 28: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Central Birkenhead. 

Q40. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Central 

Birkenhead and is there anything missing? 

 

Please note: many comments contained multiple themes so the figures will not add up to 100%, nor 

will they match the figures in the previous question.   

 

Positive themes:  

o Like in general (14.1%).  Regeneration is badly needed, and long overdue. 

50.7%

30.9%

9.6%
5.9%

2.9%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Central Birkenhead Proposals

Page 188



 

63 

 

o Birkenhead as a pleasant place to visit (12.5%). Proposals will create a more pleasant 

environment in Birkenhead, including green spaces and tree planting, which will attract new 

visitors and tourists. 

o Economic Regeneration (10.9%). Approval of the creation of employment and opportunities 

including retaining local skills. The potential for the attraction of capital and investment.   

Negative themes:  

o Urban design (10.9%). Urban design is poor quality with unattractive and unimaginative 

architecture.  High rise buildings over four storeys should not be in the proposal. 

o Undeliverable and/or over-ambitious (6.3%). The proposal is too ambitious and may be 

undeliverable.  Comments that the proposal lacks sufficient detail as to how it will be 

achieved. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Generative Economy (9.4%). Comments that the economy here must be generative to the 

local area and include smaller local businesses. 

o Anti-social behaviour (ASB) and crime (7.8%). Concerns raised that existing problems with 

ASB and crime might cause the proposal to fail.  Worries that the area may feel unsafe, and 

that the issues need to be addressed and safeguards put in place. 

o Parking (7.8%). Several comments that parking should be free of charge to attract visitors.  

Conflicting comments, to a lesser extent, that parking should be limited to encourage the use 

of alternative forms of travel. 

o Travel & Transport (6.3%). Connectivity to and from Central Birkenhead must be improved in 

terms of public transport, pedestrians, cyclists, and cars alike. 

  

Page 189



 

64 

 

Q41. Do you agree with the proposals for Birkenhead's Waterfront? 

 

A total of 89.6% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Birkenhead's Waterfront, and 3.7% 

disagreed.  63.0% strongly agreed with the vision and 2.2% strongly disagreed. 

 

Table 29: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Birkenhead’s Waterfront. 

 

Q41. Do you agree with the proposals for Birkenhead's Waterfront? Number % 

Strongly agree 85 63.0% 

Agree 36 26.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 6.7% 

Disagree 2 1.5% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.2% 

Table 30: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Birkenhead’s Waterfront. 

  

63.0%

26.7%

6.7%
1.5% 2.2%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Birkenhead's Waterfront Proposals

Page 190



 

65 

 

Q42. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Birkenhead’s 

Waterfront and is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes:  

o Realising the potential of the area & capitalising on waterfront views (27.6%). Enthusiasm 

that the potential of the waterfront to be a valuable asset to Birkenhead will be realised. 

o Attract Visitors (21.1%). Approval of Birkenhead’s Waterfront becoming a destination in itself, 

with a pleasant environment, including green spaces, and things to do when there. 

o Like in general (13.2%). Approval of the proposal in general, that it will have a positive impact. 

o Leisure & cultural attractions (10.5%). Support for the widening of leisure and culture 

attractions to the area, including cafés & restaurants and cultural venues.  Some comments 

that the evening economy is important, and that an appropriate and safe nightlife would be 

welcome. 

o Transport (7.9%). Positive reaction to the proposals around improved transport connectivity 

and pedestrian friendliness.  Comments that active travel should be encouraged, and a 

suggestion to re-instate trams as mass transit. 

 

Negative themes 

o Urban design (7.9%). Urban design is poor quality with unattractive and unimaginative 

architecture.  There are too many high-rise buildings over four storeys in the proposal. 

o Unambitious (3.9%). The proposal is of too small a scale, we need to ‘think big’ and look to 

large cities for inspiration. 

 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Competition from Liverpool (5.3%). Birkenhead should not try to compete with Liverpool, but 

instead should complement/connect to Liverpool’s waterfront, but offer a unique selling point 

(USP) of its own.  

Page 191



 

66 

 

Q43. Do you agree with the proposals for Hind Street? 

 

A total of 85.8% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Birkenhead's Waterfront, and 4.5% 

disagreed.  53.7% strongly agreed with the vision and 2.2% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 27: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Hind Street. 

 

Q43. Do you agree with the proposals for Hind Street? Number % 

Strongly agree 72 53.7% 

Agree 43 32.1% 

Neither agree nor disagree 13 9.7% 

Disagree 3 2.2% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.2% 

Table 31: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Hind Street. 

 

Q44. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Hind Street and 

is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes:  

o Housing (17.8%). Approval of the introduction of more housing, particularly affordable 

housing. 

o Attractive local environment (9.6%). Proposals will create a more attractive local 

environment, including more green spaces, which will result in a better quality of life and 

attract new residents to the area. 

53.7%

32.1%

9.7%

2.2% 2.2%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Hind Street Proposals

Page 192



 

67 

 

o Like in general (6.8%). Necessary and a sensible use of land. 

o Environmental benefits (5.5%). Proposals for car free areas were welcomed, as was the use of 

brownfield land over green belt. 

Negative themes 

o Housing (6.8%). Concerns that housing proposals favour high-density over high quality, and 

that problems may arise from it being socially mixed housing.  

o Low Carbon vs carbon-zero ambition (6.8%). We should be aiming for carbon-zero 

development; low carbon is not ambitious enough. 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Design & architecture (11%). Comments that the urban design and architecture must be of 

high quality and attractive for the proposal to be successful. 

o Removal of flyovers (9.6%). Whilst generally in favour of flyover removal, there is concern 

about potential resulting congestion. Most comments highlight the need to adequately 

address this before going ahead. 

  

Page 193



 

68 

 

Q45. Do you agree with the proposals for Wirral Waters and Portside? 

 

A total of 86.4% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Wirral Waters and Portside, and 3.0% 

disagreed.  52.3% strongly agreed with the vision and 3.0% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 28: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Wirral Waters and Portside. 

 

Q45. Do you agree with the proposals for Wirral Waters and Portside? Number % 

Strongly agree 69 52.3% 

Agree 45 34.1% 

Neither agree nor disagree 14 10.6% 

Disagree 0 0.0% 

Strongly disagree 4 3.0% 

Table 32: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Wirral Waters and Portside. 

 

Q46. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Wirral Waters 

and Portside, and is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes:  

o Maintain working port (9.4%). Support for maintaining the working port at the location. 

o Economic benefits (7.5%). The creation of local employment and the attraction of capital and 

investment to the area.  

o In general (7.5%). positive general comments in favour of the proposal. 

o Building stock (5.7%). In favour of the use of mid-rise buildings here. 

52.3%

34.1%

10.6%

0.0%
3.0%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Wirral Waters & Portside Proposals

Page 194



 

69 

 

o Area Profile (5.7%). In favour of the area profile becoming mixed use and including housing 

and leisure in addition to its predominantly industrial profile now. 

Negative themes 

o High rise tower building (13.2%). Many have reservations about the proposed 50 storey glass 

tower, it is too tall, blocks the view to the Welsh hills and creates an eyesore on the skyline. 

o Unattractive environment (5.7%). There is not enough green space and greenery, and the 

areas appearance is unattractive and lacks character. 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Deliverability (15.1%). There are concerns about how realistic and deliverable the proposal is, 

given the existing delays.  There is a decline in confidence in the developers attached to this 

project that they are able to deliver it.  

  

Page 195



 

70 

 

Q47. Do you agree with the proposals for Hamilton Park? 

 

A total of 83.0% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Hamilton Park, and 2.2% disagreed.  

45.2% strongly agreed with the vision and 2.2% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 29: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Hamilton Park. 

 

Q47. Do you agree with the proposals for Hamilton Park? Number % 

Strongly agree 61 45.2% 

Agree 51 37.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 20 14.8% 

Disagree 0 0.0% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.2% 

Table 33: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Hamilton Park. 

Q48. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Hamilton Park, 

and is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes 

o Housing (26.4%). Understanding for the requirement for more housing, and for affordable 

housing in this area.  Housing should be mixed tenure (owners and renters) to be accessible to 

more people. 

o In general (15.1%). Recognition that this area would benefit from regeneration and 

investment. 

o Design and architecture (7.5%). The requirement for high quality, well designed development. 

o Travel and transport (7.5%). Support for the pedestrian only/car free areas. 

45.2%

37.8%

14.8%

0.0%
2.2%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Hamilton Park Proposals

Page 196



 

71 

 

Negative themes 

o Housing (7.5%). Concerns that the development appears that it may be too high density and 

too low quality.  Concerns about a socially mixed housing profile, and the effect that new 

housing development might have on the value existing homes. 

o Attractive environment (5.7%). There is not enough greenery and green space in this 

proposal, the area is not attractive. 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Design & architecture (11.3%). Comments that the urban design and architecture must be of 

high quality and attractive for the proposal to be successful. 

o Anti-social behaviour (ASB) and crime – (7.5%). Concerns raised that existing problems with 

ASB and crime might cause the proposal to fail.  Worries that the area may feel unsafe, and 

attractive areas and building will quickly decline. 

  

Page 197



 

72 

 

Q49. Do you agree with the proposals for Scotts Quay? 

 

A total of 78.5% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Scotts Quay, and 6.7% disagreed.  

37.0% strongly agreed with the vision and 2.2% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 30: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Scotts Quay. 

 

Q49. Do you agree with the proposals for Scotts Quay? Number % 

Strongly agree 50 37.0% 

Agree 56 41.5% 

Neither agree nor disagree 20 14.8% 

Disagree 6 4.4% 

Strongly disagree 3 2.2% 

Table 34: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Scotts Quay. 

Q50. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Scotts Quay, 

and is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes 

o Housing (12.8%). Support for a residential waterfront here, and for more affordable housing. 

o Transport (7.7%). the focus on active travel and ‘people friendly’ roads. 

o Economic Benefits (7.7%). The creation of local jobs and opportunities.  

Negative Themes 

37.0%

41.5%

14.8%

4.4%
2.2%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Scotts Quay Proposals

Page 198



 

73 

 

o Proposal unclear (12.8%). There is too much jargon and marketing speak used in this 

proposal, and not enough clear details about what is being proposed and how it will be 

achieved. 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Transport (12.8%). Concerns that transport connectivity to other areas is insufficient, and that 

car users are excluded. 

o Housing (5.1%). Concern that there will be an over-provision of housing in this area, and that 

problems may arise from socially mixed housing. 

  

Page 199



 

74 

 

Q51. Do you agree with the proposals for Seacombe Riverside Corridor? 

 

A total of 80.0% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Seacombe Riverside Corridor, and 3.7% 

disagreed.  42.2% strongly agreed with the vision and 1.5% strongly disagreed. 

 

 

Figure 31: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Seacombe Riverside Corridor. 

 

Q51. Do you agree with the proposals for Seacombe Riverside Corridor? Number % 

Strongly agree 57 42.2% 

Agree 51 37.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 22 16.3% 

Disagree 3 2.2% 

Strongly disagree 2 1.5% 

Table 35: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Seacombe Riverside Corridor.  

Q52. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Seacombe 

Riverside, and is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes: 

o Like in general (16.7%). Investment and regeneration in this area is ‘desperately needed’.  

o Seacombe as a destination (11.9%). Creating an attractive and pleasant environment in this 

area will generate pride in the area, encourage tourism and make Seacombe Riverside a place 

that people want to visit. 

o Active Travel (9.5%). The focus on active travel is supported. 

o EUREKA! Mersey (7.1%). Enthusiasm for this attraction. 

Negative themes: 

42.2%

37.8%

16.3%

2.2% 1.5%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Seacombe Riverside Corridor Proposals

Page 200



 

75 

 

o Housing (7.1%). There is an over-provision of housing in this proposal and not enough space 

to accommodate it. 

o Proposal unclear (7.1%). The proposal is not detailed enough and unclear what it means in 

practice. 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Wallasey Town Hall (19%). Wirral’s civic centre should be transferred to Birkenhead Town 

Hall and the Wallasey building transformed into an iconic functional building, perhaps a hotel. 

o Transport (9.5%). Concerns about potential congestion arising from extra visitors attracted to 

the area, including pedestrians and cyclist on the prom. 

  

Page 201



 

76 

 

Q51. Do you agree with the proposals for Northside? 

 

A total of 80.6% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Northside, and 3.9% disagreed.  40.3% 

strongly agreed with the vision and 1.6% strongly disagreed. 

 

Figure 32: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Northside. 

Q53. Do you agree with the proposals for Northside? Number % 

Strongly agree 52 40.3% 

Agree 52 40.3% 

Neither agree nor disagree 20 15.5% 

Disagree 3 2.3% 

Strongly disagree 2 1.6% 

Table 36: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Northside. 

Q54. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Northside, and 

is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes: 

o Economic benefits (13.6%). This proposal will attract new businesses to the area, create local 

employment and generate investment. 

o Like in general (11.4%), realising potential of the area (6.8%). This area needs 

redevelopment, and it will be good to see the potential of the area being realised.  

o Commercial accommodation (6.8%). The provision of suitable commercial accommodation 

would retain local businesses and attract new businesses. 

Negative themes: 

40.3% 40.3%

15.5%

2.3% 1.6%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Northside Proposals

Page 202



 

77 

 

o Proposal unclear (7.1%). The proposal is not detailed enough and seems less robust than 

some of the other proposals in the Framework. 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Transport (11.4%). Concerns that there is insufficient transport connectivity to the area, 

suggestions for a tram link, water taxi and the removal of the tunnel tolls. 

o Housing (6.8%). Concern that housing in this area would be incompatible with 

commercial/industrial use. Suggestion that the housing should be freehold and socially mixed. 

  

Page 203



 

78 

 

Q55. Do you agree with the proposals for Bidston Moss and Docks? 

 

A total of 90.3% of respondents agreed with the proposals for Bidston Moss and Docks, and 2.2% 

disagreed.  54.5% strongly agreed with the vision and 1.5% strongly disagreed. 

 

Figure 33: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Bidston Moss and Docks. 

Q55. Do you agree with the proposals for Bidston Moss and Dock? Number % 

Strongly agree 73 54.5% 

Agree 48 35.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 10 7.5% 

Disagree 1 0.7% 

Strongly disagree 2 1.5% 

Table 37: Proportion of respondents who agree with the proposals for Bidston Moss and Docks. 

Q56. Can you tell us what you like or don't like about the proposals for Bidston Moss & 

Docks, and is there anything missing? 

 

Positive themes: 

o Leisure Provision (31.9%). The idea of the provision of leisure facilities here is welcomed, 

including the proposal for an adventure park.  Other leisure facilities mentioned are a bike 

park, fishing and a stadium, as well as accompanying facilities such as cafés and toilets. 

o Green Space (27.7%). Enthusiasm for bringing this green space back in to wider use, that it is 

well designed, maintained, safe and usable for all. 

o Reaching the potential of the area (14.9%). This area has enormous potential and is currently 

under-used and ‘wasted’.  Support for bringing this area back in to use. 

Negative themes: 

54.5%

35.8%

7.5%

0.7% 1.5%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree Strongly
disagree

Bidston Moss & Docks Proposals

Page 204



 

79 

 

o Proposal unclear/unachievable (6.4%). The proposal is not detailed enough and lacks clarity 

on how it will be achieved. 

Other comments and concerns: 

o Transport connectivity (14.9%). Currently this area is difficult to access on foot, bike or by 

bus, and there is little parking; people do not know how to get there.  The success of the 

proposal depends on these issues being addressed. 

o Preservation of wildlife (8.5%). The wildlife in this area must be preserved alongside any 

development. A nature study centre and rewilded areas are also suggested. 

o Anti-social behaviour (ASB) and crime (6.4%). Concerns raised that existing problems with 

ASB and crime will cause this area to be unsafe to use. 

 

 

  

Page 205



 

80 

 

3.2 Places Tool Responses 

Users were invited to place pins on a map show where they believe Birkenhead’s assets are, as well 

as areas that could benefit from change or that present opportunities.  Users could choose to add 

one or more pins for each category (Asset, Change, Opportunity), and had the option to add a 

comment associated to each pin. 

A total of 55 people contributed to the Places tool, between them making 271 submissions. 

Assets 

68 ‘Asset’ pins were placed on the map, highlighting where users believe Birkenhead’s assets to be. 

 

Figure 34: Word cloud of assets identified using the Places tool. 

The top assets highlighted were Birkenhead Park (14.7%), Birkenhead Priory (8.8%) and Infrastructure 

associated with the Queensway Tunnel (8.8%). 

 

        Figure 35: Top identified assets using the Places tool.  

 

14.7%

8.8%

8.8%

4.4%

2.9%

2.9%

2.9%

2.9%

Birkenhead Park

Birkenhead Priory

Tunnel infrastructure

Woodside Ferry

Wirral Transport Museum

The Future Yard

The One O' Clock Gun

Hamilton Square

Place tool - top identified assets

Page 206



 

81 

 

Asset Number of pins % 

Birkenhead Park 10 14.7% 

Birkenhead Priory 6 8.8% 

Tunnel infrastructure 6 8.8% 

Woodside Ferry 3 4.4% 

Wirral Transport Museum 2 2.9% 

The Future Yard 2 2.9% 

The One O' Clock Gun 2 2.9% 

Hamilton Square 2 2.9% 

  Table 38: Top identified assets using the Places tool. 

• Birkenhead Park – 14.7% of pins.  As well as the park in general, the gates, Swiss Bridge, 

boathouse, visitors centre and the architecture surrounding the park were specifically 

mentioned. 

• Birkenhead Priory – 8.8%.  Comments highlighted the value of the Priory as a creative, 

cultural, and social space, as well as its history and status as the oldest building in Merseyside. 

• Queensway Tunnel Infrastructure – 8.8% The Dock Branch tunnel exit and the ventilation 

towers were both mentioned multiple times as being assets for their respective architectural 

value. 

  

Page 207



 

82 

 

Change 

Respondents were able to place ‘Change’ pins to indicate areas that they believed needed change, 

and to comment on what those changes should be.  

90 ‘Change’ pins were placed on the map, which have been aligned with the Framework’s 

Neighbourhoods (Section 3.1d).  

The neighbourhoods where most pins were placed were Birkenhead’s Waterfront (33.3%) and 

Central Birkenhead (30%). 

 

       Figure 36: Change - themed comments by Neighbourhood 

Row Labels Count of themes % 

Birkenhead's Waterfront 30 33.3% 

Central Birkenhead 27 30.0% 

Wirral Waters & Portside 9 10.0% 

Seacombe Riverside Corridor 8 8.9% 

Bidston Moss & Dock 6 6.7% 

Hind Street Urban Village 5 5.6% 

Hamilton Park 4 4.4% 

Cycle Infrastructure 2 2.2% 

Tranmere 2 2.2% 

Birkenhead Park 1 1.1% 

Northside 1 1.1% 

           Table 39: Change - themed comments by Neighbourhood 

Where there are several comments relating to a particular area, these have been summarised below. 

• Birkenhead’s Waterfront (33.3%)   

o Docks – Make the area more attractive to travel to and through by repairing and 

maintaining historic bridges and improving lighting.  Use closed bins to mitigate litter 

33.3%

30.0%

10.0%

8.9%

6.7%

5.6%

4.4%

2.2%

2.2%

1.1%

1.1%

Birkenhead's Waterfront

Central Birkenhead

Wirral Waters & Portside

Seacombe Riverside Corridor

Bidston Moss & Dock

Hind Street Urban Village

Hamilton Park

Cycle Infrastructure

Tranmere

Birkenhead Park

Northside

Change - themed comments by Neighbourhood

Page 208



 

83 

 

being blown.  Have a pedestrian/cyclist-only bridge and improve pedestrian/cyclist 

connectivity to central Birkenhead.  Introduce a skate/bike park to the area. 

o Woodside Ferry and surrounding area – Draw more visitors to the area by upgrading 

the bus station into a Transport Hub and providing more, and free, parking.  Promote 

the businesses in the area more widely and re-open the Pump House as an attraction.  

Locate a hotel here and build high-rise buildings to capitalise on the view. 

o Chester Street – Make this area more pedestrian friendly and improve pedestrian links 

into central Birkenhead.  Introduce traffic calming measures and more resident-only 

and disabled parking provision. 

• Central Birkenhead (30%) 

o Pyramids & Grange Road precinct – Change the primary use of the area to residential, 

demolish the Pyramids and convert the building previously occupied by Beatties into 

housing.  Obtain compulsory purchase orders (CPOs) on derelict building for the same.  

Make the precinct more attractive to visit by introducing more greenery to the area 

and making the Charing Cross end more pedestrian friendly, particularly in connecting 

to Oxton Road.  Encourage more independent, smaller businesses to the area. 

o Hamilton Square – Restore the square to its historic layout and restore historic street 

furniture e.g. lamp posts.  Utilise tree preservation orders (TPOs) here and introduce a 

moratorium on residential conversions, address residential bin storage issues causing 

an eyesore. Improve accessibility at the square. 

• Wirral Waters & Portside (10%) 

o Duke Street – the bridge is too narrow, and the lighting is inadequate. 

o Old Gorsey Lane - requires resurfacing and the lighting is inadequate. 

o Tower Road – requires better cyclist provision and more bus stops. 

• Seacombe River Corridor (8.9%) 

o Promenade – Improve the surface for recreation; the cobbles around Seacombe Ferry 

are not cyclist friendly.  Remove the breakers to allow a beach to form and provide 

more resident-only and disabled parking. 

o Brighton Street/Borough Road junction - Instate traffic calming measures and 

resident-only parking here and convert the derelict land near to the social club into a 

community event space. 

• Bidston Moss and Dock (6.7%) 

o Junction – Poulton Bridge Road - Too congested and difficult to navigate by bike or 

foot. This needs to be higher capacity and include pedestrian and cyclist access.  The 

entrance to the tip should be opened to mitigate congestion. 

Page 209



 

84 

 

o Bidston Moss – Inadequate lighting and the fact that the cycle loop is often flooded 

make this place unsafe; these need addressing.  The area could benefit from a BMX 

track. 

• Hind Street Urban Village (5.6%) 

o Rock Retail Park – encourage use on foot by improving pedestrian access and lighting 

at the rear.  Improve attractiveness with more greenery and demolish the old Hotel 

California building (eyesore). 

• Hamilton Park (4.4%) 

o Historic buildings in this area are under or improperly utilised. Develop the derelict 

church and use the John Laird Centre as an arts hub.  Change the profile of Corporation 

Road to accommodate cultural venues and office space. Improve pedestrian crossing 

provision at Duke Street & Cleveland Street. 

• Northside (1.1%) 

o Improve pedestrian and cycle links to Seacombe. 

  

Page 210



 

85 

 

Opportunities 

Respondents were able to place ‘Opportunity’ pins to indicate areas that they believed presented an 

opportunity, and to comment on what they believed the opportunity to be.  

113 ‘Opportunity’ pins were placed on the map, which have been aligned with the Framework’s 

Neighbourhoods (Section 3.1d).  

The neighbourhoods where most pins were placed were Central Birkenhead (29.2%) and 

Birkenhead’s Waterfront (24.8%). 

 

Figure 37: Opportunities - themed comment by neighbourhood 

Where there are several comments relating to a particular area, these have been summarised below. 

• Central Birkenhead (29.2%) 

o Borough Pavement/Grange Road Precinct/Pyramids – Downsize this commercial 

area, perhaps getting rid of Borough Pavement and the Grange Road Precinct 

altogether.  Focus on attracting smaller, independent businesses and create an 

‘international quarter’ on Oxton Road, whilst making this road greener and more 

attractive.   

o Dock Branch Park catalyst project – Comments were supportive regarding this and 

highlighted opportunities for it to include open air dining, pop up cafés and cycle hire.  

The need for this to be accessible to all was highlighted, with the suggestion of solar 

powered lifts, and the necessity for public toilets.  The opportunity to link the Dock 

Branch Park to Tower Road and the old Birkenhead Station were also raised. 

29.2%

24.8%

6.2%

5.3%

4.4%

4.4%

4.4%

2.7%

1.8%

0.9%

0.9%

Central Birkenhead

Birkenhead's Waterfront

Wirral Waters & Portside

Hamilton Park

Birkenhead park

Seacombe Riverside Corridor

Bidston Moss & Dock

Williamson Art Gallery

Hind Street Urban Village

Northside

Scotts Quay

Opportunities - themed comments by Neighbourhood

Page 211



 

86 

 

o Hamilton Square – Suggestions that Hamilton Square emulate Hope Street in 

Liverpool, with a mixture of high-end dining, smaller independent shops and cafés and 

a pop-up market.  Pedestrianising the square and restoring the historical layout and 

street furniture would further encourage this.  Redevelop the nearby Treasury Building 

into housing. 

o Europa Boulevard & Europa Pools – retain Europa Pools perhaps as a hydrotherapy 

suite.  Convert the Vue cinema site into a soft play facility and create a wildflower 

meadow on the Boulevard.  Improve pedestrian connectivity from Europa Boulevard to 

Conway Street. 

o Market Street – Pedestrianise and emulate Lark Lane in Liverpool with independent 

cafés and shops. 

• Birkenhead’s Waterfront – (24.8%) 

o Woodside Ferry – Create attractions here to encourage visitors and capitalise on the 

waterfront views.  Opportunities include creating an arts hub and event space, 

reopening the Pump House, a drive-in cinema and providing a range of dining choices.  

Attractive green spaces and a water taxi and/or weekend ferry shuttle might also draw 

visitors, including from Liverpool.  The need for an iconic gateway/structure here may 

solidify the area as a destination. 

Multi-storey buildings or apartment blocks are suggested to take advantage of the 

views, as well as viewing platform and/or dining room at the top of the tunnel 

ventilation towers. 

o Priory Wharf – Multiple pins offering support for a waterside park here, possible 

featuring dining, an outdoor event space and a skate park. 

o Egerton & Morpeth docks – Multiple pins offering support for a water sports centre 

here and other activities such as tightrope walking. Landscaping to make the area 

more attractive and multi-storey building to capitalise on the view.  The opportunity 

for a cruise liner terminal is highlighted here.  It is noted that smell from the sewage 

works here is off-putting and should be mitigated. 

• Wirral Waters and Portside (6.2%) 

o Encourage active travel and active leisure with a cycle path around the docks, 

improved pedestrian access and a skate/bike park.  There is an opportunity to connect 

to the area via tram or light rail. 

• Hamilton Park (5.3%) 

o Improve the pedestrian and cyclist experience by improving layout and providing more 

greenery around the streets, including tree-planting.  Encourage street art on 

Cleveland Street to enhance the area. 

o Create an arts hub at the John Laird Centre. 

Page 212



 

87 

 

• Birkenhead Park (4.4%) 

o Create a bike-park and host more sporting events.  Utilise the Visitor Centre for events. 

o Create more playgrounds/play areas. 

o Close Ashville Road to vehicles. 

• Seacombe Riverside Corridor (4.4%) 

o Egremont Promenade – Encourage visitors by building a pier over the breakers, create 

a children’s playground and provide a facility for pop-up businesses.  Add cultural 

attractions such as a historic walking tour. 

• Bidston Moss & Dock (4.4%) 

o Encourage leisure use by improving pedestrian and cyclist facilities; create a cycle 

route on the disused rail line.  Create a skate park under the flyover. Consider a live 

music and sport venue here. 

• Williamson Art Gallery (2.7%) 

o This should be regenerated, perhaps as an arts village. 

• Hind Street Urban Village (1.8%) 

o Improve pedestrian and cycle access to and from Birkenhead Central Station. 

o Create a wildflower meadow behind Rock Retail Park. 

• Northside (0.9%) - Create improved pedestrian and cycle links to Seacombe. 

• Scotts Quay (0.9%) – Refurbish Wheatland Lane terraced housing in the style of Liverpool’s 

Welsh Streets, or Chimney Pot Park at Salford Quay. 

  

Page 213



 

88 

 

3.3 Ideas Board Responses 

20 contributors submitted 30 ideas to the ideas board tool other visitors to the board were able to 

‘vote’ for ideas that they liked. 

The 2 most popular ideas, that received the most ‘votes’ were: 

And 

 

Whilst each idea was unique, there were some common themes between them, which have been 

categorised and outlined below: 

Transport ideas x6 (20%) of the ideas related to transport.  

o Tunnel Two people suggested that cyclists be allowed to use the Queensway tunnel either 

after a certain time or by opening the channel underneath the tunnel originally intended for 

trams.  Other suggestions relating to the tunnel were to allow only electric vehicles to use the 

tunnel, and the removal of toll booths and introduction of ANPR toll payment instead. 

o Trams Two people suggested that a tram line be re-introduced in Birkenhead, perhaps linked 

to the Wirral Transport Museum. 

o Other transport related ideas were to build a bridge across the River Mersey, and to introduce 

free public transport for Wirral residents. 

Leisure ideas x5 (16.7%) of the ideas related to leisure. 

o Arts & culture Three people made suggestions centred around museums and art galleries, 

these being that there should be dedicated Cammell Lairds Museum, that the Shore Road 

Pumping Station Museum be re-opened, and that Williamson Art Gallery be ‘reinvigorated’.  

o Other leisure related ideas were to create a boating lake in Birkenhead Park, and instate a 

BMX/bike park in Birkenhead. 

Generative economy ideas x3 (10%) of the ideas related to creating a generative economy. 

“The Docklands area from Bidston to the Four Bridges should emulate what the Dutch have 

done with waterside apartments and cafés.” 3 votes 

 

“A Cammell Lairds shipbuilding museum should be built at Woodside to rival Dublin’s Titanic 

exhibition. Site: Where [redacted – private business] is now. 

It should be interactive and should highlight the famous ships built at Cammell Lairds.” 3 votes 

 

 

Page 214



 

89 

 

o Three people suggested using smaller, local businesses including for construction relating to 

the 2040 Framework.  Larger national retailers should be confined to out-of-town retail parks.   

‘Repair cafés and community swap centres established. 

3.4 Additional responses 

Eighteen email comments were received, ten of which were broadly positive, three of which were 

neutral and two of which were broadly negative.  Responses have been examined and key themes 

have been identified; these are not dissimilar to those emerging from the online survey. 

o Transport x7 (41.2%) – Trams or similar mass transit should be introduced. Support for 

increased transport connectivity, like the Woodside Gyratory. Greener modes of transport are 

welcomed.  Visual examples of how streetscapes incorporating active travel would look would 

be useful. 

The grid layout and wide street of Central Birkenhead lends itself to creating a design that 

makes walking and cycling a natural choice; we should take this opportunity to become an 

exemplar.  

Birkenhead Central station should be well connected to active travel networks. 

o Housing x5 (29.4%) – Housing should be affordable, and gentrification should be avoided. 

Mixed of residential/commercial areas are welcomed. Communal areas/central space should 

be traffic-free. 

o Environmental sustainability x3 (17.6%) – low and zero carbon ambition is encouraged.  It is 

noted that it would be advised that any development adhere to the most stringent standards 

to avoid having to retrofit in future, pending updated legislation. 

o Economic benefits x3 (17.6%) – The economic benefits of the Framework are recognised, and 

Birkenhead must foster a generative economy, including local businesses that add social 

value, offer apprenticeships and employ local people. 

3.5 Stakeholder Events Feedback 

Twelve Stakeholder forums were held between 14/04 – 25/05/2021, which gathered feedback from 

various groups regarding the 2040 Framework proposals.  Comments were recorded from the events, 

and examined for common themes, which are outlined here, by forum. 

14/04/2021 BAME (Black, Asian and minority ethnic) subgroup 

Feedback focused on the significant BAME communities in Birkenhead and that development of 

regeneration projects should always be inclusive. Projects should consider the needs of BAME 

communities but also the significant contribution that BAME communities and individuals can make 

to the regeneration of Birkenhead.  Ensure that established groups are consulted and engaged 

throughout all stages of the development. 

 

Page 215



 

90 

 

26/04/2021 Young Peoples Advisory Group 

Accessibility must be at the forefront of any proposals, including accessible housing, green space, and 

the waterfront. 

Engagement must involve young people, and must happen before, not after, decisions are made.  

They would like to be involved in the design. 

General positive comments about the Framework and that the plans were really exciting for 

Birkenhead.  

26/04/2021 Community of Practice 

Concern that Central Birkenhead will become deserted if buildings are demolished before new 

developments are in place. 

General positive comments about the Framework.  

05/05/2021 Wirral Chamber Construction Forum 

General positive feedback from businesses who felt that the proposals were impressive and exciting. 

Businesses are now seeing developments starting which is welcomed and builds confidence. 

It is important that there is a generative economy in Birkenhead, including local businesses that add 

social value. 

The environmental sustainability elements within the proposals are welcomed, although more 

information is required regarding the District Heat Network. 

The focus on community, sustainability and placemaking was welcomed. 

12/05/2021 Community, charity and voluntary groups 

The method of Council engagement was discussed heavily here.  Issues raised were that the 

consultation survey was too long and would have benefited from being split into separate sections, to 

make it easier to understand. The group thought some of the information was too technical and 

wanted more general background information about what regeneration is and why it was needed in 

the first place.   

Also raised was inclusiveness of older people and those who were not able to participate online. It 

was suggested that physical tours of the areas concerned might be beneficial. 

14/05/2021 Birkenhead businesses 

The method of Council engagement with regard to the temporary relocation of Birkenhead Market 

was discussed.  It was felt that consultation was happening after decisions had been made, and that 

their input would not result in any change.  The market traders feel that they have not been included 

in consultation, and do not support the proposals for Birkenhead Market.   

It is important that there is a generative economy in Birkenhead, with opportunities to develop local 

skills via apprenticeships.  Support for small businesses and a venue for them to launch from, without 

having to pay expensive rates, would be welcome and attract new businesses. 

Page 216



 

91 

 

There were general positive comments about the ambition to regenerate Birkenhead, but some 

participants felt that the proposals were unlikely to ever be delivered.  

18/05/2021 COOL Wirral Partnership 

Several members of the group confirmed that they had already submitted comments via the survey.  

In view of the importance of the framework for meeting local climate ambitions, the Partnership felt 

it was important to convey the need for ongoing stakeholder engagement as the framework is 

shaped and elements within it are progressed.   

Given the knowledge and skills of individuals within the sector, a further focus group was requested. 

Representatives from the social housing sector and third sector environmental groups expressed an 

interest in taking part in future meetings. 

18/05/2021 Registered housing providers 

Important to focus on incorporating existing housing stock into the plans and converting existing 

building to residential use rather than solely utilising new developments. The provision of more 

information to align sites that might be available would be welcomed. 

20/05/2021 Mencap ‘Make it Better’ group 

Existing levels of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and crime in Birkenhead are a concern.  Currently 

members do not feel safe in Birkenhead, and this must be addressed if the Framework proposals are 

to be a success. 

There is an issue with homelessness in Birkenhead, and this must be addressed by providing 

appropriate help, not by displacing homeless people to somewhere else. 

It is important that central Birkenhead serves as a welcoming thriving place for the community to feel 

at home in.  Providing accessible, affordable space for third sector organisations is necessary for such 

organisations to locate in central Birkenhead.  Tomorrow’s Women is a good example of the kind 

welcoming community space that the town centre needs to host. 

Parking is too expensive in Birkenhead, even on the outskirts.  More parking is required at places that 

are community centric. 

A tour to review the town centre with officers of the council was requested. 

25/05/2021 Together we are Able 

It is currently difficult for disabled people to access Birkenhead using public transport, and there are 

concerns that this will be difficult to change because public transport providers are commercial 

enterprises not under the control of the local authority. 

Vehicles parking on, and blocking, the pavement is an issue in Birkenhead which needs to be tackled.  

Suggested are designated drop off ‘bays’ for delivery drivers. 

Page 217



 

92 

 

A generative economy must be created, offering affordable business premises and support to 

disability run businesses and organisations.  Birkenhead’s existing assets must be re-generated, not 

demolished. 

There need to be more activities in Birkenhead to make it more competitive with Liverpool. The 

history of Birkenhead and some of its famous residents should be celebrated and promoted. 

Engagement via ‘face to face’ online meeting, rather than via documents that can be hard to navigate 

is preferred. 

More information was requested about the proposed Dock Branch Park. 

Make it Happen community hub – views collected from visitors over the consultation period 

Birkenhead needs to become an attractive and pleasant place to visit; suggestions to help achieve this 

are more bins and hanging baskets to make unoccupied shops look like less of an eyesore.  The area 

around the tunnel entrance is unattractive and could be improved. The smell from the sewage works 

need to be dealt with. 

Support Market Street’s emerging independent business scene to become ‘the place to be’. 

Leisure attractions and sports facilities could be improved. There is an opportunity for an activity 

centre at Hamilton Square and waterfront recreation facilities. Include more activities and provisions 

for people with autism; accessibility is important. 

Currently Birkenhead feels unsafe, particularly the nightlife.  

 

3.6 Wirral Council Staff Feedback 

An event was help on 11/05/2021 for Wirral Council staff to provide their views on the 2040 

Framework proposals. 

It is important that the opportunity to engage is accessible to all, including those without access to 

the internet and young people.  

Arts and culture are important, local artistic and cultural talent must be supported, and there should 

be discount for local residents to attend cultural events. Further details are required about proposals 

for a new central library and what will happen to the existing building if this goes ahead. 

Transport connectivity is important. Active travel must be encouraged and facilitated, consider re-

instating a tram route. 

 

3.7 Social Media 

The Councils social media team monitored the extent of the reach and engagement of the 

consultation on social media platforms. The data provided shows a mix of both paid for targeted 

Page 218



 

93 

 

adverts on social media and organic (unpaid) content. Different platforms provide data in different 

ways. ‘Impressions’ note how many times the advert was seen, whereas ‘Reach’ notes the number of 

people who saw the advert, and ‘Engagement’ includes link clicks to the consultation site.  A review 

of the comments made across social media platforms generally reflect the views shared in the online 

survey. 

Twitter: 
Impressions: 90,245 
Engagement: 4,010 
 
LinkedIn:  
Impressions: 39,898 
Engagement: 2,948 
 
Facebook 
Impressions: 267,942 
Reach: 189,066 
Engagements: 11,149 
 
Instagram 
Impressions: 337,146 
Reach: 81,392 
Engagement: 1,924 
 
 

 

 

  

Page 219



 

94 

 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic 
4.1 Demographics 

Information regarding demographics was required to complete the survey, however not all questions 

in the registration form were compulsory.  Only the question requesting the participant’s postcode 

was mandatory, the remaining questions users could choose to select ‘prefer not to say’ or skip the 

question altogether. 

The majority of respondents (91.5%) were from the Wirral. The most represented ward was 

Birkenhead and Tranmere (16.9%) followed by Oxton (8.5%). 

28.9% of respondents provided a postcode in the first decile (most deprived decile) of the Index of 

Multiple Deprivation (IMD). 

 

 

 

 

 

16.9%

8.5%

6.3%

4.9%

4.9%

4.9%

4.9%

4.2%

4.2%

4.2%

3.5%

3.5%

2.8%

2.8%

2.8%

2.8%

2.1%

2.1%

2.1%

1.4%

1.4%

0.7%

7.7%

Birkenhead and Tranmere
Oxton

Claughton
Bebington

Clatterbridge
Greasby, Frankby and Irby

Pensby and Thingwall
Bidston and St. James

Prenton
Wallasey

Bromborough
West Kirby and Thurstaston

Heswall
Hoylake and Meols

New Brighton
Upton

Eastham
Liscard

Rock Ferry
Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Seacombe
Unknown

Outside Wirral

Respondent's location by Wirral Ward 

Page 220



 

95 

 

Just over half of the respondents (51.8%) were male. 2.2% chose not to say, and 0.7% preferred their 

own term. 

 

 

The most common age groups were 45-54 years (27.8%) and, jointly, 35-44 years and 55-64 years 

(20.3% each). Only 2.3% were aged 16-24 years and only 1.5% were over 75 years. 

 

88.1% of respondents were white British and a further 8.2% of other white background.  Only 5 (1%) 

respondents were of a non-white or other ethnicity.  

79.9% were heterosexual, with 7.4% being gay, lesbian or bisexual.  12.7% preferred not to say. 

4.2 Site Traffic 

A total of 11,109 people visited the Birkenhead 2040 Framework consultation page during the course 

of the consultation, out of these 197 people engaged with the survey tools.  

142 people participated in the survey and 55 people placed 271 pins on the map and 20 people 

submitted ideas.  

Most visits to the site were direct visits, with a rate of engagement (visits that resulted in survey, 

places tool or ideas board completion) of 3.7%.   

Female
45.3%

Male
51.8%

Prefer not 
to say
2.2%

Prefer to 
use own 

term
0.7%

Gender

1%
2%

17%
20%

28%

20%

13%

2%

Under 16 16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75

Respondents Age Group

Page 221



 

96 

 

Referrals, which is people who are directed to the site from other websites had an engagement rate 

of 3.3% with Wirralview.com driving most (65.1%) referrals traffic to the Have Your Say site.  

Social media accounted for 30.7% of traffic to the site, but only resulted in 0.4% of the tools 

engagement.  

TRAFFIC CHANNEL Page Views Clicked within page Used a tool 

DIRECT 4592 1805 (39.3%) 168 (3.7%) 

SOCIAL 4144 1013 (24.4%) 15 (0.4%) 

EMAIL 16 7 (43.8%) 0 (0.0%) 

SEARCH ENGINE 402 206 (51.2%) 8 (.02%) 

.GOV SITES 401 223 (55.6%) 4 (1.0%) 

REFERRALS 1554 740 (47.6%) 51 (3.3%) 

 

  

Page 222



 

97 

 

Appendix 1: Additional Feedback 
6 organisations submitted their representations as a document.  Common themes have been 

recorded in section 3.4 of this report, and the representations in their entirety were made available 

to the project team and fully taken in to consideration.  

Where representations relate to the draft Local Plan, the response have also been shared with the 

Local Plan team for inclusion within the Local Plan review.  

The organisations who submitted feedback in the form of a document were: 

• Leverhulme Estate 

• Merseyside Civic Society 

• Natural England 

• UM Terminals 

• Williamson and Priory Friends 

• Wirral Growth Company 

 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Birkenhead Regeneration Framework 2040 Consultation Summary 

Report 

August 2021 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Birkenhead Regeneration Framework 2040 (the BRF2040) was published for consultation on 

23rd March 2021.  The regeneration of Birkenhead forms a key part of the council’s emerging Local 

Plan vision and preferred strategy to meet the Borough’s development needs through urban 

intensification within existing built-up areas.  The aim of the consultation therefore was to seek 

views on the proposed regeneration of Birkenhead as set out in the Draft Framework document 

and to identify key issues to be addressed. 

  

1.2 The consultation ran between 23rd March and 19th May 2021 and in total, the council received 

technical responses from 31 consultees, as listed in Appendix 1. Responses to the consultation 

were generally supportive of the vision and objectives presented through the BRF2040.  In 

particular, the overall housing delivery approach, based on the regeneration of Birkenhead was 

supported, alongside the creation of new green space such as Dock Branch Park and the creation 

of wildlife corridors.  However, concerns were raised which related to matters such as the 

deliverability and viability of urban regeneration-based housing delivery, the impact of housing 

development upon dockside industrial uses, and the possible impacts of the proposed approach 

upon Birkenhead’s heritage and habitats located in close proximity to Birkenhead’s waterfront 

development areas.  

2. Key Themes 

2.1 In general, responses focused on specific areas of interest relative to the consultee.  They can be 

summarised into key themes, as follows: 

 

• Housing and infrastructure delivery; 

• Employment; 

• Environmental protection and enhancement;  

• Design, climate change and housing standards;  

• Greenspace, sport and active design; 

• Heritage and conservation; 

• Education and skills; and 

• General points of clarification. 

 

2.2 The sections below focus on each key theme, and a response is provided which explains how the 

matters arising can be addressed.  It should be noted that in total there are approximately 70 

comments on the BRF 2040 which will need to be considered against emerging technical work 

being carried out to support the Wirral Local Plan (such as viability, environmental impact and 

economic assessments).  The consultation also identified the need to check the formatting of the 

document (including corrections to data, boundaries and wording).  In some cases, further 

engagement with consultees, landowners and the development industry will also be required to 

further inform approaches to environmental mitigation and dockside industrial uses.  However, 

Page 225



 

 

overall there were no objections which cannot be resolved or addressed through minor updates 

and revisions to the BRF 2040. 

3. Housing and Infrastructure Delivery  

3.1 Three respondents expressed concern regarding the standard housing methodology and the 

housing requirement for Birkenhead.  Respondents requested that the consultation document 

included a section that explained and justified the need for additional homes in Birkenhead and 

how upgrades to existing housing stock will be taken into account within the housing numbers.  

Other responses commented that higher housing numbers are at odds with the government’s 

sustainability objectives.  

 

3.2 The matter of delivering significant housing numbers within the BRF area was also raised as a key 

concern in relation to viability, the housing market and the scale and complexity of the 

regeneration aims.  Concerns also related to infrastructure delivery, such as the provision of the 

district heat network, improvements to existing infrastructure such as Birkenhead Park and the 

delivery of transport schemes.   

 

Council response 

3.3 The Council has used the Government’s standard method for calculating minimum annual local 

housing need to determine the need for housing within the Borough.  Further explanation of the 

standard housing methodology approach can be provided within the Introduction to the BRF2040.  

However, it is not for the BRF2040 to adjust this total need figure.   

 

3.4 In terms of housing and infrastructure delivery, this matter is being further tested and assessed 

by a number of technical studies including the Wirral Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan, the 

Local Plan Viability Study and Neighbourhood Frameworks which cover specific neighbourhoods 

within the BRF area.  Together, this ongoing technical work will inform the council’s Housing 

Delivery Strategy – a document which will inform the Wirral Local Plan’s housing trajectory.  Any 

changes to the BRF 2040 in relation to housing and infrastructure delivery, will be made following 

the completion of this technical work. 

4. Employment and Economy 

4.1 A number of responses queried whether the impact of Covid-19 has been taken into account as 

part of the overall approach to the retail economy in Birkenhead.  Other responses queried the 

mechanisms available to deliver employment at the Northside employment site.  Furthermore, 

United Molasses Terminals expressed concerns regarding the impact of residential development 

in the vicinity of dockside industrial land uses.   

 

Council response 

4.2 The long term impact of the Covid 19 Pandemic on retailing is as yet uncertain.  The Council has 

commissioned Neighbourhood Frameworks for Northside and Scotts Quay areas which will 

address these issues. Any updates as a result of this work will be fed into the emerging Local Plan 

and the update of the BRF2040 as appropriate. 

  

Page 226



 

 

5. Environmental Protection and Enhancement  

5.1 Natural England, the Marine Management Organisation (MMO), Cheshire Wildlife Trust, CPRE 

Cheshire and Wirral Green Space Alliance provided responses to the consultation which focused 

upon the need for regeneration of Birkenhead to focus in more detail on the protection and 

enhancement of Birkenhead’s greenspaces, ecological networks, green and blue infrastructure 

the area’s internationally and nationally protected habitats.  Responses also emphasized that the 

BRF 2040 should incorporate biodiversity net gain, rewilding schemes and includes standards for 

buildings that incorporate features such as green walls.   

 

5.2 Respondents identified that these matters are particularly important given the regeneration 

objectives for the Waterfront area of Birkenhead, which is located in close proximity to the 

Liverpool Bay Special Protection Area (SPA), Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA, 

Ramsar and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).   

 

Council response 

5.3 The council fully supports the protection and enhancement of Birkenhead’s Green and blue 

infrastructure assets.  The draft BRF 2040 does have regard to the Council’s emerging Green and 

Blue Infrastructure study (GBI) and the final Framework will incorporate the recommendations of 

the final GBI study. Reference will also be made to Biodiversity Net Gain.  

 

6. Design and Climate Change 

6.1 A number of responses identified that a strong urban design approach would be needed for 

certain areas within the BRF area.  The areas identified through the consultation were Hind Street 

Urban Village and Bidston Moss.  Furthermore, Magenta Living have provided housing standards 

to address climate change and achieve carbon reduction, and the Cheshire Wildlife Trust 

highlighted that the BRF 2040 should make reference the Wirral Environment and Climate Change 

Emergency Policy Statement.   

 

Council response 

6.2 Urban design, housing and building standards to reduce carbon emissions will be addressed in a 

number of ways through the emerging Wirral Local Plan and in particular the preparation of the 

Birkenhead Design Guide and Public Realm Strategy SPD and through the preparation of individual 

Neighbourhood Frameworks for certain areas included within the BRF.   

 

7. Greenspace, Recreation and Active Design 

7.1 Although many responses to the BRF2040 welcomed the ‘green approach’ to regeneration, and 

the proposal to create a new space at Dock Branch Park, some responses identified that there is 

a deficit of greenspace in east Wirral that should be addressed.  Furthermore, Sport England’s 

response emphasised that further work is required to incorporate active design principles into the 

context of housing delivery.  Furthermore, Sport England commented on the importance of 

sufficient provision of formal and informal provision of sport and recreation within the Framework 

area.  Finally, responses to the BRF2040 focused on the national and international importance of 

Birkenhead Park, and it was identified that the impact of development upon the park should be 

Page 227



 

 

assessed to ensure that maintenance and improvements to the park would be delivered alongside 

growth. 

 

Council response 

7.2 The identification of the need for new greenspace in Birkenhead will be tested through the 

preparation of the council’s Open Space Assessment and Standards and Playing Pitch Strategy 

evidence base.  This will feed into the preparation of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  Together 

the technical work focusing on green space, sport and recreation will support the emerging Wirral 

Local Plan’s policy approach to the delivery of green space, through measures such as developer 

contributions and applications for grant funding.   The council will also continue to engage with 

Sport England to ensure that Active Design measures are incorporated into the emerging Local 

Plan. 

8. Heritage and Conservation 

8.1 A number of responses to the BRF 2040 were received from Historic England, Heritage Groups and 

individuals with an interest in the heritage of Birkenhead.  Historic England responded with a 

number of comments on the BRF 2040 text, as well as an overarching response which requested 

that the framework should focus on the positive role that heritage should have in placemaking.  

In addition, respondents identified the decline of Clifton Park, which was designated in 2004 as a 

Conservation Area.  The consultation response requested that Clifton Park be added to the policy 

approach for Hind Street. 

 

9 Council response 

9.1 The responses received relating to heritage and conservation within Birkenhead will be reviewed 

to ensure that they can be addressed appropriately either within the final BRF 2040, the emerging 

Wirral Local Plan, or via the council’s Conservation Area Management approach.  The importance 

of Birkenhead’s heritage is recognised, and the emerging Wirral Local Plan is being prepared 

alongside a Heritage Impact Assessment, to ensure that the heritage of Birkenhead is protected 

and enhanced through both strategic and local (masterplanning) policy approaches.  

Consideration will be given to the inclusion of the Clifton Park Conservation Area within the BRF 

2040 boundary as the document is being finalised.  

 

9. Education and Skills 

9.1 Wirral Met College provided a range of supportive and constructive responses which emphasised 

the importance of embedding skills and education into the regeneration of Birkenhead.  In 

particular, the response identified that vocational and technical education, provided by the 

college should be seen as a valuable opportunity to support the wide scope of industry sectors 

required to deliver regeneration in the area.  Reference was made to the new campus, built within 

Wirral Waters, which would be dedicated to supporting the built environment.  Proposed wording 

has been provided by the college, to be incorporated into the BRF 2040, where appropriate. 

 

Council response 

9.2 The final BRF2040 will include a strong reference to the role of vocational and technical education 

in the regeneration of Birkenhead.  The proposed working is useful and will be included where 

appropriate. 

Page 228



 

 

10. General Points of Clarification  

10.1 There were a number of responses which identified certain areas of the BRF2040 which may 

require checking and correcting or further clarification.  For example the Wirral Growth 

company identified that some boundaries mapped were inconsistent with their own plans and 

masterplan areas.  Peel Land and Property have requested a reconsideration of the use of the 

term ‘neighbourhoods’ in relation to Wirral Waters and the Irby, Thurstaston and Pensby 

Amenity Society requested further clarity and labelling on maps within the framework 

document.   

Council response 

10.2 Each point of clarification and correction will be reviewed and updated through a revised 

version of the BRF 2040, where appropriate. 

11. Next Steps 

11.1 As set out above, the responses to the BRF2040 consultation have been constructive and 

informative.  In general, responses were supportive of the proposed approach to regeneration 

and housing delivery and many points of clarification will be addressed through the emerging 

Wirral Local Plan, or through ongoing engagement with statutory consultees and landowners or 

the development industry.    

11.2 The BRF 2040 will be reviewed and updated in light of the consultation responses received, as 

well as being informed by the technical work and stakeholder engagement which is currently 

ongoing as part of the preparation of the Local Plan and regeneration delivery.     

  

Page 229



 

 

Appendix 1: List of consultees who submitted a response to the BRF 2040 

Consultation 

 

 

 

 

Landowner/Growth Company 

• Peel Land and Property 

• Barton Willmore o.b.o Wirral Growth Company 

• Hind Street Major Landowner Group 

• Leverhulme Estate 
Industry 

• UN Terminals 
Education and Skills 

• Wirral Met College 
Biodiversity, Environment and Greenspace 

• Natural England 

• Marine Management Organisation (MMO) 

• Cheshire Gardens Trust 

• Cheshire Wildlife Trust 

• CPRE Cheshire and Wirral Green Space Alliance 
Heritage and Conservation 

• Historic England 

• CAW Heritage Group 

• Birkenhead Park 
Local Land Trusts/Societies 

• Irby Thurstaston and Pensby Amenity Society 

• Rock Ferry Waterfront Trust 
Sport 

• Sport England 
Carbon Reduction and Design Standards 

• Magenta Living 
Housing Delivery 

• Homes England 
Energy and Infrastructure constraints 

• National Grid 
Individuals x 10 
 
 

Page 230



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 9 March 2022

REPORT TITLE: DOMINICK HOUSE, LISCARD
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report seeks approval for a recommendation to be made to Policy and Resources 
Committee that the Council’s freehold interest in the property, Dominick House, be sold.

The Wirral Plan 2021-2026 has been developed and the focus covers the following five 
themes:

 Safe & Pleasant Communities
 Brighter Futures
 Active and Healthy Lives
 Sustainable Environment
 Inclusive Economy

This proposal delivers in some form against most of the above themes.

The proposals within this report have an implication on Liscard ward. 

The matter is not a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee is requested to recommend to 
Policy and Resources Committee that the Council’s freehold interest in Dominick House be 
sold to the lessee, Prospect Estates Limited, for the sum of £230,000.

Page 231

Agenda Item 7



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To generate a capital receipt from the sale of the Council’s interest and to enable the 
lessee to have sufficient legal interest in the property to justify its refurbishment.  

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council could seek to acquire the lessee’s interest, although earlier discussions 
with the lessee along these lines has not proved successful. 

2.2 The Council could seek to compulsorily purchase the lessee’s interest. This could be 
a protracted and costly process and is not recommended.

2.3 Doing nothing no longer appears to be a viable option due to the anti-social 
behaviour which the building attracts and its continued physical deterioration.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee at its meeting of 29th 
September 2021 considered a report which set out the background and current 
position in terms of the negotiations with the current lessee of Dominick House to sell 
the Council’s freehold interest.

3.2 Dominick House is a five-storey office building which was constructed around 1970 
and is centrally located in Liscard adjacent to the Cherry Tree shopping centre.  The 
Council owns the freehold interest of the property, but the building is held on a long 
lease which is now owned by Prospect Estates.  The lease was granted on 1st July 
1970 for a term of 99 years and currently attracts a rent of £16,727 p.a.

3.3 The building, which comprises approximately 22,580 sq ft of offices, was built by the 
original lessee.  From construction until 2018 the building was occupied by way of a 
sub-lease by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government but 
following its vacation, has remained vacant since.  The nature of the building has 
meant that it is now not readily lettable as offices to a single occupier and marketing 
efforts by the previous lessee have demonstrated that there would be no demand for 
this use.  The current lessee advises that it has stripped out the building in 
anticipation of a conversion to residential use.

3.4 The Council’s freehold interest in this property has previously been identified for a 
possible sale to generate a capital receipt.  At that time, the lessee, Espalier 
Property Project 008 Ltd, expressed an interest in acquiring the Council’s freehold 
which would enable them to combine the interests to give them an unencumbered 
ownership which would enable more flexibility in any future plans.  Consequently, a 
sale price in the sum of £230,000 was agreed and Cabinet Member approval to the 
sale was granted in January 2019.

3.5 The sale did not proceed and Espalier’s interests were later acquired by Prospect 
Estates who now currently own the long leasehold interest.  Last year Prospect 

Page 232



Estates resurrected discussions around buying the Council’s interest and had initially 
agreed to match the figure accepted by Espalier.  Its proposal was to convert the 
property to residential accommodation and during these discussions they submitted 
three separate planning applications for prior approval on the site, for conversion to 
residential units.  The applications being for 45, 50 and 70 units respectively.

3.6 The report considered by the Committee on 29th September 2021 advised that if the 
Council sold its freehold interest to the lessee it would not have any real control over 
the final scheme.  Since that meeting the property has attracted significant anti-social 
behaviour and it is clear that the situation needs to progress.  If the Council sells its 
interest, its only control over the form of the development of the site would be 
through the usual Planning and Building Regulation requirements, The lessee has 
continued dialogue with Council officers and has provided some more assurances 
over its proposals for the building.  These are set out as follows:

a. Prospect Estates is proposing a 75% to 25% split between one and two bed 
units (75% one bed and 25% two bed). This will be on the top four floors of 
the building leaving the ground floor as an open-ended commercial use to 
maximise the potential for take up.  They will not exceed 50 residential units. 
An indicative layout plan is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

b. The flats will be constructed to nationally prescribed minimum space 
standards and also to current building regulation standards.

c. The expectation is that the flats will be made available for sale, although this 
will depend on the prevailing market demand at the time.  Once completed 
Prospect Estates will identify a management company to look after the 
property.

3.7 Examples of previous similar schemes that have been developed by Prospect 
Estates are:

 Melbourne House, Eastgate, Accrington – Change of use of former offices 
to 31 residential apartments;

 Douro House, Willington Road South, Stockport – Change of use of 
former offices to 24 residential apartments;

 Camrex House, Tatham Street, Sunderland – Change of use of vacant 
building to 50 residential units;

 Regent House, Regent Street, Barnsley – Change of use of offices to 54 
residential units;

 Raines House, Denby Dale Road, Wakefield – Change of use of offices to 
46 residential units.

3.8 Prospect Estates is still willing to purchase the property at the agreed price of 
£230,000 based on the potential to deliver the scheme as described above.  This 
seems to be the only realistic way of enabling this property to be brought back into 
use which will also stop or significantly reduce the current level of anti-social 
behaviour.  It will also bring economic and social benefits to the area.  The proposed 
sale price is still considered to reflect market value for the Council’s interest.

Page 233



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The current lease generates an annual income of £16,727.

4.2 A sale would generate a capital receipt of £230,000, although this would be in lieu of 
the rent.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Prospect Estates has the benefit of the 99 year lease as described which gives them 
security for the term of the lease and possibly beyond.

5.2 The Council is required to obtain best price reasonably obtainable under s 123 of the 
Local Government Act 1972. The proposed sale price of £230,000 is believed to 
achieve this.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no IT or staffing implications arising from this report.  The asset 
implications are as described in the report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 There is a risk that the quality of the finished product will be outside of the control of 
the Council, other than through the usual building regulations and planning process. 
The Council would however endeavour to include provisions in the sale as to the 
final number of units in the scheme.

7.2 As mentioned in paragraph 3.6 of this report, the property is currently the subject of 
anti-social behaviour which is likely to continue if an agreement is not reached and 
result in the property further deteriorating.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Ward Councillors have been made aware of some of the discussions with the 
previous lessees.  The lessees were also asked to engage with the Council’s 
consultants in the delivery of the Liscard masterplan.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 This report has no direct equality implications.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 At this stage there are no implications for the environment and climate.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

Page 234



11.1 The aim of this report is to secure the best possible outcome for the future of this 
building.

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve McMorran
 Manager Assets and Surveying
email:  stevemcmorran@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 -Site plan Plan 
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Correspondence relating to previous discussions with the lessee (commercially 
confidential). 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Disposal of freehold reversionary interest – Dominick 
House, St Albans Road, Liscard.  Delegated Member 
Decision

Dominick House, Liscard – Economy, Regeneration and 
Development Committee.

5/1/2019

29/11/2021

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 22

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 22

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 16

D
-0

1

D-01
2 Tier Bike Rack

Total Bikes x 10

details daterev

Code L6
Architecture Ltd

31 Halifax Road  Brighouse
West Yorkshire   HD6 2AA

T: 01484 714 870
E: codeL6@btinternet.com

W: www.CODEL6.com

Project:

Client:

Drawing:

Date:

Drawing Number:

19-136-20A

A1
Size:Scale:

1:100/ 200

NOTES:

Any errors or omissions to be 
reported to Code L6 immediately.

This drawing and design is the 
copyright of Code L6 and is not to 
be used for any purpose without 
their consent.

Dominick House,
St Alban's Rd,
CH44 5XH

Ground Floor Plan As Proposed
Scale 1:100

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 22

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 22

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 16

D
-0

1

D-01
2 Tier Bike Rack

Total Bikes x 10

Site/Roof Plan As Proposed
Scale 1:200

Unit 01 
1B 2P
37 Sqm

Bedroom 01

Bathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bike Store 70 Spaces

Bin Store 01

Bin Store 02

LIFT

LIFT

Entrance

Entrance

Entrance

0m 5m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

0m 5m 10m
0m 5m4m3m2m1m

10/02/20

Unit 02
Studio
27 Sqm

Unit 03
1B 2P
44 SqmUnit 04

1B 2P
43 Sqm

Unit 05
1B 2P
33 Sqm

Unit 06
1B 2P
33 Sqm

Unit 07
1B 2P
33 Sqm

Unit 08
1B 2P
36 Sqm

Unit 09
1B 2P
33 Sqm

Unit 10
1B 2P
33 Sqm

Unit 11
1B 2P
33 Sqm

Unit 12
Studio
32 Sqm

Unit 13
1B 2P
44 Sqm

Unit 14
1B 2P
71 Sqm

Studio

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom

Studio

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom
Bathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Bathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom

Bedroom 01 Bedroom 01 Bedroom 01
Kitchen
Dining
Living

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bathroom

Bathroom

Ground Floor and Site Plans
As Proposed

Carroll Build and
Prospect Estates Ltd

Ground Floor Plan As Existing
Scale 1:100

0m 5m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 22

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 22

2 Tier Bike Rack
Total Bikes x 16

D
-0

1

D-01
2 Tier Bike Rack

Total Bikes x 10

P
age 237



T
his page is intentionally left blank



details daterev

Code L6
Architecture Ltd

31 Halifax Road  Brighouse
West Yorkshire   HD6 2AA

T: 01484 714 870
E: codeL6@btinternet.com

W: www.CODEL6.com

Project:

Client:

Drawing:

Date:

Drawing Number:

Upper-Floor Plans as
Proposed

19-136-11

A1
Size:Scale:

1:100

NOTES:

Any errors or omissions to be 
reported to Code L6 immediately.

This drawing and design is the 
copyright of Code L6 and is not to 
be used for any purpose without 
their consent.

Dominick House,
St Alban's Rd,
CH44 5XH

D
-0

1

D-01

First Floor Plan As Proposed
Scale 1:100

D
-0

1

D-01

First Floor Plan As Proposed
Scale 1:100

2nd - 4th Floor Plan As Proposed
Scale 1:100

Unit 10
2B 3P
67 Sqm

Bedroom 02

Bedroom 01

Bathroom
Cup'd

Cup'd

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Bathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'd

Unit 11
1B 2P
44.5 Sqm

Unit 12
1B 2P
43.6 Sqm

Bedroom 01

Bathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'dCup'd

C
up

'd

Unit 13
2B 3P
66.9 Sqm

C
up

'd
C

up
'd

Cup'd

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Bedroom 02

Kitchen
Dining
Living Unit 14

1B 2P
50.8 Sqm

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'd Cup'd

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Bathroom
Unit 15
1B 2P
52.4 Sqm Unit 16

2B 3P
67.1 Sqm

Unit 17
1B 2P
53.8 Sqm

Bedroom 01

Bedroom 02

Bathroom

Cup'd

Cup'd

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'd Cup'd

BathroomUnit 18
2B 2P
93.5 Sqm

Cup'd

Cup'd

C
up

'dBathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Bedroom 02

LIFT

LIFT

Void

Unit 19,
28,37
2B 3P
67 Sqm

Bedroom 02

Bedroom 01

Bathroom
Cup'd

Cup'd

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Bathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'd
Unit 20,
29,38
1B 2P
44.5 Sqm

Unit 21,
30,39
1B 2P
43.6 Sqm

Bedroom 01

Bathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'dCup'd

C
up

'd

Unit 22,31,40
2B 3P
66.9 Sqm

C
up

'd
C

up
'd

Cup'd

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Bedroom 02

Kitchen
Dining
Living Unit 23,

32,41
1B 2P
50.8 Sqm

Bathroom

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'd Cup'd

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Bathroom
Unit 24,
33,42
1B 2P
52.4 Sqm

Unit 25,34,43
2B 3P
67.1 Sqm

Unit 26,
35,44
1B 2P
53.8 Sqm

Bedroom 01

Bedroom 02

Bathroom

Cup'd

Cup'd

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 01

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Cup'd Cup'd

BathroomUnit 27,
36,45
2B 3P
67 Sqm

Cup'd

Cup'd

C
up

'dBathroom

Kitchen
Dining
Living

Bedroom 02
LIFT

LIFT

Bedroom 01

0m 5m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

0m 5m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

0m 5m4m3m2m1m

10/02/20

Carroll Build and
Prospect Estates Ltd

P
age 239



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 9 March 2022 

REPORT TITLE: QUARTER 3 MONITOR REPORT
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report provides a summary of the projected year-end revenue and capital position for 
Economy, Regeneration & Development Committee as at the end of Quarter 3 (December 
2021) of the 2021/22 financial year.  The report provides Members with an overview of 
budget performance to enable the Committee to take ownership of their specific budgets 
and provide robust challenge and scrutiny to Officers on the performance of those budgets.

The Committee is accountable for ensuring that the committee budgets remain within the 
relevant envelope and will take collective responsibility via the Policy and Resources 
Committee to ensure that the whole Council budget remains in balance at all times, by 
agreeing mitigating actions to bring the budget back in line, should a deficit be forecast.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Economic, Regeneration and Development Committee is requested to :

1. Note the projected year-end revenue forecast variance of £0.058m adverse 
position as reported at quarter 3 (Oct - Dec) of 2021-22.

2. Note progress on the achievement of approved savings and the projected year-
end forecast position at quarter 3 (Oct - Dec) of 2021-22.

3. Note the reserves allocated to the Committee for future one-off commitments
4. Note the projected year-end capital forecast expenditure position of £18.487m as 

reported at quarter 3 (Oct - Dec) of 2021-22.

Page 241

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of revenue and capital budgets, reserves, savings 
achievements and Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) position enables 
decisions to be taken faster, which may produce revenue benefits and will improve 
financial control of Wirral Council.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Other reporting frequencies could be considered, but quarterly reporting is standard 
practice.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Revenue Forecast Position

3.1 This section provides a summary of the projected year-end revenue position as at
the end of Quarter 3, Month 9 (December 2021) of 2021/22 financial year.

3.2 As at the end of June 2021, the forecast year-end position for Economy, 
Regeneration & Development Committee is an adverse variance of £0.058m against 
a budget of £3.822m.

TABLE 1: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Service Budget & Forecast

      
Objective Budget Forecast Variance                             

(+ Fav, - Adv)
Adv/Fav

 £000 £000 £000 %  
      
Regeneration 1,678 1,638 40 2% Favourable
Planning and Building 
Control 977 1075 -98 -10% Adverse

Special Projects 108 108  0 0%
Local Plan 400 400 0 0%  
      
Directorate Surplus / 
(Deficit) 3,163 3,221 -58 -2% Adverse
      
Support / Admin Building 
Overhead  659 659 0 0%  

      
Total Surplus / (Deficit) 3,822 3,880 -58 -2%  
      

3.3 Regeneration: A favourable variance of £0.040m is reported for 2021-22. Whilst the 
new staffing structure that will help deliver the major regeneration projects is being 
recruited to, temporary interim staff are helping to ensure grant funding bids are 

Page 242



achieved and that projects continue to be delivered, which includes capitalisation of 
staff against projects they are helping in delivering.   

3.4 Planning and Building Control: 
An adverse variance of £98k is reported for 2021-22 The Public Inquiry relating to 
Thornton Manor have impacted on this. Planning fee income forecast for the year will 
have a £85k adverse variance. Major planning applications have been impacted by 
the ongoing pandemic and whilst minor/ householder applications have increased 
significantly this has only partially offset the income due to the low value of each of 
these planning applications.

3.5 Special Projects: A break-even position is reported for 2021-22. 

3.6 Local Plan: A break-even position is reported for 2021-22, with the planned 
utilisation of available reserves of £0.729m in support of developing the local plan.

TABLE 2: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Subjective Budget & Forecast

      
Subjective Budget Forecast Variance                             

(+ Fav, - Adv)
Adv/Fav

 £000 £000 £000 %  
      
Income  -5,076  -5,524 448 9% Favourable
      
Expenditure      
Employee 4,943 4,796 148 3% Favourable
Non Pay 3,295 3,948  -654 -20% Adverse
Total Expenditure 8,238 8,744  -506 -6% Adverse
      
Directorate Surplus / 
(Deficit) 3,163 3,221 -58 -2% Adverse
      
Support / Admin Building 
Overhead  659  659 0 0%  
      
Total Surplus / (Deficit) 3,822 3,880 -58 -2% Adverse
      

3.7 Income: A Favourable variance of £0.448m is reported for 2021-22, relating to grant 
support for Urban Development feasibility work, which is matched by increased non-
pay spend.  It has also been impacted by the reduced planning income per 
paragraph 3.4

3.8 Employees: A Favourable variance of £0.142m is reported for 2021-22 relating to 
the new staffing structure being recruited to in Regeneration, per paragraph 3.3 

3.9 Non Pay: An Adverse variance of £0.654m is reported for 2021-22, relating in the 
main to forecast spend of the Urban Development grant, per 3.7.

Page 243



Budget Saving Achievement Progress

3.10 Within each Committee’s revenue budget there are a number of savings proposals, 
that were based on either actual known figures or best estimates available at the 
time. At any point during the year, these estimated figures could change and need to 
be monitored closely to ensure, if adverse, mitigating actions can be taken 
immediately to ensure a balanced forecast budget can be reported to the end of the 
year.

TABLE 3: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Budget Savings

Saving Title Agreed 
Value

Forecast 
Value

RAG 
Rating

Comments

Pre-application Fee 
Increase and PPAs

£0.02m  £0.02m Green On target to be achieved.

Budget Allocation for 
DDA

£0.2m £0.2m Green On target to be achieved.

Sales, Fees and Charges 
Compensation - Planning

£0.05m £0.05m Green On target to be achieved.

Wirral Growth Company 
Joint Venture income

£1.38m £1.38m Amber 
(Green 
with 
mitigatio
n)

Any savings shortfall will be 
mitigated across 
Regeneration & Place via 
capitalisation of allowable 
costs.

Total £1.65M £1.65M

Earmarked Reserves

3.11 Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside for a specific purpose or projects. 

TABLE 4: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Earmarked Reserves

Reserves Opening 
Balance    

£000

Use of 
Reserve 

£000

Contribution 
to Reserve 

£000

Closing 
Balance 

£000
Wirral Ways to Work 273  273 
Regeneration and Inward 
Investment

563 563

Urban Development Corporation 
Bid

420 420

Building Control Fee Earning 354 52 302
Major Infrastructure Project 
Development 

183 183

DCLG Empty Shops Grant 41 41
ERDF 4.2 Match Funding 19 19
A/M GMT – Community Fund CAT 76 76
Licence Survey Work 56 56

Page 244



TOTAL 1,985 52 0 1,985
3.12 Building Control are utilising 52k of their earmarked reserves, mainly to cover IT 

equipment, training and administrative support.

2021/22 COMMITTEE CAPITAL BUDGET

TABLE 5: 2021/22 – Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee Capital 
Budget & Forecast

 2021/22

Scheme
Budget 
£000

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000

Variance 
£000

Economy, Regeneration and Development    
Birkenhead Market Development 50 0 -50
Birkenhead Regeneration Delivery Fund 2,599 2,657 58
Birkenhead Regeneration Framework 667 667 0
Business Investment Fund 955 955 0
Eureka 100 100 0
Future High Streets - Birkenhead 12,022 3,318 -8,704
Future High Streets – New Ferry 0 529 529
Hind Street Movement Strategy Project 21-22 0 123 123
Housing Infrastructure Fund (Enabling Infrastructure) 21 21 0
Housing Infrastructure Fund Marginal Viability 
(Northbank) 3,788 3,748 -40
Maritime Knowledge hub 0 1,700 1,700
New Ferry Regeneration Strategic Acquisitions 718 1,180 462
Office Quarter Building Fit-Out 196 196 0
Strategic Acquisition Fund 4,834 1,070 -3,764
Town Centre scheme – Liscard 296 326 30
Town Centre scheme - New Ferry 177 177 0
Town Fund Birkenhead 115 115 0
Wirral Waters Investment Fund 4,100 1,605 -2,495
Total Economy, Regeneration and Development 30,638 18,487 -12,151

3.13 Table 5 summarises the forecast expenditure against Capital Budgets, which shows 
a variance of £12.151m.   

3.14 Future High Street Fund Grant for Birkenhead of £12 million received in advance 
from MHCLG (now the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 
DLUHC) in 20/21 as part of the Birkenhead Future High Street programme. Funds 
were paid as a Section 31 grant and in advance of signing a grant funding 
agreement. Currently negotiating a project adjustment and revised spend profile with 
Government. The forecast for 21/22 is dependent on a number of solutions being 

Page 245



agreed, which includes the temporary Birkenhead Market site, with the £8.704m 
being slipped into future years capital programme.

3.15 A Future High Street Fund grant for New Ferry of £0.5m was received in advance 
from DLUHC in 2021/22, as part of the £3.2m award for the redevelopment works 
proposed in New Ferry. Funds were received in advance of the signing and 
acceptance of the grant funding agreement. Officers are currently reviewing the 
spend profile with Government for the lifetime of the project, mindful that a preferred 
development partner to deliver the regeneration proposals for the town, will be 
appointed in February 2022. Officers are currently engaged in competitive dialogue 
with a number of bidders, through a formal procurement process.

3.16 The Maritime Knowledge Hub is a catalytic project that will support wider 
development within Wirral Waters. It will create a world class centre of excellence for 
maritime business growth and sector development. It was approved at P&R 
Committee on 17/3/21 following recommendation from this committee on 4/3/21.  
£1.7m has been earmarked for potential spend in Q4 subject to grant approval and 
Peel meeting certain scheme conditions regarding levels of pre-lets. The remaining 
spend is allocated in future years.

3.17 Strategic Acquisition Fund is available to support acquisitions that may be required 
to ensure the regeneration strategy can successfully be delivered.   Any unspent 
funding will be slipped into the next financial year.

3.18 New Ferry Strategic Acquisitions spend now includes the purchase of the former Co-
Op, following approval at  Committee on 26th January.

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This is the revenue budget monitoring report that provides information on the 
forecast outturn for the Economy, Regeneration & Development Committee for 
2021/22. The Council has robust methods for reporting and forecasting budgets in 
place and alongside formal Quarterly reporting to the Policy & Resources 
Committee, the financial position is routinely reported at Directorate Management 
Team meetings and corporately at the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT). In the 
event of any early warning highlighting pressures and potential overspends, the SLT 
take collective responsibility to identify solutions to resolve these to ensure a 
balanced budget can be reported at the end of the year.

5 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and approval of a balanced budget each year is a 
statutory responsibility of the Council. Sections 25 to 29 of the Local Government Act 
2003 impose duties on the Council in relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. 
These provisions require the Council to make prudent allowance for the risk and 
uncertainties in its budget and regularly monitor its finances during the year. The 
legislation leaves discretion to the Council about the allowances to be made and 
action to be taken.

5.2 The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the 
Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to 

Page 246



the report of the chief finance (s.151) officer as to the robustness of the estimates 
made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves. 

5.3 It is essential, as a matter of prudence that the financial position continues to be 
closely monitored. In particular, Members must satisfy themselves that sufficient 
mechanisms are in place to ensure both that savings are delivered and that new 
expenditure is contained within the available resources. Accordingly, any proposals 
put forward must identify the realistic measures and mechanisms to produce those 
savings.

6 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

7         RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The possible failure to deliver the Revenue Budget is being mitigated by: 
1. Senior Leadership / Directorate Teams regularly reviewing the financial 

position.
2. Availability of General Fund Balances.
3. Review of existing services and service provision.

8       ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 The priorities in the Council Plan 2025 were informed by stakeholder engagement 
carried out in 2019.

9 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 There are no equality implications arising specifically from this report.

10 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Wirral Plan 2025 includes a set of goals and objectives to create a sustainable 
environment which urgently tackles the environment emergency. These are based 
on developing and delivering plans that improve the environment for Wirral residents. 
The performance report will include information on key areas where environment and 
climate related outcomes are delivered.

10.2 No direct implications. The content and/or recommendations contained within this 
report are expected to have no impact on emissions of Greenhouse Gases.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Lightburn
Senior Finance Business Partner
telephone: 0151 666 3344

Page 247



email: marklightburn@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS
 2021/22 BUDGET MONITORING 
 P&R Budget Monitoring 2021/22 Quarter 3

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

8 June 2021

26 July 2021

29 September 2021

22 November 2021

6 January 2022

Page 248

mailto:marklightburn@wirral.gov.uk


ECONOMY REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Wednesday 9 March 2022

REPORT TITLE: ECONOMY REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE

REPORT SUMMARY

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee, in co-operation with the other 
Policy and Service Committees, is responsible for proposing and delivering an annual 
committee work programme. This work programme should align with the corporate priorities 
of the Council, in particular the delivery of the key decisions which are within the remit of 
the Committee.  It is envisaged that the work programme will be formed from a combination 
of key decisions, standing items and requested officer reports. This report provides the 
Committee with an opportunity to plan and regularly review its work across the municipal 
year. The work programme for the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee is 
attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee are invited to agree or otherwise 
determine the content of the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee work 
programme which is proposed in this report for the remainder of the 2021/22 municipal 
year.

Page 249

Agenda Item 9



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To ensure Members of the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee 
have the opportunity to contribute to the delivery of the annual work programme.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 A number of workplan formats were explored, with the current framework open to 
amendment to match the requirements of the Committee

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The work programme should align with the priorities of the Council and its partners. 
The programme will be informed by: 
 The Council Plan 
 The Council’s transformation programme 
 The Council’s Forward Plan 
 Service performance information 
 Risk management information 
 Public or service user feedback 
 Referrals from Council

Terms of Reference 

 The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee has responsibility for 
developing and delivering a vision for Wirral as a place. It is responsible for developing and 
determining or recommending all planning and transport policies, including the Local Plan, 
and infrastructure planning. It is also responsible for promoting regeneration, economic 
development and associated activities, including the tourism, culture and visitor economy, 
and for removing barriers to growth. 

The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for: 

(a) development and delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives for planning, sustainability 
and transportation; 

(b) developing and recommending those plans and strategies which together comprise the 
Local Plan; 

(c) developing and adopting or recommending (if reserved to Council) other spatial planning 
documents, including but not limited to 

(i) supplementary planning documents (SPD) and planning policy advice notes; 

(ii) Master Plans and development briefs;  

Page 250



(iii) The Infrastructure Delivery Plan; and  

(iv) [The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) when applicable]; 

(d) economic development, including but not limited to infrastructure, enterprise, skills and 
seeking, securing and managing external funds to achieve that, directly or in partnership 
with joint ventures and external companies or bodies as well as with the Combined 
Authority and government bodies;  

(e) the Council’s functions and partnerships regarding the promotion of economic growth 
and the establishment and development of business;  

(f) the promotion and development of the economic factors in the area, such as seeking to 
ensure sufficient and appropriate employment sites, investment, adult skills, apprenticeship 
schemes, productivity, development sites and so forth;  

(g) overseeing the progress of major projects (including major building, infrastructure or 
other projects involving the erection or significant alteration of major permanent structures 
or landmarks) undertaken by the Council directly or as enabler, funder or joint enterprise 
partner, including but not limited to the Wirral Growth Company LLP

(h) reviewing major projects and any project boards having regard to capacity to deliver, 
corporate priorities and resources, and advise the Policy and Resources Committee as 
appropriate; 

(i) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk management in relation to 
the Committee’s functions; and 

(j) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in relation to the Committee’s 
functions, incorporating the assessment of outcomes, review of effectiveness and 
formulation of recommendations to the Council, partners and other bodies, which shall 
include any decision relating to the above functions.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1     This report is for information and planning purposes only, therefore there are no 
direct financial implication arising. However, there may be financial implications 
arising as a result of work programme items.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1      There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, there may be 
legal implications arising as a result of work programme items

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1      There are no direct implications to staffing, ICT or Assets.

Page 251



7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Committee’s ability to undertake it’s responsibility to provide strategic direction 
to the operation of the Council, make decisions on policies, co-ordinate spend, and 
maintain a strategic overview of outcomes, performance, risk management and 
budgets may be compromised if it does not have the opportunity to plan and 
regularly review its work across the municipal year.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Not applicable

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it carries 
out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact Assessment is a 
tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure equality for anyone 
who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality 
implications.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct environment and 
climate implications. However, there may be implications arising as a result of work 
programme items.

REPORT AUTHOR: Anna Perret
(Senior Democratic Services Officer)
email:  annaperret@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Work Programme update

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Council Constitution

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee 26th October 2020

Page 252



ECONOMY, REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE
WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22

March 2022

Item Key 
Decision 
Yes/No

Lead Officer

Birkenhead 2040 Framework Yes Keith Keeley  

Dominick House No Steve McMorran

Q3 Budget Monitoring No Mark Lightburn

Work programme Update No Mike Jones/ Anna Perrett

Key decisions – to be scheduled
 
Item Key 

Decision
Lead 
Departmental 
Officer  

Wirral Plan Priority

Birkenhead Market Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Application for Financial 
Assistance

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Waters Enterprise 
Zone Investment Fund

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Liverpool City Region 
Economic Initiatives and 
Funding

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

European Structural and 
Investment Funds (ESIF)  
Programme for England 
(2014-2020

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Page 253



Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority 
Devolution Funding

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Birkenhead Town Centre 
Masterplan

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Hind Street Regeneration 
Strategy

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Hind Street Movement 
Strategy

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Local Development 
Scheme

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Preferred developer for 
residential development on 
Europa Boulevard site

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Growth Company 
Final Site Development 
Plans for Moreton and 
Bromborough

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

St Werburgh’s Masterplan Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Preferred developer for 
residential development on 
former HoF site

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Department for Transport 
Active Travel Programme

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Liverpool City Region 
Transport initiatives and 
Funding programmes

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Liverpool City Region 
Cycling Walking 
Investment Plan (LCWIP)- 
Birkenhead to New 
Brighton

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Investment Plan Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Birkenhead Heat Network Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Future High Streets Fund 
Projects

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Dock Branch Park 
Masterplan

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Dock Branch Park - 
Appointment of Technical 
Team

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Active Travel Strategy Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Parking Strategy Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Page 254



Tower Road South 
Development

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Preferred Developer to 
Deliver the New Ferry 
Regeneration 

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Mass Transit 
Business Case

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Submission of Outline 
Business Case for Homes 
England Funding

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Electric Vehicles Strategy Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Acceptance of Levelling 
Up Funding - Waterfront

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Birkenhead Waterfront Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Towns / High Street 
Funding 

Yes Alan Evans Inclusive Economy

LCR Freeport Yes Alan Evans Inclusive Economy

STANDING ITEMS AND MONITORING REPORTS  
Item Reporting Frequency  Lead Departmental 

Officer  
Financial Monitoring 
Report

TBC Shaer Halewood

Regen Committee Work 
Programme Update

TBC Committee Team

Public questions Each meeting

WORK PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE COMMITTEE 
Item Format Timescale Lead Officer  Progress 
Working Groups/ Sub Committees

Active Travel 
Task and Finish Reviews
- - -- -
Spotlight Sessions and Workshops
Eureka! Workshop TBC Bev Staniford Conclude

d
Mass Transit 
Parking Strategy 
LCWIP

Page 255



Page 256


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework
	Enc. 1 for Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework
	Enc. 2 for Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework
	Enc. 3 for Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework
	Enc. 4 for Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework
	Enc. 5 for Draft Birkenhead 2040 Regeneration Framework

	7 Dominick House, Liscard
	Enc. 1 for Dominick House, Liscard
	19-136-20A-Ground Floor / Site Plan As Proposed-A1
	1/19-000-02
	1/19-136-SK02
	Viewport-6
	Viewport-11
	Viewport-14
	1/19-000-13


	Enc. 2 for Dominick House, Liscard
	19-136-11-Upper Floor Plans As Proposed-A1
	1/19-000-00
	1/19-000-03
	1/19-000-07
	Viewport-12
	Viewport-13



	8 Quarter 3 Monitor Report
	9 Work Programme
	ERD Work Programme Jan 22, 26/01/2022 Economy Regeneration & Development Committee


